Department of the
Chief Minister and Cabinet

Annual
Report
2020–21

The Hon Michael Gunner MLA
Chief Minister
Parliament House
DARWIN NT 0800
Dear Chief Minister
In accordance with the provisions of the Public Sector Employment and Management Act 1993, I am
pleased to submit the 2020-21 annual report on the activities and achievements of the Department
of the Chief Minister and Cabinet.
Pursuant to the Public Sector Employment and Management Act 1993 and Financial Management Act
1995, I advise that to the best of my knowledge and belief:
a. proper records of all transactions affecting the agency are kept and that employees under their
control observe the provisions of the Financial Management Act 1995, the Financial Management
Regulations and Treasurer’s Directions
b. procedures within the agency afford proper internal control and a current description of such
procedures is recorded in the accounting and property manual, which has been prepared in
accordance with the requirements of the Financial Management Act 1995
c. no indication of fraud, malpractice, major breach of legislation or delegation, major error in or
omission from the accounts and records exists (or where this is not the case, details to be provided
of any such instances)
d. in accordance with the requirements of section 15 of the Financial Management Act 1995, the
internal audit capacity available to the agency is adequate and the results of internal audits have
been reported to the accountable officer
e. the financial statements included in the annual report have been prepared from proper accounts
and records and are in accordance with Treasurer’s Directions, and
f. all Employment Instructions issued by the Commissioner for Public Employment have been satisfied.
It is a requirement of the Public Sector Employment and Management Act 1993 that you lay a copy of
this report before the Legislative Assembly within six sitting days of you receiving it.
Yours sincerely

JODIE RYAN
17 September 2021
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Purpose of the Report
The 2020-21 Annual Report of the
Northern Territory Department of the
Chief Minister and Cabinet (CM&C) has
been prepared by the Chief Executive
Officer (CEO) in order to comply
with annual reporting requirements
under section 28 of the Public Sector
Employment and Management Act 1993
(PSEMA) and sections 11 and 13 of the
Financial Management Act 1995 (FMA).
Its primary purpose is to report to the Chief Minister
on CM&C’s performance in 2020-21 against approved
budget outputs and performance measures. Other
audiences include Cabinet, the community, other
government agencies, CM&C staff and various
external stakeholders.

Pursuant to section 28 of the PSEMA, CM&C must
present a report to the Minister on its operations
within three months from the end of the financial year,
and it must contain:
• functions and objectives of the agency
• legislation administered
• organisation overview, including number of
employees of each designation and any variation in
those numbers since the last report
• operations, initiatives and achievements relating to
planning, efficiency, effectiveness, performance and
service delivery to the community
• measures taken to ensure public sector principles
were upheld
• management training and staff development programs
• occupational health and safety programs, and
• financial statements prepared in accordance with
sections 11 and 13 of the FMA.

Acknowledgement
of Country
The Northern Territory Government
acknowledges Aboriginal and Torres
Strait Islander people as Traditional
Custodians of the land which we work
and live, and pays respect to Elders past,
present and emerging.
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Chief Executive Officer’s review
I am pleased to present the annual
report for the Department of the
Chief Minister and Cabinet (CM&C)
for 2020-21. The report provides a
comprehensive account of CM&C’s
functions and performance against
approved budgets and resources over
the past financial year.

regular updates on the SecureNT and
dedicated Coronavirus website, but through:
• Assisting in the drafting of new and revised
Chief Health Officer Directions
• Supporting the Emergency Operations Centre
• Leading the Public Information Group
• Supporting the Chief Minister with National
Cabinet and developing the new intergovernmental
framework as the COVID-19 situation evolves
chairing the Regional and Remote Taskforce.

During 2020-21, the Department of the Chief Minister
and Cabinet (CM&C) continued to provide coordination
and leadership across Government to implement the
Northern Territory Government’s key priorities.
It has continued to provide high quality services to the
Chief Minister; Minister for Major Projects and Territory
Economic Reconstruction; Minister for Strategic Defence
Relations; Minister for Aboriginal Affairs; Minister for
Treaty and Local Decision Making; Minister for Children;
Minister for Local Government and Minister for Central
Australia Economic Reconstruction and Cabinet.
Following the August 2020 Election, there were a
number of machinery of government changes which
resulted in the transition of the following functions
into the department:
• Investment Territory, including Commercial
Facilitation and Major Projects (from the
former Department of Trade, Business and
Innovation (DTBI));

The Territory Economic Reconstruction Commission
(TERC) released its final report which included
62 recommendations in November 2020. The TERC
Implementation Unit has been actively engaged across
Government and industry to progress a number of the
recommendations outlined in the Final Report.
Their first progress report was released in May 2021.
Investment Territory continues to actively pursue and
facilitate investment and business reforms to achieve
Government’s goal of a $40 billion economy by 2030,
through targeted investment attraction and facilitation,
working with proponents to access the Local Jobs Fund
and progressing 12 major projects.

• National Security and Defence (from the
former DTBI);
• Team Rebound, including the Territory Economic
Reconstruction Commission (from the former DTBI);
• Aboriginal Interpreter Services and Local Government
and Community Development (from the former
Department of Housing, Local Government and
Community Services).
There have been many achievements throughout 202021, with the following an example of some of these.
The department has continued to play a key role in
Government’s response to COVID-19, not only by
supporting and informing the community through

In addition to the work they do to deliver whole of
government communications during the Territory’s
response to COVID-19, the Strategic Communications
and Engagement Team also delivered on a number of
communication, marketing and stakeholder engagement
opportunities across the sector. This includes the
development of the “I work for the Territory” campaign
and the recruitment campaign to support the
establishment of the Centre for National Resilience.

Following an announcement by the Chief Minister on
6 April 2021, CM&C were also tasked with creating
and establishing two new roles: Territory Investment
Commissioner and Major Projects Commissioner.
Appointments to both commissioner roles were
made in July 2021. The two commissioners will
co-lead the Investment Territory team and accelerate
investment for the Territory.

Department of the Chief Minister and Cabinet 2020-21 Annual Report

|6

The National Security and Defence team revised the
structure and membership of the Northern Territory
National Security Advisory Group and refreshed our
strategic guidance to better inform priorities and align
our efforts with Commonwealth Government planning
documents, including the Defence Strategic update and
2020 Defence force posture review.
The Jobs and Economy team successfully negotiated
and secured an $8.75 million partnership agreement
with the Advanced Manufacturing Growth Centre to
build the advanced manufacturing ecosystem in the
Territory. This is an incredible achievement and will
support the Territory's priority growth sectors including
fibre and food, critical mineral, clean energy, digital and
defence sectors.
The Intergovernmental and Legal Policy (ILP) team
continued to work across the sector to coordinate
whole-of-government responses and participation
in Federal inquiries, National Partnership Agreement
negotiations, and Royal Commissions. ILP has supported
Government in its transition to the new Federal relations
architecture which includes the National Cabinet, First
Secretaries Group and First Deputies Group fora.
The Cabinet Office supported 152 Cabinet and Cabinet
Sub-Committee meetings over the last financial year.
The Cabinet Office also provided support to the
Northern Territory’s Remuneration Tribunal for their two
Annual Inquiries and two additional special Inquiries.
Protocol NT, through the tumultuous COVID-19 year
and having to cancel a number of their usual events,
continued to manage their usual protocol functions,
and provided support to the Chief Minister, Ministers,
Leader of the Opposition, Speaker of the Legislative
Assembly and Supreme Court Judges. They also assisted
in the planning and delivery of royal, head of state, head
of mission and other significant visits to the NT and to
facilitate engagement with Ministers, Government, and
key stakeholders.

7|

The Security and Emergency Response Team
developed a strategic plan for the Territory Emergency
Management Council (TEMC) to guide the emergency
management strategy of the NT until 2023, and
delivered Exercise LEIT 2021, a First Minister-level
counter-terrorism exercise and Exercise Luna 2021, a
discussion exercise with key emergency management
entities to test the arrangements for post-disaster rapid
impact assessments.
The Territory Regional Growth (TRG) team (formerly
the Regional Network Group) expanded following
the August 2020 Election and now includes the former
Regional Network, the Office of Aboriginal Affairs,
Aboriginal Affairs Strategic Partnerships, People and
Places (formerly Activate Darwin), Local Government
and Community Development and the Aboriginal
Interpreter Service. Together, they continue to
provide a high level of support to the Chief Minister,
Minister for Aboriginal Affairs and Minister for Treaty
and Local Decision Making, and the Minister for
Local Government.
The TRG works across agencies to lead and drive
the delivery of strategies and actions to improve
coordination, and to facilitate growth and development
in the towns, regions, and remote communities in
partnership with government agencies, key stakeholders,
local government, and the Commonwealth. TRG has
continued their efforts to implement Government’s Local
Decision Making agenda, with a number of agreements
negotiated and developed over the last 12 months.
The Office of Aboriginal Affairs published the first
Progress Report for the ‘Everyone Together’ Aboriginal
Affairs Strategy, which was tabled in the Parliament in
March 2021, and has been instrumental in developing
the Territory’s contribution to the Closing the Gap
Implementation Plan.
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Strategic Aboriginal Policy coordinated and implemented
actions in the Northern Territory Aboriginal Land and
Sea Action Plan, and worked with the Northern Land
Council and key stakeholders to implement the Blue
Mud Bay Action Plan to resolve the intertidal access
issues associated with the Blue Mud Bay decision.
The Local Government team has supported the
introduction and implementation of the new Local
Government Act 2019 and the proposed expansion
of the Palmerston City boundary.
The People and Places team delivered the second
Darwin International Laksa Festival, the Darwin Street
Art Festival, reinvigorated our Darwin CBD through
the introduction of a number of initiatives aimed at
bringing the community into the Darwin City area,
and are continuing to implement initiatives under the
Darwin City Deal.

This list provides a mere snapshot of what has been
delivered and implemented over the last 12 months.
I am incredibly proud of what this department has
been able to achieve and what it continues to endeavour
to achieve.
I would like to thank staff across CM&C for their
continued hard work and dedication, and look forward
to delivering on more Government and CM&C priorities
in 2021-22.
JODIE RYAN

The Social Policy team, in partnership with Menzies
School of Health Research, have been developing the
2021 the Story of our Children and Young People, which
will be its second edition, and finalised and published
the Social Outcomes Framework.

17 September 2021

And finally, the Office of the Parliamentary Counsel
drafted an astounding 1722 pages of legislation in
2020-21, which included 23 Government Bills and
399 statutory instruments.

Department of the Chief Minister and Cabinet 2020-21 Annual Report

|8

The Department
Our vision
Our vision is to develop the Northern Territory
by partnering, coordinating, and leading quality
government policy, programs and services for
all Territorians.

Our role
The Department of the Chief Minister and Cabinet's
(CM&C) role is to provide the highest quality support
to the Chief Minister that is apolitical, responsive and
meets his needs. Good government cannot happen in
a Westminster system of government without a high
functioning and effective Cabinet process and CM&C
is responsible for delivering this.
As the first minister's department CM&C will often
be asked to lead and coordinate agendas where
outcomes can only be achieved with multiple
agencies working together.
CM&C is a primary source of the highest quality
policy advice to government, both responding
to issues but also providing strategic advice on
emerging issues over the horizon. CM&C also
plays a critical role by supporting agencies across
government to drive implementation of the
government's agenda.
CM&C provides expertise and builds capability across
government by engaging in the right way at the
right time, and supporting the government's strong
emphasis in involving stakeholders in the design of
policy and delivery.

9|
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Organisation
Chief Executive Officer

Office of the Parliamentary Counsel

Gas Taskforce
Chairman

Senior Executive
Director
Investment Territory
Gas Taskforce

Deputy Chief
Executive Officer

Deputy Chief
Executive Officer

Major Projects and
Facilitation
Precincts
and Strategic
Infrastructure

General Manager
Territory Regional
Growth
Regional Policy
and Support
` Office of Aboriginal
Affairs

Intergovernmental
and Legal Policy
Security and
Emergency
Recovery Team
Strategic Aboriginal
Policy

` Local Government

Project Origination

` Community
Development

Commercial and
Local Jobs Fund

` Aboriginal
Interpreter Service
` Regional
Support Unit
` People and Places

National Security
and Defence

Social, Economic
and Environmental
Policy
Government House
` Official Secretary

Territory Regional
Growth
` Darwin / Palmerston
/ Litchfield
` East Arnhem
` Top End
` Big Rivers
` Barkly
` Central Australia
Enablers

` Strategic Communications and Engagement

` Corporate and Shared Business Services

` Protocol NT

` Governance, Information and Reporting unit

` Cabinet Office and Secretariat Services

Department of the Chief Minister and Cabinet 2020-21 Annual Report

| 10

SEC TION 2

Performance
and Achievements
Output performance reporting
Output group
- Advice and coordination
Output group
- Regional coordination, local
government and Aboriginal affairs
Output group - Investment Territory
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Output group - Government support

50

13

Output group
- Corporate and Governance

62

Office of the Commissioner
for Public Employment

65

Darwin Waterfront Corporation

66

21
42
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Output performance reporting
This section describes CM&C’s performance against planned outcomes for 2020–21. Reporting on performance
is against outputs identified in the November 2020 Budget Paper No 3.
In 2020-21, CM&C operated to a final budget of $308.5 million across all output groups with CM&C’s reported
total actual expenditure for the financial year of $259.3 million.
The Budget movement and expenses by output for 2020-21 are outlined in the following table.
2020-21
Published
Budget
$000

2020-21
Final
Budget
$000

2020-21
Actuals
$000

Advice and coordination

9 159

8 259

6 835

Strategic policy coordination and engagement

9 159

8 259

6 835

Territory Regional Growth

166 658

150 233

143 275

Regional development, local government and
Aboriginal affairs

166 658

150 233

143 275

Investment Territory

50 293

66 843

30 803

Major, significant and government-facilitated
projects

50 293

66 843

30 803

Darwin Waterfront Corporation

21 263

21 263

21 263

Darwin Waterfront Corporation

21 263

21 263

21 263

Government support

35 625

36 488

33 933

Support to ministers and Leader of the Opposition

17 245

17 245

15 863

3 059

2 932

3 405

15 321

16 311

14 665

Office of the Commissioner for Public Employment

6 425

6 591

6 316

Employee and industrial relations

2 056

2 059

2 007

Workforce planning and development

2 714

2 738

2 480

Aboriginal employment and career development

826

962

891

Government services

829

832

938

Corporate and governance

19 218

18 832

16 864

Corporate and governance

6 289

5 893

6 700

Shared services received

11 995

12 005

9 230

Shared services provided

934

934

934

308 641

308 509

259 289

Output

Support to the Administrator
Government services

Agency total

Note

1

2

3

Changes from the final budget to the actual outcome for 2020-21 are:
1. Lower mainly due to Northern Territory and Commonwealth National Partnership Barkly Regional Deal expenditure
2. Lower mainly due to the timing of expenditure for Local Jobs Fund and Jabiru and Kakadu Futures.
3. Variation due to Department of Corporate and Digital Development billing of services provided free of charge.
The significant movement in output groups from the 2020-21 Original Published Budget to the Final Budget is mainly due to
Jabiru and Kakadu Futures transferring from Territory Regional Growth to Investment Territory.
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Output group
Advice and coordination
Outcome:
Informed strategic, economic, and social policy decisions and effective
implementation of priorities across government.

Output:
Strategic Policy Coordination and Engagement
Cordinate, support, and progress the Territory’s active participation in National Cabinet.
Facilitate, negotiate, and monitor the Territory’s participation and input into national and
international agreements, reviews, and inquiries.
Provide strategic advice across a wide range of public policy issues to the Chief Minister and Cabinet.
Work with relevant agencies and stakeholders to develop, guide, and implement priority strategies
and initiatives.
Coordinate and lead the development and execution of whole of government policies and initiatives.
2020-21
KPI

2020-21
actual

Client satisfaction

>90%

93%

Grant payments within agreed timeframes

>90%

100%

Key performance indicators

13 |
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Intergovernmental and Legal Policy
The Intergovernmental and Legal Policy unit (ILP) works across government agencies to support the Northern
Territory’s strategic participation in federal relations. Over the past year, the unit has coordinated support for the
Northern Territory’s participation in National Cabinet, First Secretaries Group (FSG) and First Deputies Group
(FDG) meetings under the refreshed Australian federal relations architecture.
The constantly evolving global Coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic has seen ILP take a lead whole of government
role in the strategic policy, coordination and monitoring of the Northern Territory Government’s (NTG) health and
economic response.
The unit supports the Department of Treasury and Finance which leads the negotiation of National Agreements
(NA), National Partnership Agreements (NPA), and Project Agreements (PA) with the Commonwealth Government
by providing oversight, coordination, and strategic advice across the NTG to ensure that NPAs and PAs protect
and advance the Northern Territory’s interests.

Key achievements in 2020-21
• Implementation of the new Australian federal
relations architecture, including the National
Federation Reform Council (NFRC) and
processes for the renewed ministerial fora and
National Cabinet Reform Committees.
• Participated in or provided quality strategic
advice for a total of 88 National Cabinet, FSG,
and FDG intergovernmental meetings.
• Coordinated, supported and progressed the
Territory’s active participation in:
– 20 National Cabinet meetings, 36 FSG and
32 FDG meetings
– Frequent FDG meetings via teleconference
to monitor the vaccine rollout
– One Council for the Australian Federation
(CAF) meeting and one NFRC meeting
– National Coordination Mechanism meetings
– International treaties and trade agreement
negotiations, and
– Review of Government Services Steering
Committee.

• Whole of government strategic policy and
data coordination relating to the Northern
Territory’s ongoing response to the COVID-19
pandemic, including leading the negotiations
for the initial Bilateral Agreement with the
Commonwealth for the Centre for National
Resilience for Organised National Repatriation
of Australians, and reporting on COVID-19
stimulus measures, restrictions and Common
Operating Picture data.
• Progressing the Northern Territory
Implementation Plan on the NPA on Universal
Access to Early Childhood Education and Care
for signing by the Minister for Education.
• Conclusion of the Royal Commission into
National Natural Disaster Arrangements,
providing strategic policy advice and
cross-government coordination.
• Progressing recommendation 5.7.7 from
A Plan for Budget Repair Final report through
completion of the review of Commonwealth
expenditure in the Northern Territory, in
partnership with the Department of Treasury
and Finance.
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Priorities for 2021-22
• To maximise the Territory's influence on federal
funding and policy settings to support the
achievement of the NTG’s strategic priorities, as
well as minimising strategic risks to the Territory
associated with federal funding negotiations
and federal reforms, including through national
intergovernmental forums.
• Finalisation of the National Skills Agreement
and National Mental Health and Suicide
Prevention Agreement.
• Continue to provide oversight and coordination
of the Northern Territory’s participation and
engagement with the National Cabinet, NFRC,
CAF, and supporting intergovernmental fora.

• In partnership with the Commonwealth Government,
develop a Coordinated Funding Framework
Agreement to assist with improved service delivery
for children and families in regional and remote parts
of the Northern Territory.
• Provide input into international treaties, conventions
and free trade agreements (FTA), with coordination
and engagement across NTG agencies and the
Commonwealth as required, particularly the AustraliaEuropean FTA and Australia-United Kingdom FTA.
• To provide strategic support for national priorities
including reducing all forms of violence against
women and their children, and promoting women’s
economic security and safety.

• Monitoring implementation of the National
Disability Insurance Scheme Worker Screening
requirements in line with the Intergovernmental
Agreement on Nationally Consistent Worker
Screening.

15 |
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Jobs and Economy
The Jobs and Economy unit leads and supports the development and implementation of whole of government
policy and projects with a focus on supporting whole of government delivery of the NTG targets of building a
$40 billion economy by 2030 and net zero emissions by 2050. The unit identifies emerging trends, undertakes
analysis, and provides strategic policy advice to the Chief Minister, NTG agencies and Cabinet on how
the Territory can leverage opportunities and minimise risks to drive economic growth and the sustainable
development and protection of the Territory’s natural environment.

Key achievements in 2020-21
• Supported the work of the Territory Economic
Reconstruction Commission (TERC) and
Operation Rebound with detailed research
and analysis.
• Negotiated and secured an $8.75 million
partnership agreement with the Advanced
Manufacturing Growth Centre to build the
advanced manufacturing ecosystem in the
Territory, across the Territory's priority
growth sectors including fibre and food,
critical mineral, clean energy, digital and
defence sectors.
• Supported implementation of government
strategic priorities, including the
recommendations of the Scientific Inquiry into
Hydraulic Fracturing in the Northern Territory.
• In partnership with other NTG agencies, led the
development of the Heat Mitigation Strategy,
a commitment under the Darwin City Deal
signed between the NTG, the Commonwealth
Government and the City of Darwin.

advice and outcomes, including the Committee
for Economic Development of Australia, the
Climate Market Institute, the Organisation for
Economic Co-operation and Developments,
and various States and NTG departments.
• Supporting the coordination of implementation
of all 62 recommendations from the TERC
Final report (released December 2020) and
recommendation 15 from the TERC First
Report (released July 2020) across government
including the development of the internal
status reporting tool and production of the
Progress Report 1, detailing implementation
progress.
• Provision of support to Team Territory, the
key reference group providing oversight
and sectoral engagement for implementing
the TERC’s recommendations and strong
stakeholder engagement and communications
within the NTG, Team Territory, the private
sector and key industry groups and the
community.

• Fostered and facilitated new and ongoing
strategic partnerships with key national and
international organisations to enhance our
ability to provide evidenced based policy
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Priorities for 2021-22
• Continue to support and lead implementation of
key areas of the Territory Economic Reconstruction
recommendations including:

– c ollaboratively delivering a project to analyse
and identify how the Territory can continue to
grow its carbon farming industry and support
priority sectors to implement their industry led
commitments to decarbonise.

– Facilitation of the partnership with the Advanced
Manufacturing Growth Centre to deliver
critical research, enable pilot projects and
commercialisation of advanced manufacturing
opportunities.

• Reviewing and analysing the regulatory requirements
to establish Carbon Capture Utilisation and
Sequestration (CCUS) projects in the Territory,
including analysis of CCUS onshore and offshore
value chains for each.

– Delivering detailed analysis to inform and develop
the NTG’s approach to supporting critical minerals
processing including finalising the Critical minerals
processing Consultancy - Minerals for Modern
Sustainable Lifestyles.

• Continue to coordinate implementation of all
recommendations from the TERC final report across
government, working with agencies to establish key
actions and targets to achieve pathways towards the
five and ten year targets and embed the TERC final
report’s step change as the new “business as usual”
culture across the government.

– Supporting the NTG objective to achieve net zero
emissions by 2050:
– identifying and monitoring potential emission
reduction technologies suitable for the Territory
context, and opportunities for them to be
piloted and scaled across the Territory
economy, and

17 |

• Continue to provide support to Team Territory
and key stakeholders in the oversight and sectoral
engagement for implementing the TERC’s
recommendations and maintain the coordination of
progress reports for publication, outlining status of
implementation across all recommendations.
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Social Policy
Social Policy provides advice to the Chief Minister, Minister for Children, Cabinet and agencies on whole of
government social policy issues. Social Policy also provides strategic advice on current and emerging social policy
issues and develops cross-agency policy initiatives targeting improved social participation outcomes. The unit
coordinates whole of government effort across a broad range of social development areas, including engagement
with, and building the capacity of, the non-government sector. The unit provides funding and assistance through
the Community Support Grant Program.

Key achievements in 2020-21
• Continued to develop collaborative
relationships with the non-government
sector through the NTG and non-government
organisations (NGO) Partnership Group (NNPG)
including supporting the NGO sector during
the COVID-19 pandemic.
• Finalised and published the Northern Territory
Social Outcomes Framework. Engaged Charles
Darwin University (CDU) to commence
development of a social survey to address
identified data gaps in the Framework.
• Developed and implemented the Batchelor
Institute of Indigenous Tertiary Education
(BIITE) – NTG Partnership Agreement to
identify synergies and encourage engagement
at all levels across the two organisations.
Established a flexible and responsive structure
of committees and working groups to convene
as required to develop cooperative activities.
• Established the Public Places Senior Officers
Strategic Group to provide timely, strategic,
whole of government advice and policy support
across the Territory in relation to public places.

• Continued the coordination of reporting
on the progress of implementation of
recommendations from the final report of the
Scientific Inquiry into Hydraulic Fracturing (the
Inquiry), including support of the Independent
Overseer in addition to establishing a
Community Engagement and Information
Program to be delivered independently
through CSIRO and the implementation of
recommendations 11.5 and 11.6 from the
Inquiry through the Aboriginal Information
Program working group.
• Continued the provision of advice on
potential social impacts to the Environment
Protection Authority within Department
of Environment, Parks and Water Security
regarding submissions received for applications
of development.
• Continued to support the work of the NTG
through the Reform Management Office on the
delivery of strategic initiatives with regard to
Children and Families, including taking the lead
on several specific projects including the review
of the Children’s Commission and development
of a 10 Year Generational Strategy for Children
and Families with the Tripartite Forum.
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Priorities for 2021-22

• Continue to provide whole of government
coordination and support to the various activities
and stakeholders relating to the implementation
of remaining recommendations from the Inquiry
including support for the Independent Overseer.

• Implement the Social Outcomes Framework for the
Northern Territory to include the development of
toolkit that supports an outcomes approach.
• Review existing whole of government grant
funding agreements and develop standard funding
agreements for capital and sponsorship grants.

• Continue participation on the Generational Strategy
Working Group and contribute to the development
and finalisation of the 10 Year Generational Strategy
for Children and Families.

• Continue to provide strategic advice on current
and emerging social policy issues and develop
cross-agency policy initiatives targeting improved
outcomes. Undertake research to inform an
evidence-based understanding of social policy
issues and initiatives.

Community Support Grants 2020-21

• Finalisation and publication of the second Story of
Our Children and Young People 2021, in partnership
with Menzies School of Health Research, including
the launch of an interactive online data platform
to improve accessibility of the data available in the
written Story.

Social Policy also administers the Community Support
Grant program. The program provides financial
assistance to community groups and organisations in the
Northern Territory to support communities and promote
participation to improve social connections between
people with different backgrounds, language groups,
genders and ages. Community Support Grants paid in
2020-21 are outlined in Appendix 1.

• Align the draft Northern Territory Social Impact
Policy (SIP) with the Northern Territory Environment
Protection Authority factor and objective guidance,
currently under development, and finalise and
implement the draft SIP in consultation with key
stakeholders and agencies.
• Continue to support the ongoing delivery of
the Community Engagement and Information
Program through CSIRO in response to community
expectations regarding Onshore Petroleum
Activities, including finalising the implementation
of recommendations 11.5 and 11.6 and the social,
cultural and economic baseline studies of the
SREBA for the Beetaloo Sub-Basin with contracted
independent researchers.
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Output group
Regional coordination, local government
and Aboriginal affairs
Outcome:
Informed, strategic, economic and social policy decisions and effective
implementation of priorities across government.

Output:
Work across agencies to lead and drive the delivery of strategies and actions to improve coordination and
development outcomes within the regions in partnership with government agencies, key stakeholders, local
government and the Commonwealth.
Coordinate and lead the development and implementation of the Territory’s Aboriginal affairs policy, including
ensuring land and sea ownership delivers on the economic and social aspirations of Aboriginal Territorians,
implementation of the government’s local decision-making agenda in partnership with Aboriginal organisations,
progressing Treaty in the Territory, and providing Aboriginal interpreter services to overcome language barriers.
Support and regulate the local government sector through a contemporary legislative framework enabling efficient
and effective services to communities, promote effective remote community engagement and facilitate local
community development initiatives.
2020-21
KPI

2020-21
actual

Client satisfaction

>90%

80%

Grant payments within agreed timeframes

>90%

100%

Aboriginal interpreting assignments completed

70%

57%1

Aboriginal interpreting hours provided by
qualified interpreters

55%

76%

Scheduled compliance reviews completed

4

N/A2

Training and workshop sessions funded or
delivered by the department to improve
council 10 capabilities

10

10

Key performance indicators

1
2

KPI not met due to client cancellations and interpreter availability.
Due to the COVID-19 pandemic, and delayed commencement of the new Act to July 2021,
no new compliance reviews were commenced from January 2020. Scheduled routine
compliance reviews are expected to recommence in 2022-23.
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Territory Regional Growth
Territory Regional Growth supports all levels of government, regional stakeholders and Aboriginal communities in the
implementation of NTG priorities, responding to regional town and community concerns, and facilitating growth and
development in the regions and remote communities.
The Territory Regional Growth (TRG) team (formerly the Regional Network Group) expanded following the August 2020
Election and now includes the former Regional Network, the Office of Aboriginal Affairs, Strategic Aboriginal Policy,
Aboriginal Affairs Strategic Partnerships, People and Places (formerly Activate Darwin), Local Government and Community
Development and the Aboriginal Interpreter Service (functions of the former Department of Local Government, Housing
and Community Development).

Office of Aboriginal Affairs
The Office of Aboriginal Affairs (OAA) is responsible for providing strategic advice to Aboriginal people, organisations
and all levels of government on significant Aboriginal affairs agendas and priorities through strategic Aboriginal policy
matters, key projects and meaningful engagement and partnerships.
OAA comprises Aboriginal Affairs Strategic Partnerships, Strategic Aboriginal Policy and the Aboriginal Interpreter
Services and is supported by the broader CM&C.
OAA champions the changes and accelerates the work already underway by government in the areas of Aboriginal
leadership; capability and capacity building; and building a culturally responsive public sector that contributes to
driving the commitments agreed to in the ‘Everyone Together’ Aboriginal Affairs Strategy and National Agreement
on Closing the Gap.

Aboriginal Affairs
Strategic Partnerships
Aboriginal Affairs Strategic Partnerships (AASP)
focuses on Aboriginal Affairs policy frameworks and
major reform agendas through the implementation
of the ‘Everyone Together’ Aboriginal Affairs Strategy
and the new National Agreement on Closing the
Gap, in partnership with key Aboriginal stakeholders.
AASP provides strategic advice and representation,
and supports the Minister for Aboriginal Affairs to
attend Joint Council meetings and various national,
Territory and regional forums. AASP works with
Aboriginal Territorians to strengthen Aboriginal
leadership, governance and capacity building through
the First Circles Leadership Program, the delivery
of the Northern Territory Aboriginal Leadership
and Governance Forum, and the Remote Aboriginal
Governance and Capacity Building and Celebrating
Aboriginal Culture Grant Programs.

Aboriginal Interpreter Service
The Aboriginal Interpreter Service (AIS) was established
in 2000, providing interpreting and recording services
in 31 Aboriginal languages from across the Northern
Territory, including cross-border areas in South Australia
and Western Australia. The Northern Territory is
recognised as one of the most linguistically rich regions
globally due to the diversity of Aboriginal languages.
The AIS recruits and trains Aboriginal interpreters and
delivers interpreting services that align with national
interpreting standards.
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Key achievements in 2020-21
• Established a standalone website for all
information relating to the Aboriginal Affairs
portfolio. This platform is a central location
for Aboriginal Affairs NTG projects such as
the ‘Everyone Together’ Aboriginal Affairs
Strategy, Closing the Gap, Reconciliation,
Grants, Local Decision Making (LDM), Land
and Sea, the Aboriginal Interpreter Service
and significant Aboriginal Affairs events/forums
and gatherings.
• Facilitated the Celebrating Aboriginal Culture
(Australia Day) grant which provides funding
to Aboriginal communities, individuals and
groups to celebrate Aboriginal culture, language
history and achievements as part of the
Northern Territory’s Australia Day celebrations.
In 2020-21:
– 21 grant applications were received, and
– 13 grant applications were successful.
• Between the period 1 July 2020 to 30 June
2021, the AIS has:
– Completed 7390 interpreting assignments
– Completed 27 200 hours of interpreting
– Completed 648 recording assignments
– Completed 525 hours of recordings, and
– Employed 157 active interpreters.
• AIS secured:
– Funding from Diabetes Australia to develop
Australia’s first ever diabetes education
resource in Aboriginal languages.
– Funding from the National Accreditation
Authority for translators and interpreters to
host a camp at the Michael Long Learning
Centre to recruit Murrinh-Patha interpreters
from the Wadeye community.
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– Funding from the Public Health Network to
develop a health dictionary that will be used
to train interpreters and prepare interpreters
to operate in health contexts
– Funding from Top End Health Service’s
Centre for Disease Control to work with
Clinic 34 to develop messages in Aboriginal
language about syphilis.
– Collaborated with Menzies School of Health
Research to host a public symposium on
communication and health. The symposium
was attended by more than 100 people.
• Release of the first ‘Everyone Together’
Aboriginal Affairs Strategy progress report,
measuring progress against the 67 measures
and 21 primary initiatives.
• Developing the Closing the Gap Northern
Territory Implementation Plan in partnership
with Aboriginal Peak Organisations of the
Northern Territory (APO NT) and Local
Government Association of the Northern
Territory (LGANT).
• Increased First Circles members to 30 for the
2021 Program. The First Circles Leadership
Program supports emerging Aboriginal leaders
from across remote communities. First Circles
identifies mentors and supports the next
generation of Aboriginal leaders, targeting
remote communities.
• In the Remote Aboriginal Governance and
Capacity Building Grant Program 2020-21
grant round:
– 52 applications were received in total,
– 19 applications were successful,
– 7 applications funded under $20 000, and
– 12 applications funded up to $50 000.

Priorities for 2021-22
• Deliver actions under the NT Closing the Gap
Implementation Plan, in collaboration with NTG
agencies, and in partnership with the APO NT
and LGANT.
• In partnership with APO NT and the Office of
the Commissioner for Public Employment (OCPE),
developing and implementing a whole
of government cultural responsiveness
framework, including an anti-racism strategy.
• Finalise a business review of the Aboriginal
Interpreter Service and implement any agreed
recommendations.
• Build on existing LDM agreements and implement
new agreements across the Territory.
• A new National Agreement on Closing the
Gap came into effect on 27 July 2020. Focus
is on the development of an NT Jurisdictional
Implementation Plan to capture, monitor and
report on the significant commitments under
the Agreement.
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Strategic Aboriginal Policy
Strategic Aboriginal Policy (SAP) takes a leading role in whole of government strategic policy development,
implementation and advice on Aboriginal land estate matters at a Territory and national level.
SAP develops and implements whole of government strategies and policies on how government will work with
Aboriginal Territorians to support their economic and social aspirations.
This includes providing strategic policy advice to government, and having day to day care and control of claims under
the Aboriginal Land Rights (Northern Territory) Act 1976 (Cth) and the Native Title Act 1993 (Cth) in the Territory.

Key achievements in 2020-21
• Coordination and implementation of the
actions in the Northern Territory Aboriginal
Land and Sea Action Plan.
• Continued to implement the Kenbi Framework
Deed, including Indigenous Land Use
Agreement Registration and progressing
legislation to enable the final remaining areas of
land under claim to be handed over as freehold
to the Larrakia Development Corporation and
the Kenbi Land Trust respectively.
• Worked with the Northern Land Council and key
stakeholders to implement the Blue Mud Bay
Action Plan to resolve the intertidal access issues
associated with the Blue Mud Bay decision.
• Continued to develop and implement the
NTG Strategic Native Title Policy Framework,
including short form proof of connection
requirements and a new consent determination
for pastoral claims.
• In 2020, there were 15 determinations of
native title in the Territory, compared to 19
in the four years prior. Additionally, since
2019, the NTG has supported the finalisation
of one Aboriginal land claim and has made
progress on the administrative steps necessary
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to finalise eight land claims by agreement,
including surveys, land swaps, the registration
of Indigenous Land Use Agreements and road
re-alignments.
• Developed and implemented the Town Lands
Native Title Policy which allows exclusive
native title holders to apply to convert their
vacant crown land within towns to freehold
title, without extinguishing their native
title rights.
• Provided assistance and advice to both the
Commonwealth and NT Chief Health Officer
with respect to rapidly responding to any
potential COVID-19 outbreak in an Aboriginal
community.
• Led Territory participation in the Biannual
Strategic Forum with the Commonwealth and
the four Land Councils.

Priorities for 2021-22
• Coordination of the Territory Economic
Reconstruction recommendations on Aboriginal
Economic Leadership.
• Lead the Northern Territory response to the land
issues raised by the sun-setting of the Stronger Futures
in the Northern Territory Act 2012 (Cth) in June 2022.
• Participate in and support the Commonwealth
Joint Review of the Remote Housing Model in the
Northern Territory including the review of Leasing of
Aboriginal land for NTG access and essential service
infrastructure.
• Refresh the Aboriginal Land and Sea Action Plan and
implement or monitor agencies implementation of
the Plan.
• Continued resolution of outstanding Aboriginal land
claims including ongoing implementation of the Kenbi
Framework Deed, negotiation with the Northern
Land Council to resolve the 23 outstanding beds and
banks of rivers and intertidal zone land claims, and
implementation of the Blue Mud Bay Action Plan.
• Work with the Land Councils, claimants and
other affected stakeholder to resolve native
title applications.
• Work in partnership with key stakeholders to
support the Aboriginal and Regional Economic
Development Agenda.
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Local Government and Regional Development
The Local Government and Regional Development unit works with local government councils to support good
governance and the development of a strong, responsive and well governed local government sector, as well as
supporting regional development through policy and coordination across the Northern Territory.
The unit is made up of the following teams:
• Legislation and Policy

• Remote Information and Engagement, and

• Regional Development

• Sustainability and Compliance.

Key achievements in 2020-21
• Carried out a number of activities to support
the implementation of the Local Government
Act 2019 including information-provision for,
and consultation with, the local government
sector and other key stakeholders to inform the
development of the regulations and guidelines
that coincided with the commencement of the
new Act on 1 July 2021.
• Undertook initial consultations with each of
the land councils to inform the development
of new laws that will enable burials and
cremations to occur in a manner that
acknowledges and respects the custom and
practice of Traditional Owners.
• Commenced development of the Regional
Development Framework.
• Relaunched the Remote Engagement and
Coordination Strategy (RECS) on 21 June 2021,
in Tennant Creek and commencement of the
RECS - Monitoring and Evaluation Framework.
• Delivery of the IAP2 Remote Engagement
Essentials Training Workshops across the
Northern Territory to NTG staff and other
partners. The training workshops aim to
improve the way we coordinate our services
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and engage with regional and remote Aboriginal
community members. Over 550 participants
have attended and completed the workshops.
• Development of a NTG travel hub, including
the TRIPS Dashboard, to support improved
coordination of regional and remote travel by
the NTPS. This aims to create efficiencies as well
as improving community engagement practice.
• Established three new grant programs during the
year in support of the local government sector:
– Commercial Rates Replenishment program
provided a one-off grant to councils which
provided a 25 per cent rate concession
for commercial ratepayers facing financial
hardship due to the COVID-19 pandemic.
– The Priority Infrastructure Fund enabled
councils the opportunity to apply for
funding for local government infrastructure
related projects that can be commenced
immediately with an intended completion
date of 31 October 2021.
– Waste and Resource Management (WaRM)
program which provided one-off grant
allocations to regional and shire councils
to assist with addressing issues specific to
waste and resource management issues
within their council areas.

Priorities for 2021-22
• Develop and deliver a strategic framework to guide
training and learning for local government elected
members. A key component of the framework will
be the introduction of a mandatory training program
which will be delivered to elected members after the
general elections in August 2021.
• Finalisation and implementation of the Regional
Development Framework. This will establish an
improved model for how all spheres of government,
land councils, industry and regional communities
work together towards developing stronger regional
economies, more liveable communities, and jobs.

• Development of a Regional Economic Growth Plan,
to set goals and actions to 2030. This will be
supported by the Regional Data hub which will
provide centralised date to support Growth Plans.
• Development of a strategy to improve coordination,
collaboration, and delivery of remote services.
• Development of resource materials such as
compliance checklists, which will be made
available publically, to assist the sector comply
with legislative requirements under the new Local
Government Act 2019.

Department of the Chief Minister and Cabinet 2020-21 Annual Report

| 28

People and Places
The People and Places team was established as a result of the machinery of government changes in 2020 and
delivers a program of work that includes City and Regional Deals, Activate Territory and the Anti-Social Behaviour
(ASB) Central Coordination unit.
The City and Regional Deals team coordinates the delivery of NTG initiatives of both the Darwin City Deal and the
Barkly Regional Deal; the Activate Territory team supports the regions to revitalise and enhance their community
centres while also delivering the functions of Activate Darwin; and the ASB Central Coordination unit works
across government to deliver holistic management and implementation of activities aimed at addressing anti-social
behaviour across the NT.

Key achievements in 2020-21
• Delivered the second Darwin International
Laksa Festival which saw 68 hospitality venues
participate in the event, an increase of 19
compared to the previous year.
• Delivery of the Darwin Street Art Festival,
despite the challenges of COVID-19. The
Festival changed format to support the local
arts community and allow for the event to
continue while adhering to COVID restrictions.
The festival ran for three months, with a new
mural painted each fortnight.
• Supported the local music scene by funding
Lunch on the Lawn, Sunset Sounds at Cullen
Bay and live music each week from February to
May in Smith Street Mall.
• Establishment of a centralised Anti-Social
Behaviour unit to manage relationships
with service providers, non-government
organisations, local governments and security
services, and address anti-social behaviour
across the Territory.
• Provision of funding for outreach services
through Larrakia Nation, including day patrol,
Territory Connect (Return to Country) program
and Larrakia Hosts.
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• Continued to facilitate the development
of the Education and Community Precinct
by Charles Darwin University (CDU) and
with the City Deal partners. This included
securing a $151.5 million loan from the
Northern Australia Infrastructure Facility,
the completion of concept and schematic
designs, the commencement and completion
of excavation on-site, and the award of a
number of significant contracts to progress
the precinct’s design and construction phases.
CM&C also actively participates on the Precinct
Project Control Group as one of two NTG
representatives.
• Continued to work with the CSIRO-led
Darwin living lab to co-create and implement
initiatives that focus on heat mitigation, energy
efficiency and smart technologies, positioning
Darwin as a leader in these areas, and created
an exhibition showcasing the Darwin Living
Lab and heat mitigation initiatives as part of
broader community engagement around heat
mitigation.

Priorities for 2021-22
• Support for delivery of activations, events and place
making in the regions to enhance and revitalise their
regional centres.
• Delivery of city events including the Darwin
International Laksa Festival and Darwin Street
Art Festival.
• Ongoing identification and advocacy for regulatory
reform within the city and the development of related
programs to assist traders and grow the city economy.
• Mapping of services and funding currently operating
across the Territory to ensure a coordinated approach
to addressing anti-social behaviour, and development
and implementation of a Territory-wide anti-social
behaviour implementation plan.
• Finalise the provision of land to Larrakia Development
Corporation for the Larrakia Cultural Centre.
• Continue to work with the Darwin Living Lab to
investigate further heat mitigation projects, and
release the Heat Mitigation and Adaptation Strategy
and progress CM&C initiatives.
• Continue to work with the City Deal partners,
CDU and other key partners to realise the vision of
the City Deal.
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Barkly Regional Office
The Barkly Regional Office provides strategic whole of government leadership and coordination at the regional level
to ensure the effective rollout of the NTG’s agenda and to support engagement with regional leaders, communities,
organisations, and businesses.

Key achievements in 2020-21

Priorities for 2021-22

• Finalisation of the Barkly Regional Deal
Regional Workforce Strategy with the
settlement of the Juno Jobs Model and delivery
partners with round one of pre-employment
training commencing in July 2021.

• Provide strategic local support to Major Projects
Ammaroo Phosphate and Sun Cable Pty Limited,
and developing projects including Fortune Agri and
the Tennant Creek Mining processing mill.

• Finalisation of the Barkly Regional Deal Barkly
Business Hub operational model.
• Delivery of the Tennant Creek Youth Forum in
April 2021 with participation from a total of 80
students from both the Tennant Creek Primary
and High schools.
• Delivered a public Domestic, Family and Sexual
Violence (DFSV) hub forum in March 2021 to
strengthen coordinated responses
to DFSV incidents. Undertook DFSV
community consultations in Elliot, Ali Curung,
Epenarra, Ampilatwatja and Arlparra with a
planning session held in Utopia Region in
June 2021 leading to a series of men’s
behaviour change groups.
• Provided facilitation assistance between
relevant NTG agencies and Barkly Regional
Council to progress Anyinginyi Health
Aboriginal Corporation’s Infrastructure Plan.
• Through the Regional Coordination Committee,
led by the Department of Education,
established a School Engagement Strategy.
• Provided strategic advice and support to Sun
Cable to assist with community consultations.

• In partnership with the Barkly Regional Deal,
undertake regional consultations to finalise the
Regional Alliance representation on the Barkly
Regional Deal Governance Table.
• Finalisation of an Indigenous Land Use Agreement
over the preferred site of the Barkly Regional Deal
Youth Justice Facility for expected construction in
early 2022.
• Provide collaborative support to finalise the Barkly
Regional Deal initiatives of Economic Growth
Strategy, Tennant Creek Visitor Park and Student
Boarding Accommodation and to progress the
Infrastructure Investment, Crisis Youth Support,
Trauma Informed Care, Barkly Mining and Energy
Services Hub and Service System Reform.
• Facilitate formation of a Tennant Creek Youth
Group with the intent of delivering a Youth
Leadership Forum and Career/Employment Expo
in collaboration with youth, relevant organisations
and community stakeholders.
• Develop and support DFSV workforce
strategies across the regions to strengthen early
intervention, response and recovery services,
support governance structures to ensure the
sector is informed by robust sector expertise and
community knowledge, and implement evaluation
strategies to inform a DFSV response framework
• Progress LDM agreements with Julalikari Council
Aboriginal Corporation (Tennant Creek), and
Urapuntja Aboriginal Corporation (Utopia).
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Big Rivers
Regional Office

coordinated calendar of school holiday
programs and funding innovative after-hours
youth activities which target vulnerable
young people.

Big Rivers is the Territory’s second largest region and
extends from the Ord Bonaparte in the west to the
Gulf of Carpentaria in the east.
The town of Katherine is at the centre of the region and
is the transport hub of the Territory, central to trade from
all directions, whilst being economically prosperous in
its own right thanks to its many developed industries
including tourism, pastoral, horticulture, defence and
mining. The region is also home to rich Aboriginal cultures,
both traditional and contemporary, and is one of the most
ecologically diverse areas of Australia, with an array of
National Parks preserving rich habitats and rare flora
and fauna.

Key achievements in 2020-21
• Supported the Department of Defence and
the Department of Health with community
engagement and awareness activities related to
the detection of PFAS in ground water.
• Established the Child and Family Centre in
Kalkaringi, including funding for the refurbishment
of the old clinic to establish the Kalkaringi
community centre through Gurindji (LDM)
Multi Agency Partnership (MAP) 2018-2021.
• Delivered Katherine Activation Projects
including working with Godinymayin Yijard
Rivers Art and Culture Centre to complete the
Arts Trail infrastructure project, partnering
with Parks and Wildlife, Nitmiluk Tours and
Katherine Multi-Sport Club on delivering the
Nitmiluk National Park mountain bike trails
and Katherine regional arts developing the
Katherine app, a new visitor experience for
the town showcasing both popular and
hidden attractions while promoting local
tourism businesses.
• Implemented the regional youth services
program in Katherine, enabling the Katherine
youth interagency group to develop a

• Supported local businesses, Aboriginal
community controlled organisations, nongovernment organisations and young people
to be a part of the development of the 202021 Katherine Youth Action Plan, building off
the successful completion of actions from the
2019-20 Katherine Youth Action Plan.
• Delivered Aboriginal interpreting services
for Aboriginal people on behalf of the NTG
with respect to the COVID-19 pandemic in
the NT and a range of other interpreting
services such as Top End Health Services and
the Department of the Attorney-General and
Justice (Katherine Local and Bush Courts).

Priorities for 2021-22
• Progress the implementation of revised LDM
agreements with Yugul Mangi Development Aboriginal
Corporation, Gurindji Aboriginal Corporation, Jawoyn
Association Aboriginal Corporation and Walangeri
Ngumpinku Aboriginal Corporation through the
development of their implementation plans 2021-2023.
• Support the develop and implementation of LDM
agreements and guiding principles with Kalano
Community Association Inc, Kurdiji Aboriginal
Corporation and Numburindi Development Aboriginal
Corporation.
• Implementation of the remote worker safety working
group. The group will use communication from on
the ground staff to ensure localised situations receive
appropriate resourced and escalation if required.
• Continue to support key priority projects across
the region, including: Katherine CBD revitalisation,
Katherine street art projects capturing and celebrating
regional leaders, Borroloola sports courts and cyclone
shelter upgrades, Territory arts trail upgrades, and the
Katherine Logistics and Agribusiness Hub.
• Lead the re-establishment of the Regional Roads
Committee and Big Rivers Reconstruction Committee.
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Central Australia Regional Office
Central Australia Regional Office is responsible for the coordination of government policies and projects across all
agencies within the region. This reporting year saw significant machinery of government changes incorporating a
number of business units into a centralised office.
Key priorities for the office over the past year have included the continued promotion and progression of the
LDM framework, through considered engagement with communities, LDM is becoming an important mechanism
to promote positive outcomes and decisions.
Community safety and engagement and coordination of the COVID-19 response was vital in the last year to keep
our region safe. Coordinating health management, through to ensuring local business had the support to tackle the
unprecedented times was vital for our business unit.

Key achievements in 2020-21
• A signing ceremony on 20 July 2020 saw the
Chief Minister, CEO and executive members
of TCAC Board of Directors sign a LDM
commitment agreement. The 16 Town Camp
presidents are co-signatories to the agreement.
TCAC consultations with town camp residents
has produced a wellness framework which
outlines the LDM priority areas.
• Approval of the proposal of the Tangentyere
Council Aboriginal Corporation (TCAC) Child
and Family Centre (CFC) to operate. The
TCAC CFC model will be embedded into
LDM schedule 3.5 Knowledge for monitoring
purposes. The implementation of the CFC is
well advanced.
• Extended the Tangentyere Night and Youth
Patrol transport. Over the summer school
holiday period Tangentyere Night and
Youth Patrol carried out a total of 1571
transportations of young people from the
CBD with 337 being in the 0-12 age group
and 1234 being in the 13-17 age group.
Looking After the Kids carried out a total on
349 transportations from the CBD with 133
being in the 0-12 age group and 216 being in
the 13-17 age group.
• Delivered the Alice Springs Summer School
Holiday Calendar of Activities with 235
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activities delivered over the 44 days of holidays
with a total attendance of 13 585.
• Operated the Warlpiri project, the aim of the
project is to build community pride and strength
for the Yuendumu community through the
creation of a cultural economy and jobs for
young Warlpiri people, with CM&C providing
on the ground coordination. Elements of the
Warlpiri project include; upgrading the Safe
Keeping Place, a proposed new Cultural and
Knowledge Centre, repatriation of Warlpiri
material from institutions such as the Strehlow
Centre, South Australian Museums, the tate
Library of South Australia and overseas with
outcomes of the project being the creation
of jobs for young Warlpiri men and women.
Strong partnerships have been established
with the three Adelaide based institutions, two
local Yuendumu Aboriginal community based
organisations (Arts Centre and PAW Media), the
Central Land Council (GMAAAC) and Newmont
Mining. Six Warlpiri teacher assistants at the
Yuendumu school have commenced the Remote
Aboriginal Teacher Education pilot program.
• Secured a $28 million investment to sustain
water security across Aboriginal communities in
the Northern Territory. This project will improve
the water quality and supply infrastructure in
the community.

Priorities for 2021-22
• Establishment and commencement of the TCAC CFC.
• Setting up the Central Australian Regional Children
and Families Committee.
• Progression and signing of LDM agreements
in community particularly in identified priority
communities.
• Ensure provision of Aboriginal interpreters to support
community members to attend bush in
the Southern Region and Cross borders of
Western Australia and South Australia. Continue
to provide interpreters to local court and Service
Australia rosters.
• Youth services mapping project in conjunction with
National Indigenous Australians Agency. NTG is
leading the review to map current service delivery,
services delivered and opportunities to partner and
improve to deliver better outcomes.
• Review of the 2019 Yuendumu Community Action
Plan to assess the measures and progress since
commencement.
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East Arnhem Regional Office
The East Arnhem Regional Office provides strategic whole of government leadership and coordination at the
regional level to ensure the effective rollout of the NTG’s agenda and to support engagement with regional leaders,
communities, organisations, and businesses.
In late 2020, the office welcomed the local government and Aboriginal Interpreter Service teams and functions in
to the Nhulunbuy office and has been working to strengthen the Interpreter Services in Galiwin’ku and on the Gove
Peninsula through new partnerships with regional organisations and agencies. In addition to a continuing strong
focus on keeping the region safe and informed about COVID-19 with regional partners, the team has increased its
focus on economic reconstruction with a new dedicated senior officer role to drive public and private investment
and jobs growth, and continued a strong focus on delivering on LDM commitments and regional children, families
and youth projects. The office also welcomed a senior Yolngu leader as a strategic cultural advisor to strengthen NTG
regional and local engagement and development and to ensure the office is positioned to support its future role in
Closing the Gap implementation in the region.

Key achievements in 2020-21
• Implementation of LDM policy in East
Arnhem in partnership with regional and local
organisations and community leaders including:
– progressed the landmark Groote
Archipelago LDM Agreement and four
signed implementation plans that set out
the steps to transition control of decision
making and service delivery to Anindilyakwa
organisations in the areas of housing,
education, economic development and law,
justice and rehabilitation
– progressing the financial assessment
and stakeholder engagement on the
Anindilyakwa leaders aspiration to establish
an Anindilyakwa Local Government Regional
Council and to increase Anindilyakwa control
of health services for the Groote Archipelago
– implementing the Gapuwiyak Child and
Family Centre and supporting East Arnhem
Land Youth model in partnership with Yolŋu
leadership groups, and
– implementing the whole-of-government
Yolŋu region cultural competency training
in partnership with ARDS Aboriginal
Corporation.
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• Advanced the jointly funded $8 million tourism
precinct at the Gove Port.
• Worked with a range of Aboriginal and nonAboriginal businesses in the region to support
industry and business growth in the tourism,
forestry and service sectors including the East
Arnhem Land Owner Prospectus and Forestry
Industry Development Plan.
• Worked with telecommunications industry
partners and regional stakeholders to
secure Commonwealth Government joint
funding for major upgrades to the major
telecommunication fibre trunk networks to
Arnhem Land and Groote Eylandt to alleviate
congestion and provide for industry growth
across all sectors.
• Secured joint NT Government, Commonwealth
Government and regional partner funding to
rollout NBN fibre to the premise services to
Yirrkala.
• Led the NTG role in the Gove Peninsula Futures
Reference Group and Gove transition including
supporting Traditional Owners to develop and
release ‘A New Journey Together – Traditional
Owner Vision for the Gove Peninsula’.

Priorities for 2021-22
• Continue to drive and facilitate the effective rollout of
the NTG’s LDM initiative in East Arnhem including:

• Strengthen Aboriginal Interpreter Services in the East
Arnhem region including as a priority on the Gove
Peninsula and Galiwinku.

– supporting the development of the next three
Groote Archipelago LDM Implementation Plans in
the areas of Local Government, Sustainable Long
Term Power Solution and Health

• Support the implementation of major infrastructure
projects for the region including the $225 million
Central Arnhem Road upgrade (including the Arnhem
Arterial Road Strategy), Gove Port diversification
strategy and remote housing program.

– ensuring the four signed Implementation Plans for
the Groote Archipelago are progressing as agreed

• Continue to support a range of economic initiatives in
the region including:

– re-negotiation of the Yolngu Region LDM
Partnership and advancing sub-regional LDM
workshops in the Marthakal and Miwatj/Laynhapuy
region, and
– finalising negotiations with Blue Mud Bay leaders
on the Djalkiripuyngu LDM Agreement.

– the East Arnhem Land Owner Prospectus
– Blue Mud Bay enterprise projects
– the Arnhem Space Centre, including supporting
NASA’s upcoming launch, and
– tourism, forestry, fishing and aquaculture and
human services industry development plans.

• Continue to support the regional Yolngu and
Anindilyakwa led youth development strategies and
develop a Gove Peninsula Youth Action Plan.
• Continue to work with relevant stakeholders to plan
for the future of the two mining towns in the region
including the Gove and Alyangula Futures processes
already in progress.

• Establish the Gapuwiyak Child and Family Centre and
continue to support the East Arnhem Land Youth
Model being implemented by Arnhem Land Progress
Association.
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Darwin, Palmerston and Litchfield
The Darwin, Palmerston & Litchfield team supports the Greater Darwin region and is located on Larrakia country
encompassing the cities of Litchfield shire, Palmerston and Darwin and East Arm.
The population in this region is 147 200 people (60% of the Territory’s population).
• Our capital city, Darwin is the key gateway for tourism, trade and defence
• Palmerston has a rapidly growing population, known as the City of Families
• Litchfield Shire has major industries such as construction, aquaculture, horticulture and crocodile farming
• East Arm includes the Marine Industry Park, where the future Darwin Ship Lift facility will support defence,
logistics, freight and future oil and gas activity.

Key achievements in 2020-21
• Ongoing promotion of LDM principles via
regional agency, non-government organisation
and community networks for collaborative
community participation, and ongoing regional
coordination to deliver NTG’s agenda across
identified priorities.
• Funded and coordinated projects to support
town communities improve performance,
governance and compliance, to effectively
negotiate with the NTG to achieve LDM
agreements across identified priorities.
• Supported the NTG’s coordinated response to the
COVID-19 pandemic in the NT via the COVID-19
Emergency Operation Centre, by collaboratively
resolving matters, facilitating information-sharing
across the regions, and facilitating collaboration
between the functional groups, including the
delivery of the remote desktop exercises to
test community preparedness and Local Area
Pandemic Plans with local emergency committees
across the Regions.
• Joint coordination of important community
programs and youth activities in the Greater
Darwin Region, including school holiday
and after hours youth activities, and other
regional priorities identified in the Darwin and
Palmerston Youth Action Plans.

37 |

Department of the Chief Minister and Cabinet 2020-21 Annual Report

• Facilitated the securing of funds delivered to
extend the successful youth transport patrol
service as part of the NTG’s Breaking the
Cycle of Crime initiative, and important youth
facilities and activities designed to keep young
people engaged.
• Supported the NTG’s collaboration and
coordination roles to deliver the Palmerston
Local Economic Plan 2021-2031, in partnership
with the City of Palmerston, aimed at growing
and diversifying the Palmerston local economy
as part of the NTG’s lead role to grow the
Northern Territory’s economy more broadly.
• Delivered important Aboriginal interpreting
services for Aboriginal people on behalf of the
NTG with respect to the COVID-19 pandemic
in the NT via the AIS including for statutory
purposes with respect to Local and Supreme
Court matters and a 000 emergency trial
agreement with the Aboriginal Justice unit.

Priorities for 2021-22
• Lead and coordinate the multi-agency response
to youth crime, and anti-social behaviour in
Darwin, Palmerston and Litchfield areas.
• Work with the City of Palmerston and other
stakeholders to identify and pursue opportunities
to attract and support family-focused events,
activities and programs in Palmerston.
• Lead implementation of LDM in partnership
with regional and local organisations and
community leaders.
• Support implementation and coordination of
youth activities.
• Promote safety of public places.
• Collaborate with the Commonwealth and local
governments to negotiate and implement
Regional Deals.
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Top End Regional Office
The Top End Regional Office provides strategic whole of government leadership and coordination at the regional
level to ensure the effective delivery of government’s policy agenda and support effective engagement with
regional leaders, communities, organisations and businesses.

Tiwi Islands
Key achievements in 2020-21

Priorities for 2021-22

• Developing the way forward with the Tiwi
Land Council, Tiwi Islands Regional Council
and Tiwi Islands Skin Group to progress LDM
by focusing on understanding decision-making
processes already established by Tiwi people
and organisations, and their expectations for
working together with government.

• Consult and engage with the Tiwi Islands’
leaders, elders, cultural authority and
organisations to identify the cultural
governance structure and explore their
relationship to LDM.

• Working collaboratively with Tiwi Plantations
Corporation to maximise local outcomes
including increased local employment from its
operations.
• Co-led the implementation of the MACCST at
Wurrumiyanga.
• Provided support to the Tiwi Islands Local
Emergency Control group in response to the
ongoing COVID-19 pandemic.
• Assisted the Tiwi Islands Regional Council to
transition to the Local Government Act 2019
and delivered a capacity building workshop to
councillors.

• Support the Tiwi representatives of the Top
End Regional Reconstruction Committee
and drive improved coordination of
economic development activity on the Tiwi
Islands.
• Support the Tiwi Islands representatives of
the Top End Child and Family Committee to
enable children and young people to grow
up safe, thriving and loved in their families,
cultures and communities.
• Co-lead the development of solutions to
child and community safety challenges
identified through the MACCST.
• Progress waste management solutions on
the Tiwi Islands through active participation
in the Tiwi Islands Waste Management
Working Group.
• Work with the Reform Management Office
and Traditional Owners to develop the
Child and Families Centre at Wurrumiyanga.
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West Daly
Key achievements in 2020-21

Priorities for 2021-22

• Supporting business development in Wadeye,
and the West Daly region through the Kardu
Alliance that has been repurposed and reestablished, to focus on working collaboratively
across businesses to support the development
of the region.

• Finalise the LDM agreement in Wadeye,
which will recognise the cultural governance
structure as the decision making body for the
community.

• Supported the Department of Territory
Families, Housing and Community (TFHaC) in
the establishment of the Housing Reference
Group (HRG) in Wadeye. The structure and
membership of the HRG is aligned to the reestablished local governance structure.
• Supporting the Reform Management Officer
to establish a Children and Families Centre in
Wadeye, through ‘Da Ngimalmin’ a cultural
respective and community led holistic
approach to social development of the people
of Wadeye/Thamarrurr. Da Ngimalmin will
support social development for the community.
• Supported the transition of the sport and
recreation service from Victoria Daly Regional
Council to Green River Aboriginal Corporation
(GRAC). This was a key focus of GRAC in their
LDM MAP agreement.
• Co-led the implementation of the MACCST
at Wadeye.

• Finalise the LDM agreement in Nauiyu. The
Nauiyu LDM agreement will look to support
the future development of Nauiyu.
• Support the West Daly representatives of the
Top End Regional Reconstruction Committee
and drive improved coordination of economic
development activity throughout the West
Daly region.
• Support the West Daly representatives of the
Top End Child and Family Committee to enable
children and young people to grow up safe,
thriving and loved in their families, cultures
and communities.
• Establish the Children and Families Centre,
through ‘Da Ngimalmin’ a cultural respective
and community led holistic approach to social
development of the people of Wadeye/
Thamarrurr.
• Progress the building of a Government
Business Centre in Wadeye.
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West Arnhem
Key achievements in 2020-21

Priorities for 2021-22

• Established monthly service delivery committee
meetings in Maningrida, Gunbalanya and Jabiru.

• Continue to engage and consult with
community to finalise the current LDM
priorities for Maningrida.

• Expanded whole of community engagement
through the service delivery committees and
various working groups, bringing stakeholders
together.
• Increased level of engagement with Traditional
Owner groups in Maningrida and Gunbalanya
to progress government and community
business and priorities.
• Delivered the Maningrida Child and Family
Centre community funding priorities including
community bus, trauma awareness course and
a community laundromat.
• Established a strong LDM consultation group
consisting of community leaders, traditional
owners, aboriginal organisations and all levels
of government.
• Provided support to the West Arnhem
Regional Council to transition to the new
Local Government Act 2019.
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• Establishing a LDM agreement with
Gunbalanya Traditional Owners to support
the progression of local social and economic
priorities.
• Enhancing Youth Service Delivery across
West Arnhem communities through stronger
coordination and a Maningrida Youth Strategy.
• Consult and deliver the Gunbalanya and
Maningrida Child and Family Centre Project
Funding and support community initiatives.
• Supporting the West Arnhem representatives
of the Top End Regional Reconstruction
Committee and drive improved coordination of
economic development activity throughout the
West Arnhem region.
• Support the West Arnhem representatives
of the Top End Child and Family Committee
to enable children and young people to grow
up safe, thriving and loved in their families,
cultures and communities.

Output group
Investment Territory
Outcome:
A diversified and growing Territory economy.

Output:
Major, significant and government-facilitated projects.
Facilitate major projects and significant investments in the Territory, economic opportunities and
projects in the regions to grow key industry sectors, and diversify over economy.
Lead the coordination and delivery of the Territory’s gas strategy and development of a gas-based
manufacturing industry.
Lead national and international strategic defence and national security engagement and advocacy and strengthen
the Territory’s role in enabling national security.

2020-21
KPI

2020-21
actual

New projects with major project status

3

N/A1

Facilitated investment projects under
management

3

6

Stakeholder satisfaction with facilitation of
trade and investment opportunities for
Territory companies

85%

N/A2

Defence NT advice provided within agreed
timeframes

85%

85%

Key performance indicators

1

No new projects were given major project status.

2

 acilitation of trade and investment opportunities for Territory companies was significantly
F
impacted by COVID-19, therefore this KPI was not measured.

Department of the Chief Minister and Cabinet 2020-21 Annual Report

| 42

Investment Territory
Our goal is to make the Territory a $40 billion economy
by 2030 through growing private investment and
creating more jobs.
Investment Territory was established in 2019 with
government recognising the importance and the need
for more private sector investment in the Territory to
grow the economy. Investment Territory works with the
public, private and non-government sectors promoting
the Territory as an attractive investment destination with
genuine opportunities for growth. The team engages
with foreign, domestic and local private investors to
attract investment.
Investment Territory is integral to the coordination of
NTG’s investment delivery system. Our team provides
Investment facilitation services for clients of significant
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and major projects through a case management
approach from concept right through to project
construction and operation. A pipeline of projects is
managed with the aim getting the best outcomes for the
projects and the Territory.
Investment Territory coordinates government led special
economic projects including infrastructure and bringing
projects to market where there is a need or opportunity.
Investment Territory also administers the Local
Jobs Funds (LJF) to accelerate job creating projects.
Investment Territory also supports the recently
established Territory Investment and Major Project
commissioners, who are key links between industry and
government.
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Key achievements in 2020-21
• Completed an expression of interest process
for Darwin Data Centre Precinct and signed
a project facilitation agreement with the
preferred proponent.
• Implemented a process for kick off meetings
to provide early guidance on required
approvals to major and significant project
proponents in response to TERC First Report
recommendations.
• Awarded a $77 million contract to Energy
Developments Pty Ltd to build, own and
operate a new hybrid power station in Jabiru
with a renewable energy fraction of at least
50%, securing affordable and sustainable longterm electricity supply for Jabiru residents.
• MPS project seadragon commenced
consultation at Legune Station on it's world
class prawn production facility.
• Worked with shovel ready projects on
investment delivery taskforce to unlock over
$300 million of finance.

and commenced the procurement process for
the design and construction of the Darwin Ship
Lift, with five quality respondents progressing
through to Stage 2 of the procurement process.
• Signed a project development agreement with
Sun Cable to deliver the Australia ASEAN
Power Link, a project with a potential value of
$26 billion.
• Established the roles of Territory Investment
Commissioner and Major Projects
Commissioner.
• In collaboration with the Department of
Environment, Parks and Water Security and
Central Land Council, target co-investment
and provide development opportunities for
Traditional Owners through the Watarrka
Multiday Walk through the release of an
expression of interest process.
• Supported the creation of 103 new direct
jobs through Local Jobs Fund transactions and
issued two term sheets to support crowding
in of private finance which when complete will
create 714 direct jobs.

• Executed agreements to secure the site for the
Darwin Ship Lift and also executed agreements
securing an operator for the Darwin Ship Lift,
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Priorities for 2021-22
• Identify and secure a pipeline of new private sector
investment leads and proposals for the Territory
• Establish a Territory Investment Advisory Group to
accelerate investment and ensure industry expertise
is harnessed
• Significantly advance and accelerate projects with
Major Project Status.
• Assess private sector interest in developing a luxury
hotel at the Darwin Waterfront.
• Advance major and significant projects including:
– critical minerals, and precious metals projects
– agribusiness
– energy projects
– space projects throughout the Territory
– digital projects that enhancing our connectivity
globally, and
– Aboriginal-led minerals, tourism and
agribusiness projects.
• Progress Watarrka Multiday Walk and Red Centre
Adventure ride to a final investment decisions.
• Finalise the procurement process for the design and
construction of the Darwin Ship Lift, and finalise the
access and pricing legislation for the Darwin Ship Lift.
• Continue to work with the Mirarr Traditional Owners
to attract investment for new tourist accommodation
and other private sector investment in Jabiru, in line
with the Jabiru Masterplan.
• Finalise negotiations with NAIF for the establishment
of an on-lending partnership that introduces
additional funding to the LJF environment.
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National Security and Defence
National Security and Defence team within the CM&C aims to build the capacity of the Northern Territory to support
Australia’s, and our allies and partners, defence and national security objectives. Its primary role is to develop
strategic partnerships, policy settings and advocate for a greater role for the Territory and Territory industry within
defence and national security.
The unit partners with national and international think tanks and defence specialists to communicate and highlight
the Territory’s strategic role in national security and regional stability.

Key achievements in 2020-21
• Revised the structure and membership of
the Northern Territory National Security
Advisory Group (NSAG) to align with emerging
opportunities in the defence and national
security space. A new Defence and National
Security Advocate, Dr Alan Dupont AO,
was appointed by the Chief Minister along
with a Defence Envoy, Lieutenant General
(retired) Mark Evans AO. The NSAG also has
international advisers from the US Lieutenant
General USMC (retired) John Wissler, and
Lieutenant General (retired) Japanese Air Self
Defence Force, Shigeki Muto. The new NSAG
structure and management provides a more
agile arrangement for the NTG.
• A refreshed strategic guidance was developed
by the NSAG to better inform priorities and
align our efforts with key Commonwealth
Government planning documents, including
the 2020 Defence Strategic Update and 2020
Defence Force Posture Review.
• Established with the Australian Strategic
Policy Institute (ASPI), the Northern Australia
Strategic Policy Centre to provide a sustained
defence, national security and nation-building
research focus on Australia’s north.

• The unit worked with the Commonwealth
Government’s Naval Shipbuilding College
(NSC) to finalise the Cooperation Agreement
between the Northern Territory and the NSC.
The agreements with states and territories
supported a nation-wide effort to developing
the future workforce by providing the
education and training required to deliver a
sovereign shipbuilding capability. Based on
new workforce pipelines, clear career pathways
for jobseekers into the naval shipbuilding
sector will be established. The development
of the Territory’s maritime service and support
industry workforce will be critical to Navy’s
Regional Maintenance Centre – North based in
Darwin.
• Significant work has been undertaken with
Defence and national security stakeholders
in Australia and the US for future digital and
data projects that will enable new capabilities
in the Northern Territory and contribute to the
Australian national security architecture.
• Planning has commenced to establish an
Industry 4.0 Defence Industry and Aerospace
digital test lab partnership program with CDU
and Royal Melbourne Institute of Technology.
This will be the only such facility in Australia
and will help encourage defence industries to
expand into the Northern Territory.
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Priorities for 2021-22
• A refreshed NT Defence and National Security
website and communications and engagement plan.
• Deliver a refreshed NT Defence and National Security
Strategy to align with Strategic Sectors.
• Continue to work with the Australian Department
of Defence to understand its requirements in the
Territory and identify how to best shape and support
these, including future workforce requirements.
• Deliver the annual North Australia Defence Summit
in October 2021.
• Continue to form closer partnerships with industry
and SMEs to provide maximum local content into
Defence and national security programs and projects.
• Continue to attract investment into the Northern
Territory and encourage Defence businesses to
establish a presence in the Northern Territory.
• Explore opportunities for a drone testing and
training facility in the Northern Territory.
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Gas Taskforce
The Gas Taskforce coordinates the implementation of the NT Gas Strategy for the Territory to be a world-class gas
production, manufacturing and services hub by 2030. This includes expanding Liquefied Natural Gas (LNG) imports,
growing the Northern Territory's service and supply industry, establishing gas based processing and manufacturing,
growing local research, innovation and training capacity, and contributing to Australia's energy security.

Key achievements in 2020-21

Priorities for 2021-22

• Studies and scenario modelling to understand
infrastructure requirements and development
stages for the Beetaloo Sub-Basin.

• Accelerate commercial activation of Middle
Arm as a globally competitive, sustainable
industrial precinct for low emission
petrochemicals, renewable hydrogen, carbon
capture and storage, critical minerals and
advanced manufacturing.

• Collaborated with the Commonwealth
Government under a Memorandum of
Understanding to develop gas industries,
including the development of the Beetaloo
Strategic Basin Plan.
• Fast tracked planning for a carbon capture and
storage hub at the Middle Arm Sustainable
Development Precinct through completion
of the Global Carbon Capture and Storage
Institute study and collaboration with industry,
including establishing a Decarbonisation
Working Group.
• Launched the NT Hydrogen Cluster under the
National Energy Resources Australia’s Regional
Hydrogen Technology Clusters Seed Funding
Program, including an industry-led Steering
Committee to develop commercial hydrogen
industry by 2030, consistent with the NT
Hydrogen Strategy.

• Work with the Infrastructure, Major Projects
and Territory Investment commissioners to
commercialise the Middle Arm Sustainable
Development Precinct, potentially leading to
a call for expressions of interest.
• Coordinate a whole of government stakeholder
engagement framework to support the NT
Gas Strategy.
• Plan for development of the onshore shale gas
industry, including the Beetaloo Sub-Basin.
• Continue to collaborate with the
Commonwealth Government, including
through negotiations on an Energy and
Emissions Bilateral agreement.

• Established an Energy Working Group under
the Charles Darwin University and NTG
Partnership Agreement to develop and retain a
highly skilled local workface to support energy
industry growth in the Territory.
• Entered into a five year partnership with the
Advanced Manufacturing Growth Centre to
deliver critical research, enable pilot projects
and commercialise advance manufacturing
opportunities in critical minerals processing,
agribusiness and carbon based industries.
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Output group
Government support
Outcome:
Efficient and effective support of Executive Government.

Output:
Support to Ministers and Leader of the Opposition.
Provide operational advice and administrative support to the Chief Minister, ministers and Leader of
the Opposition.

Key performance indicators
Client satisfaction

2020-21
KPI

2020-21
actual

>90%

100%

Output:
Support to the Administrator.
Provide operational advice and administrative support to the Office of the Administrator of the Northern Territory.

Key performance indicators
Client satisfaction

2020-21
KPI

2020-21
actual

>90%

100%
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Government House
Government House supports the delivery of the Statutory, Ceremonial and Civic duties of the Office of the
Administrator of the Northern Territory of Australia (a Commonwealth Statutory Office) and provides efficient and
effective stewardship of the historic Government House Estate, a five acre heritage listed estate spread across two
sites comprising offices, residential, and event spaces.

Key achievements in 2020-21
• Delivered 560 hosted and attended
engagements by the Administrator in support
and promotion of the Northern Territory.
This included 11 intra-state visit programs
to remote and regional communities, and
one interstate visit program, 185 Courtesy
Calls, digital and face to face meetings with
community leaders. A total of 80 speeches
and messages were delivered.
• Delivered three Central Australian residencies
for the Administrator to engage with, promote
and support centralians, including visits to
eight pastoral properties, and engagements
with 36 schools, government and nongovernment organisations culminating in
community receptions in Tennant Creek
in 2020, and the 2021 Queen’s Birthday
Reception in Alice Springs.
• Government House supported the statutory
duties of the Administrator through hosting
16 meetings of the Executive Council, five
swearing-in ceremonies including the swearingin of the 14th Government of the Northern
Territory, Opening of the 14th Legislative
Assembly of the Northern Territory and
receiving the Address in Reply.
• Government House celebrated 150 years from
August 2020 to May 2021, hosting several
smaller public events throughout the year to mark
the historic milestone culminating in a community
reception on 25 May 2021 which was attended
by 150 guests from across the Northern Territory.

51 |

Department of the Chief Minister and Cabinet 2020-21 Annual Report

• Nine investiture ceremonies were held for 54
recipients at Government House, and three
investiture ceremonies for seven recipients
in Alice Springs for appointments within the
Australian Honours and Awards system.
• A total of 5000 guests visited Government
House, which included visits by school groups,
community groups and organisations and
members of the public.
• Delivered a virtual reality tour and
minecraft experience to increase access to
Government House and maintained visibility
and accessibility of the Administrator
during COVID-19 restrictions through the
Administrator of the Northern Territory
facebook page, which delivered 395 posts,
reaching an average of 50 000 community
members per month.
• Delivered the ‘30 Year Master Plan for the
Government House Gardens’ to guide, enhance
and improve visitor experiences and preserve
two of the most historic gardens in the
Northern Territory.

Priorities for 2021-22
• Support the Administrator to promote, engage with,
recognise and celebrate Territorians, and nurture what
it means to be a Territorian.
• Maintain engagement with the wider Northern
Territory community through attending and hosting
engagements and travel.
• Ensure efficient and effective stewardship of
Government House Estate in accordance with the
Northern Territory Heritage Act 2011 and approved
capital works and maintenance programs.
• Continue to identify technological advancements,
environmentally friendly and economically efficient
measures for all activities at Government House,
including maintenance requirements.
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Government services
Outcome:
Provide strategic coordination and facilitation, policy advice, and implementation and planning for
counter-disaster management and high level security for the Territory.
Provide a streamlined whole of government approach to ensure communication and marketing
priorities are effectively and professionally managed across agencies.
Provide operational advice, support and hospitality services including protocol matters to the Chief
Minister, Ministers, Leader of the Opposition and the Administrator of the Northern Territory.
Provide secretariat services to the department, Cabinet and Executive Council. Provide legislative
drafting services and advice about bills for Acts, committee stage amendments, subordinate
legislation and miscellaneous statutory instruments.

2020-21
KPI

2020-21
actual

Client satisfaction

>90%

92%

Publication without error on the Northern
Territory Legislation website within five business
days of notification/commencement1

>95%

98%

Key performance indicators

1.

Includes Acts assented to, subordinate legislation made and reprints of Acts and
subordinate legislation.
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Strategic Communications and Engagement
The Strategic Communications and Engagement (SCE) team provides strategic communication and
stakeholder engagement and marketing services to support the delivery of priorities for CM&C,
OCPE and DTF.
The unit provides whole of government advice and guidance and plays a critical leadership role across
government, in relation to communication and engagement strategy, policy and standards. It also leads the
Public Information Group for emergency management during disasters impacting the Northern Territory.
SCE ensures government communication campaigns are well planned, timely, efficient and effective. It
facilitates the functions of the Communications Review Committee, manages the Have Your Say online
community engagement tool and works to foster collaboration across agencies. SCE also establishes
and manages procurement arrangements for cost-effective whole of government advertising and media
monitoring services and ensures the consistent application of the NTG brand. SCE also ensures adherence
to the Public Information Act 2010 (Cth).
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Key achievements in 2020-21
• Led the Public Information Group and
coordinated and continued to deliver whole
of government emergency communications
during the COVID-19 pandemic; including
the management and maintenance of the
coronavirus.nt.gov.au website and the
SecureNT social media channel to ensure
timely and accurate information was readily
available to the public. From 1 July 2020 to
30 June 2021 the coronavirus.nt.gov.au
website saw:
– 2.8 million users
– 5.7 million sessions
– 10.8 million page views.
• Delivered the Roadmap to the New Normal
campaign that utilised local and interstate
channels to position the Territory for growth
post-COVID-19, by building Territorian
confidence in the economy and positioning the
NT as the best jurisdiction for recovery nationally.
The campaign results exceeded industry
benchmarks with key achievements including:
– 3.2 million campaign views achieved
nationally
– 15 700 clicks on advertisements
– 2 minutes 46 seconds average
engagement time
– 0.93 per cent click through rate against a
benchmark of 0.65 per cent.
• Delivered the Centre for National Resilience
(CNR) interstate recruitment campaign,
resulting in:
– 13 491 613 impressions (ad views)
– 29 142 click-throughs
– 20 068 landing page views
– Over 1000 applications received.
• SCE is leading the creation of a new customer
centric focus across the NTPS. The program of
works is building awareness and providing a
roadmap to embed Human Centred Design into
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NTG agencies systems and processes.
This work includes:
– A new Customer Experience (CX) framework
to shape customer interactions with the NTG.
– An internal ‘I work for the Territory’ campaign
to champion culture change, and embed
customer centric focus through the NTPS.
• Successfully supported CM&C, DTF and OCPE
with communications and engagement.
• Provided strategic advice to support the
priorities of CM&C including:
– Land and Sea Action Plan
– Closing the Gap Implementation Plan
– Heat Mitigation Strategy, and
– Energy and Gas Master Narrative.

Priorities for 2021-22
• Continue to support the public information
requirements of the COVID-19 pandemic response.
• Coordinate whole of government emergency
communications and messaging for weather and
other emergency events through the Public
Information Group.
• Ensure whole of government communication and
brand activities are consistent and of the highest
standard and value for money.
• Support CM&C and other NTG agencies with
strategic communication, marketing and engagement
advice and planning, including co-ordinating and
managing the Communications Review Committee.
• Maximise effectiveness of consultation and
engagement opportunities and provide high quality,
fit for purpose communications and marketing
advice and support.
• Continue to assist CM&C, DTF and OCPE to
develop, understand and implement new digital
technologies to better reach target audiences.
• Continue to co-ordinate the delivery of a suite of
activities to market the Territory as a place to work,
live, and invest.

Protocol NT
Protocol NT provides expert protocol advice and
support to the Chief Minister and NTG with the aim of
promoting positive relationships and outcomes for the
benefit of the Territory.

Key achievements in 2020-21
• Facilitated 41 official receptions hosted by
NTG Ministers.

• the workgroup provides advice and support for a
range of services including:
• managing traditional protocol functions relating to
ceremony, table of precedence, forms of address,
the NT flag, Coat of Arms, and official emblems
of the Territory

• Supported visits by 28 Ambassadors, High
Commissioners and Consuls-General, and
other dignitaries and visiting VIPs from various
countries including Italy, United States of
America, Japan, Korea, Britain, India and
Timor Leste.

• providing VIP chauffeur services to the Chief Minister,
Ministers, Leader of the Opposition, Speaker of the
Legislative Assembly and Supreme Court Judges

• Prepared two state funerals and provided
support and assistance to three other funerals
for notable Territorians.

• coordinating official receptions hosted by the Chief
Minister and Ministers

• Initiated a comprehensive COVID-19 Safety
Plan for activities undertaken including official
receptions, ceremonial activities, VIP chauffeur
services and for dignitary visits.

• preparing ceremonial and special events including
State Funerals and Memorials, and
• the planning and delivery of royal, head of state, head
of mission and other significant visits to the NT and
to facilitate engagement with the Chief Minister, NT
Ministers, the NTG and other NT stakeholders.
These services showcase the Territory as a place to
live, work and invest. They contribute to the growth
of national and international relationships and help
foster a strong community spirit through recognising
achievement and celebrating important events.

Priorities for 2021-22
• Continue to enhance government, business
and community ties through effective public
communication of protocol standards and
principles.
• Ongoing facilitation of the interaction between
NTG officials and a broad range of local,
national and international stakeholders.
• Ensure support is provided where needed to
uphold protocol standards, procedures and
policies.
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Cabinet Office and Secretariat Services
Cabinet Office
The Cabinet Office provides operational and
secretariat services to the Northern Territory Cabinet,
Cabinet Sub-Committees and Executive Council.
This includes the programming of Cabinet business,
scheduling meetings and conducting quality assurance
of Executive Council and Cabinet documentation.
Through the Cabinet Office, CM&C administers the
Assembly Members and Statutory Officers (Remuneration
and Other Entitlements) Act 2006 (AMSORE Act). This
includes the provision of a secretariat service to the
Northern Territory Remuneration Tribunal, meeting
the publishing requirements of the Act, and processing
statutory officer and board member appointments
made by the Administrator.

Secretariat Services
The Secretariat manages the flow of information
between CM&C and ministerial offices and provides
high level support to the Office of the Chief
Executive. The team has a role in cross-agency
coordination of information, and assists in meeting
CM&C’s whole of government reporting obligations,
including reporting on the progress of implementing
government’s election commitments.

Key achievements in 2020-21
• Provided support for 152 Cabinet and SubCommittee meetings and 16 Executive Council
meetings.
• Publicly released the 30-year old Cabinet and
Executive Council records from 1990 on the
NT Archives website.
• Provided secretariat services to the Northern
Territory Remuneration Tribunal for two Annual
Inquiries and two special Inquiries, conducted
pursuant to the AMSORE Act.
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• Produced reports on board expenditure,
membership and gender balance, and
maintained the NTG Boards and Committees
database.
• Presented at the Legislative Assembly ‘Know
Your Assembly’ seminars conducted across the
Northern Territory.
• Hosted and participated in the delivery of a
number of courses and information sessions
for government officials on Cabinet, legislation,
board administration and other executive
government processes.
• Developed a new Cabinet Office ICT system
that strengthens and streamlines the
management of cabinet documents.

Priorities for 2021-22
• Manage the contracts requiring independent
auditors to audit both the financial statements
of the NT Attorney-General’s Office (NTAGO)
pursuant to section 27 of the Audit Act 1995
and to undertake a triennial strategic review
of the NTAGO pursuant to section 26 of the
Audit Act 1995.
• Provide a secretariat service to the Northern
Territory Remuneration Tribunal for the
annual Inquiries into entitlements of Members
of the Legislative Assembly and Local Court
Judges, along with any special Inquiries to be
conducted pursuant to the AMSORE Act.
• Finalise the opening of the 30-year Cabinet
and Executive Council records from 1991.

Security and Emergency Recovery Team
The Security and Emergency Recovery Team (SERT) represents the Northern Territory (NT) on peak advisory bodies
for National Security and Emergency Management, providing whole of government strategic coordination of policy
development and advice to government.
SERT supports the Territory Recovery Coordinator in planning, preparedness and coordination of recovery efforts, to
reduce the impact of security and natural disaster emergency events on NT communities.

Key achievements in 2020-21
• First Minister representation on the
Australia-New Zealand Counter Terrorism
Committee, Australia-New Zealand Emergency
Management Committee, Community
Outcomes and Recovery Sub-Committee,
National Bushfire Recovery Agency, National
Identity Security Coordination Group, National
Oil Supplies Emergency Committee, and Critical
Infrastructure Advisory Committee.
• Developed a strategic plan for the Territory
Emergency Management Council (TEMC) to
guide the emergency management strategy of
the NT until 2023.
• Delivered Exercise LEIT 2021, a First Ministerlevel counter-terrorism exercise focusing on the
management of a liquid fuel supply disruption
in the NT.
• Supported emergency recovery activities
during the August 2020 bushfires and the
Daly River and Jilkminggan flooding events in
early 2021.

• Established a Counter Violence Extremism
(CVE) Community of Practice with
Commonwealth and NTG agencies, resulting
in a greater understanding of CVE activities,
improved information sharing between
agencies and a collegiate approach to
dealing with individuals radicalising to
violent extremism.
• Delivered Violent Extremism Risk Assessment
training in Darwin and conducted workshops
and information sessions in remote areas to
build CVE knowledge and awareness across
the NT.
• Implemented the first funding round of the
Northern Territory Risk Reduction Program
in accordance with the National Partnership
Agreement on Disaster Risk Reduction,
delivering a combined $10.44 million of
Commonwealth Government and NTG
funding over five years.
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Priorities for 2021-22
• In partnership with the Department of the AttorneyGeneral and Justice and Northern Territory Police,
Fire and Emergency Services, develop a contemporary
NT Counter Terrorism Strategic Plan that aligns with
the National Counter Terrorism Strategy 2021-2025.
• Deliver a Northern Territory Countering Foreign
Interference (CFI) Framework to assist NTG agencies’
better understand CFI risk and reporting processes.
• Deliver Violent Extremism Risk Assessment training
and information sessions in rural and remote areas to
build CVE knowledge and awareness across the NT.
• Enhance emergency recovery capability in the NT
through the development of doctrine, governance
and training elements to support arrangements
at the local level, as well as a framework for interjurisdictional deployments to disaster affected states
and territories.
• Deliver the Northern Territory Risk Reduction
Program by funding $1.04 million for projects aimed
at reducing the risks associated with natural disasters
in the Northern Territory.
• Deliver the Emergency Shelters Prioritisation Project
to guide the build program of cyclone shelters in
remote coastal communities for the next ten years.
• Enhance Territory and national recovery
capability through the implementation of agreed
recommendations of the Royal Commission into
National Natural Disaster Arrangements and
engagement with the National Recovery and
Resilience Agency and Community Outcomes and
Recovery Sub-committee.
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Office of the Parliamentary Counsel
The Office of the Parliamentary Counsel (OPC) provides legislation drafting services to the NTG and to individual
members of the Legislative Assembly, including opposition and independent members.
The OPC also provides access to law by publishing electronic copies of Bills, Acts, subordinate legislation
and consolidated legislation on the Northern Territory Legislation website and publish the Northern Territory
Government Gazette.

Key achievements in 2020-21

Priorities for 2021-22

• Drafted 1722 pages of legislation within
given timeframes. This included:

• Meet increasing demands for legislation
drafting services, particularly urgent drafting
services.

– 23 Government Bills introduced
– 7 government Assembly Amendments
drafted
– 23 items of subordinate legislation
settled, and
– 399 statutory instruments settled.
• Introduction of several significant and
noteworthy pieces of legislation, including
the Health Service Bill 2021, Youth Justice
Legislation Amendment Bill 2021 and
Statute Law Amendment (Territory Economic
Reconstruction) Bill 2021.
• Drafted legislation and statutory instruments,
including Chief Health Officer directions, to
assist with the Government's response to the
COVID 19 pandemic.
• Provided public access to law, by making
legislation available to the public within
required publishing timeframes. This included
181 items (new and amended legislation titles)
published on the Legislation website.
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• Improve the capacity of the OPC to provide
high quality legislation drafting and publishing
services by:
– improving office processes and systems,
particularly in relation to workflow, drafting
and publishing systems
– ensuring legislative quality and access is
best practice
– engaging with agencies at all levels to help
them plan their strategic legislative priorities
for 2022-2024, and
– continuing to improve the capacity of
drafters and other staff.
• Actively participate in the Australasian
Parliamentary Counsel's Committee to ensure
the Territory's interests are represented in
relation to national legislative schemes.

Output group
Corporate and Governance
Outcome:
Improved organisational performance through strategic leadership
and good governance.

Output:
Corporate and Governance
Provide a range of corporate and governance services including financial services, governance and risk
services to support business operations and the achievement of government objectives.
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Governance, Information and Reporting
The Governance, Information and Reporting (GIR) unit provides shared corporate services to CM&C, the Office of
the Commissioner for Public Employment, the Department of Treasury and Finance, the Office of the Chief Minister
and the Leader of the Opposition.
Services provided include corporate governance framework development and implementation, activities to
provide for compliance with the Information Act (NT) 2002 including freedom of information application processing,
development and implementation of the anti fraud and corruption framework, and corporate planning and
performance reporting.

Key achievements in 2020-21
• Processed 51 applications and 14 requests
for a review of a decision made under the
Information Act 2002 under shared service
arrangements.

• Co-ordinated monthly reporting to the ELT on
the agency’s strategic priorities and managed
the SharePoint database to ensure all historical
and current reporting information was captured
and available to the agency for annual reporting
and other purposes.

• Developed and delivered:
– 18 fraud and corruption training and
awareness sessions
– Eight procurement and contracting
training sessions
– Nine risk management framework
workshops, and
– Nine consolidated workshops across the
Office of the Chief Minister.
• Coordinated the agency’s 2019-20 annual
report to publishing stage.
• Reviewed and updated 12 corporate
governance policies and communicated them
through various channels to all staff.
• Coordinated a review of the effectiveness of
the shared services agencies’ Audit and Risk
Management Committee, and updated its
charter using that feedback.
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Priorities for 2021-22
• Continue to update and finalise CM&C’s
financial, human resources, information and
procurement delegations to take account of
changes arising from machinery of government
and other structural changes.
• Facilitate the development of business plans for
2021-22.
• Develop and deliver the internal audit plan for
the shared services agencies.
• Drive the development of online operational
risk registers across the agency, facilitate an
ELT approved strategic risk register, and a CEO
approved risk appetite statement.
• Finalise ownership of the fraud risk registers
across the shared services agencies.

Finance, Budget and Business Services
The Shared Services Finance, Budget and Business Services unit provides shared corporate services to CM&C, the
Office of the Commissioner for Public Employment, the Department of Treasury and Finance, the Office of the Chief
Minister and the Office of the Leader of the Opposition.
Services provided include business services, finance and budgeting support, corporate credit card and other
compliance reporting for the department to facilitate responsible financial management and high level management
practices and quality and cost effective service in the delivery of building access, maintenance and courier services.

Key achievements in 2020-21
• Following machinery of government changes
of 8 September 2020, undertook significant
organisation re-structure for facilities, reporting
and budget purposes with the transfer in of all
functions of the Office of the Commissioner for
Public Employment, transfer in of Investment
Territory from the former Department of Trade,
Business and Innovation and the transfer
in of Local Government and Community
Development and Aboriginal Interpreter
Services from the former Department of
Local Government, Housing and Community
Development.
• During COVID-19, liaised with all areas of the
department to ensure COVID-19 expenditure
was captured appropriately and facilitated
necessary internal budget requirements.
• Business Services facilitated acrossgovernment efficiencies relating to government
vehicle expenditure and commenced the
implementation of a building security upgrade
for the department.

• Business Services jointly facilitated
Government House and the Administrator’s
Office significant capital work program
recognising the highest and oldest public office
in the Northern Territory.

Priorities for 2021-22
• Facilitate best practice finance and budget
management across the agency including the
Office of the Chief Minister and the Office of
the Leader of the Opposition.
• Continue to streamline financial and business
service support across the agencies.
• Continue to work with business units to enable
responsible financial and budget management
practices.
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Output group
Office of the
Commissioner for
Public Employment
The Office of the Commissioner for Public Employment
(OCPE) is responsible for public sector workforce
management and development, and industrial relations.
The office supports the Commissioner’s statutory
employer role as defined in the Public Sector Employment
Management Act 1993 (PSEMA). The Commissioner
also provides strategic and policy advice to support the
Minister for Public Employment in undertaking duties
under the Act.
Following machinery of government changes in
September 2020, OCPE merged with the Department
of Chief Minister and Cabinet for budgeting purposes,
however it remains an independent office with four
standalone output groups: Employee Relations, Strategic
Workforce Planning and Development, Aboriginal
Employment and Career Development and Public Sector
Appeals and Grievance Reviews.
Further information on OCPE can be found in the
2020-21 OCPE Annual Report ocpe.nt.gov.au/about.
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Output group

credit: Alain Codino

Darwin Waterfront Corporation
The Darwin Waterfront Corporation (DWC) is
responsible for developing, managing and servicing
the Darwin Waterfront Precinct for the benefit of the
community. DWC is a commercial organisation that
operates under an independent governance structure
and following the 2020 General Election the DWC now
sits as a commercial entity of CM&C. It receives funding
via a grant from the department to deliver government
priorities, along with rates and other income for its
responsibilities with the Department of Infrastructure,
Planning and Logistics. DWC also administers the Public
Private Partnership for the Darwin Convention Centre
on behalf of the Northern Territory.
In 2020-21, the Darwin Waterfront Precinct was the
destination for over one million visitors to come and
enjoy. It was the venue for 235 public events with its
beautiful backdrop of water, parklands and multiple
offerings and saw 115 318 people relaxing at the
Wave Lagoon.

• Accessibility: The corporation has progressed with
improving accessibility to its facilities in response to a
review by Shane Hryhorec from Accessible Beaches,
and now has the ability to facilitate wheelchair access
into the Recreation Lagoon with the purchase of 20m
of Mobi-mat.
• Street Art: Two venues at the Waterfront; Trampoline
Gelato and Adina Vibe Hotel were included in
Activate Darwin’s 2020 Darwin Street Art Festival.
• Ferris Wheel: Stokes Hill Wharf installed a 35-meterhigh Skyline Ferris Wheel for the dry- season,
providing 360-degree views of Darwin from 10am9pm daily. The wheel commenced on June 11 with
more than 5500 riders in its first week of operations.

DWC report on their annual activities via their own
annual report but some mentionable highlights include:
• NYE: The Darwin Waterfront hosted the largest
outdoor NYE event celebrated in Australia. The
sold-out 10,000 crowd event provided key trade
opportunities for over 25 local businesses with

Waterfront restaurants operating at capacity with
their strongest NYE trade. The event was entered into
the Meeting & Events Australia 2021 Awards with
Agentur and has been announced as a State Finalist.

• Takeaway Liquor with Food: DWC was able to
continue with its popular catering authorisation at the
Beach Club, following on from COVID19 lockdowns,
to support retailers.
Further information on DWC can be found in the 202021 DWC Annual Report corporate.waterfront.nt.gov.au/.
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SEC TION 3

Our People
Overview
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Overview
CM&C recognises that our people are what makes CM&C a great place to work. CM&Cs ability to provide high
quality advice to the NTG to inform decision making, and develop the Territory by partnering, coordinating and
leading government policy, programs and services depends on the commitment, capability and responsiveness of
our people.
To support delivery of government’s priorities, we are focussed on building and maintaining a workforce with strong
leadership capabilities and the ability to think innovatively and engage effectively across teams, agencies, industries
and communities.
We are working to embed a culture of continuous improvement that reflects our core values:
• Commitment to Service

• Impartiality

• Respect

• Innovation

• Accountability

• Excellence

• Diversity

• Ethical Practice

Our Workforce
CM&C saw an increase of FTE, as a result of the transition of the following functions into the department, following
machinery of government changes:
• Investment Territory, including Commercial Facilitation and Major Projects (from the former Department of Trade,
Business and Innovation (DTBI))
• National Security and Defence (from the former DTBI)
• Team Rebound, including the Territory Economic Reconstruction Commission (from the former DTBI)
• Aboriginal Interpreter Services and Local Government and Community Development (from the former Department
of Housing, Local Government and Community Services)
• the Office of the Commissioner for Public Employment.
The table below outlines FTE Actual classifications from June 2020 to June 2021.

Designation

June 2020

June 2021

Executive Contract Officer 6

1.00

2.00

Executive Contract Officer 5

3.00

3.00

Executive Contract Officer 4

0.00

2.00

Executive Contract Officer 3

3.00

6.80

Executive Contract Officer 2

8.80

17.40
Continued on next page
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Designation

June 2020

June 2021

18.00

26.17

Executive Officer 3

1.00

1.00

Senior Professional Officer 2

2.62

2.27

Senior Professional Officer 1

0.00

2.00

Senior Administrative Officer 2

13.00

30.87

Senior Administrative Officer 1

33.10

60.79

Professional Officer 3

0.00

0.54

Professional Officer 2

0.80

1.40

Professional Officer 1

0.00

1.00

Administrative Officer 7

25.00

40.60

Administrative Officer 6

31.99

69.35

Administrative Officer 5

18.18

26.97

Administrative Officer 4

20.38

28.65

Administrative Officer 3

4.00

18.60

Administrative Officer 2

2.00

6.20

Administrative Officer 1

1.00

1.00

Technical 3

2.42

1.95

Technical 2

1.00

2.70

Physical 6

1.00

1.00

Physical 3

5.53

4.51

Early Careers Development program

6.00

11.60

VIP Drivers

4.00

4.00

Client Driver

1.00

1.00

207.82

375.37

87.39

86.27

295.21

461.64

Executive Contract Officer 1

Subtotal
Ministerial employees
Total
Note: This excludes casual Aboriginal Interpreters and Darwin Waterfront Corporation
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Gender breakdown
Below tables exclude casual Aboriginal Interpreters, Darwin Waterfront Corporation & Ministerial employees.

FTE

Female

Male

Total

243.90

131.47

375.37

Equity and Diversity
Female to Male (both executive and non-executive positions based on FTE and percentage of total.)
Female

Male

FTE

%

FTE

%

Executive

30.07

51.52

28.30

48.48

Senior Administrative

51.79

56.50

39.87

43.50

144.00

75.25

47.37

24.75

Professional

5.21

72.26

2.00

27.74

Technical

1.70

36.56

2.95

63.44

Physical

3.53

64.07

1.98

35.93

Early Careers

7.60

65.52

4.00

34.48

VIP Driver

0.00

0.00

4.00

100.00

Client Driver

0.00

0.00

1.00

100.00

243.90

64.98

131.47

35.02

Administrative

Total

Headcount by Region
The organisations’ staff are primarily based in Darwin with some staff located in regions displayed in the table below:
Location Distribution

Headcount

%

334

84.77

Central Australia

22

5.58

Big Rivers

15

3.81

8

2.03

10

2.54

5

1.27

394

100.00

Darwin

East Arnhem
Barkly
Top End
Total
Note: Based on paid headcount.
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Equal Employment
Opportunity (EEO)

• Bachelor of Laws
• Horticulture
• Juris Doctor
• Master of International and Community Development.

CM&C is committed to equality of opportunity in
employment for all employees and strives to achieve
a gender-balanced and diverse workforce.

Aboriginal Staff
87 CM&C staff self-identified as Aboriginal employees.
This accounts for 21.5% of the agency as at 30 June 2021.

Culturally Diverse Backgrounds
42 CM&C staff self-identified as being from a Culturally
Diverse Background. This accounts for 10.4% of the
agency as at 30 June 2021.

Strategic Capability Development
CM&C recognises that our staff learn through a
combination of formal training, mentoring and handson
work experience. We use a range of means such as
capability reviews, staff surveys, individual performance
plans and succession plans to understand our
performance gaps and capability requirements.
The agency allocates its learning and development
budget strategically to address learning needs, develop
capabilities in core areas and assist with retaining,
nurturing and growing our own talented workforce.
In 2020-21, CM&C invested $248 809 in conferences,
structured learning opportunities, facilitators’ fees, and
training and development, including study assistance
and leadership programs for its employees.

2018–19

2019–20

2020-21

$29 882

$14 514

$26 484

Employment programs
CM&C uses a range of employment programs to meet
immediate recruitment needs and build a talent pipeline
for the future. CM&C's Early Careers Strategy articulates
the aims for each of the programs and the specific
actions intended to achieve those aims. Recruitment
to these programs is undertaken in line with CM&C’s
approved Special Measures Plan.

Graduate development program
The graduate development program is aimed at
developing the skills, experience, knowledge and abilities
of graduates wanting to progress careers in the NTPS.
CM&C regularly identifies disciplines needed in its
future workforce and offers employment to graduates as
part of its strategic succession management. Graduates
are offered 12 month contracts and are rotated through
various business units throughout CM&C. In 2020-21,
nine graduates commenced with CM&C and successfully
completed the program.

Vacation employment program

Professional and technical development

CM&C had one employee undertake the vacation
employment program 2020-21.

Support is provided for employees to gain relevant
professional and technical skills through higher
education.

Aboriginal traineeship program

The support provided includes financial assistance for
study fees and paid study leave to attend tutorials,
lectures and exams.
In 2020-21, CM&C invested $26 484 in financial study
assistance for its employees, who undertook study in the
areas of:
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The Aboriginal traineeship program combines
employment with structured learning and awards a
nationally recognised certificate to the trainee at the end
of the program.
In 2020-21, CM&C had one new trainee commence
employment.
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Comparison of participants by employment program
Program

2017-18

2018-19

2019-20

2020-21

Graduate development

8

5

5

9

Aboriginal Traineeship

3

2

1

1

Apprenticeship

1

0

0

0

Vacation employment

7

2

4

1

Disability employment

0

1

0

0

19

10

10

11

2017-18

2018-19

2019-20

2020-21

99

97

116

209

5

4

1

2

91

131

123

153

195

232

240

257

Total

Workplace initiatives accessed by employees
Program
Employee Assistance Program
Ergonomic assessments
Flu vaccinations
Total
Note: flu vaccinations include OCPE
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Employment Instructions
Under the Public Sector Employment and Management Act 1993 (PSEMA), Employment Instructions provide direction
to agencies on human resource matters. CM&C met all obligations as required under the Employment Instructions.

Public Sector Principles
Part 1A, Sections 5A – 5F, of the PSEMA lists the general principles underlying this legislation. These principles need
to be upheld by agencies, CEOs and employees of the Northern Territory Public Sector.
In 2020-21, CM&C complied with all of the prescribed principles.

Actions against Public Sector Principles
Public Sector Principle

Action in 2020-21

Administration
Management Principle
(PSEMA Section 5B)

CM&C provided effective, efficient and appropriate services to the community and
government, ensuring appropriate use of public resources while working cooperatively
and responsively carrying out our functions objectively, impartially and with integrity.

Human Resource
Management Principle
(PSEMA Section 5C)

Workplace diversity and equity is upheld and provides everyone equal opportunity
to make the most of their talents and abilities in the workplace. Our workplace
environment ensures that our employees are treated fairly, reasonably and in a non
discriminatory way

Merit Principle
(PSEMA Section 5D)

CM&C appointments are based on the principles of merit. Employees are capable
and competent to perform their duties; having the knowledge, skills, experience, and
qualifications required to be successful in their role and having consideration of their
potential for future development.

Equality of
Employment
Opportunity Principle
(PSEMA Section 5E)

Implementation of affirmative special measures policy and identifying designated
positions has enabled CM&C to eliminate unlawful discrimination while promoting
diversity among its workforce.

Performance and
Conduct Principle
(PSEMA Section 5F)

CM&C champions Northern Territory Public Sector values, treating the workforce fairly,
equitably, and with proper courtesy and consideration. CM&C officers avoid actual or
apparent conflicts of interest and ensure personal conduct does not adversely affect
their performance or that of other public sector officers while performing their duties
objectively, impartially, professionally and to the best of their ability with integrity.
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Boards and Committees
Executive Leadership Team
The Executive Leadership Team (ELT) is the department’s
most senior decision-making body. The ELT is
responsible for:
• providing strategic direction and deciding on the
organisation’s strategies, objectives and performance
indicators
• monitoring the progress towards achievement of
strategies and objectives
• monitoring the operational and financial position
and performance of the agency
• ensuring the principal organisational risks are identified
and that appropriate control and monitoring systems
are in place to manage the impact of these risks
• ensuring that the organisation’s financial and other
reporting mechanisms are designed to result in
adequate, accurate and timely information being
provided to the ELT reviewing, as required, the
agency’s operating model – structure and workforce,
to improve productivity and achieve efficiencies
• approving the agency’s Strategic Plan, Human
Capital Plan and priority Project Plans - ensuring all

projects have a clear mandate, are aligned with the
department’s priorities, and are designed to deliver
quantifiable benefits for the Government and/or
community
• appropriately prioritising resources and work activity,
in consideration of dependencies, capacity and
capability to deliver, and following advice and input
from delegated Executive Directors
• guiding cross-divisional and whole of sector
engagement and ensuring key stakeholders are
effectively engaged
• mentoring, guiding and supporting graduates
within the department through the CM&C graduate
program, and
• monitoring the department’s program of work and
operations to ensure it is achieving its objectives (as
identified in the Strategic Plan) and providing direction
and support to management to achieve outcomes.
From 1 January 2021, the Executive Leadership Team
moved from a fortnightly meeting schedule and now
meet every three weeks. The ELT met 19 times during
2020-21.

Executive Leadership Team Membership as at 30 June 2021.
Members

Role

Job title

Jodie Ryan
Andrew Cowan
Alister Trier
Andrew Jones
Anthony Shelley
Brendan Blandford
Bridgette Bellenger
Cliff Weeks
Hayley Richards
Janet Hanigan
Jean Doherty
Karen Vohland
Robert Csar

Chair
Member
Member
Member
Member
Member
Member
Member
Member
Member
Member
Member
Member

Chief Executive Officer
Deputy Chief Executive Officer
Chair, Gas Taskforce
Chief Parliamentary Counsel
Executive Director, Strategic Aboriginal Policy
Regional Executive Director, Central Australia
General Manager, Territory Regional Growth
Executive Director, Central Australia Economic Reconstruction
Senior Executive Director, Investment Territory
Executive Director, Social, Economic and Environment Policy
Executive Director, Intergovernmental and Legal Policy
Executive Director, Strategic Communications and Engagement
Chief Financial Officer
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Audit and Risk Management Committee
CM&C has a joint Audit and Risk Management
Committee (ARMC) with the Department of Treasury
and Finance (DTF) and the Office of the Commissioner
for Public Employment (OCPE).

d. monitor the internal audit function, including review
and endorsement of the annual internal audit plan
and review of the follow up logs at each meeting

The ARMC provides independent and objective advice
to the Chief Executive Officers on the effectiveness of
the agencies' risk, control and compliance frameworks,
and their financial reporting management and outcomes.
It comprises five members – two independent of the
agencies (one of which is Chair) and one member from
each of CM&C, DTF and OCPE.

e. monitor the Northern Territory Auditor-General’s
audit program for the agencies including follow up
logs at each meeting
f. review assurance activities related to procurement
governance practices, and
g. within the context of the committee’s purpose,
undertake any other functions determined from time
to time by the Chief Executive Officers.

The ARMC has a formal charter under which it is
responsible for undertaking the following functions on
behalf of the Chief Executive Officers:

The committee met five times during 2020-21.

a. monitor and advise on strategic and operational risk
management frameworks
b. through internal audit and other reporting, review the
adequacy of the internal controls which may include
requesting specific reviews from time to time
c. review the adequacy of, and make recommendations
on, the corporate governance framework in the
context of managing strategic risk
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Information Communication and Technology
Governance Committee
The Information and Communication Technology
(ICT) Governance Committee (IGC) provides strategic
direction for the departments' use of information and
technology. It oversees the ICT work plan, the security
and distribution of the departments' data and ensures
ICT frameworks, strategies and policies are fit for
purpose and promote efficient work practices.
The IGC is responsible for:
• developing a common vision for the agency’s
information and communications technology
• exploring opportunities to achieve efficiencies
and increase productivity through improved ways
of working
• overseeing the agency's data requirements and data
collection priorities

• ensuring ICT projects and policy projects with an ICT
component, have a clear mandate, are aligned to the
departments' priorities and are viable, and
• oversighting the implementation of the ICT forward
work plan (supporting the effective implementation of
ICT projects).
The IGC is also the interdepartmental liaison point for
whole of government ICT initiatives.
The IGC activities during 2020-21 were limited as
a consequence of the response to the impacts of
COVID-19 and significant Machinery of Government
changes.
DTF opted to re-establish its own standalone committee.
The IGC met once in 2020-21.

• ensuring information is managed in accordance with
risk, including risks associated with security, access,
privacy, continuity and cost
• recommending ICT projects (and ICT funding
priorities) to the agency’s executive boards

77 |

Department of the Chief Minister and Cabinet 2020-21 Annual Report

Work Health and Safety Committee
CM&C, OCPE and DTF have a combined Work Health
and Safety (WHS) Committee, which is established under
shared services arrangements for the three agencies.
CM&C, OCPE and DTF are committed to a workplace
that fosters behaviour aimed at the prevention of injury,
illness or death to our employees, contractors and
visiting workers. The committee provides advice to the
CM&C CEO, through the ELT, on work health and safety
issues to facilitate the health and safety of employees
and clients in the workplace.
The committee is chaired by Jean Doherty, Executive
Director, Intergovernmental and Legal Policy, CM&C,
and includes a range of representative members from
across the agencies, inclusive of regional offices. The
committee has governance oversight of WHS obligations
under the Work Health and Safety (National Uniform
Legislation) Act 2011, including:
• advising the CEO on the establishment, maintenance
and monitoring of programs, measures and
procedures in the workplace relating to the health
and safety of employees
• developing and maintaining a WHS management
system incorporating policies and programs in
accordance with relevant legislation
• promoting a culture of responsibility and
accountability for personal health and safety
in the workplace

The committee met four times during 2020-21.
Key achievements include:
• a refreshed Terms of Reference, in line with the
2020-21 machinery of government changes, and
improved member understanding of their roles and
responsibilities
• COVID-19 safety supervisor training is now a core
requirement of the committee and
• COVID-19 is a standing agenda item for all meetings
• development of an annual communications strategy,
including web-based communications and updates
aimed at educating, informing and empowering
CM&C, DTF and OCPE staff on WHS matters
• regular, appropriate and documented risk and incident
notification, reporting and management across
the three shared service agencies, with escalation
of identified WHS notifications to the relevant
management body where required, and
• capability development of the committee with respect
to the legislative and operational context of WHS in
the NTPS, including development of a comprehensive
WHS Manual and other training material, to be rolled
out to all staff over 2021-22.

• ensuring WHS issues are considered in the planning
and implementation of any major workplace changes
or new work processes
• information sharing and coordination relating to the
strategic, cross-government WHS reform context, and
• training of first aid and fire warden office holders.
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Freedom of Information
All public sector organisations, including the
department and its staff, are required to comply
with the Information Act 2002 (the Act).
The Governance, Information and Reporting team,
under a shared services arrangement, provides and
manages the governance of the Act for CM&C, OCPE,
DTF. The team also supports the Office of the Chief
Minister (OCM) to process freedom of information and
other applications made under the Act.
The team ensures the agency remains compliant
with the Act, processes all requests for information,
helps develop policy and conducts investigations into
noncompliance or privacy breaches when required.

Applications under the
Information Act 2002
The department finalised 51 requests for information
under section 18 of the Act for the department in this
financial year, an increase of 212% from 2019-20.
In addition, the department finalised 14 requests for a
review of decision on an application, and responded to
three freedom of information complaints made to the
Information Commissioner.
There were no privacy complaints to the Information
Commissioner and no applications to correct information.

Records Management
Records and archives management standards are established through Part 9 of the Information Act 2002,
and section 131(2) requires agencies to report annually on their compliance with this part.
In line with the Northern Territory Government Records Management Standards for Public Sector Organisations,
CM&C continued to use compliant record management practices.
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External and internal audit
The following internal audit was completed and reported on in 2020-21:
Audit or review

Objective

Outcome

Value for Territory
(VFT) annual assurance
program

To test CM&C’s compliance with the
obligations set out under the Value for
Territory assurance program, which
arise from the Procurement Act 1995,
Procurement Regulations, Procurement
Governance Policy and Rules and the
Buy Local Plan.

Several matters were identified during
the review. Two tier 1 transactions (4%)
were identified as non-compliant in
relation to procurement approvals and
delegation requirements.
Across tiers 1 to tier 5 there were
deficiencies in record keeping practices
and contract management.
All matters of non-compliance are being
addressed by an ongoing program of
work to improve procurement and
contract controls.
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The following external audit was completed and reported on in 2020-21:
CM&C is subject to the NT Auditor-General’s audit program under the powers and responsibilities established
by the Audit Act 1995. In 2020-21, the Auditor-General audits and reviews comprised:
Audit or review

Objective

Outcome

Interim agency
compliance audit (ACA)
2020-21

Test compliance against the Financial
Management Act, Treasurer's Directions,
Procurement Acts and including whole
of government policy, for example,
information management

Two matters arising were identified:

Agency compliance audit
for the year ending 30
June 2021

To assess whether internal control
systems include necessary features
to ensure compliance with financial
legislative obligations, in particular
responsibilities under Treasurer’s
Directions and the Procurement
Governance Policy and Rules by
examining selected aspects of CM&C’s
systems.

Two minor matters were arising.
These matters are being addressed by
management.

NTAGO Masterbrand
and population growth
audit

To obtain assurance as to whether the
performance management systems in
place to manage the Masterbrand and
Population Growth Strategy initiatives
enable the agency to assess whether
its objectives are being achieved
economically, efficiently and effectively.

Five recommendations were made and
management is addressing these.

• Deficiencies in the internal audit
program present risks to the agency
• Apparent misinterpretation of the
role of the Auditor General in relation
to annual reports and financial
statements of the agency.

• Development of performance
measures
• Development of overarching plan
• Across-agency approach to manage
performance
• Monitoring performance
• Performance evaluation
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Legislation Administered
The Department of the Chief Minister and Cabinet was responsible for administering the following legislation
as at 30 June 2021:
• Assembly Members and Statutory Officers (Remuneration
and Other Entitlements) Act 2006
• Essential Goods and Services Act 1981
• Flag and Emblem Act 1985
• Inquiries Act 1945
• Interpretation Act 1978
• Jabiru Town Development Act 1978
• Public Information Act 2010
• Referendums Act 1998
• Succession to the Crown (Request) (National Uniform
Legislation) Act 2013
• Transfer of Powers Act 1978
• Transfer of Powers (Further Provisions) Act 1978
• Transfer of Powers (Self Government) Act 1978
• Ichthys LNG Project Act 2008
• Treaty Commissioner Act 2020
• Kenbi Land Trust Act 2011
• Annual Leave Act 1981

• Correctional Officers Arbitral Tribunal Act 1950
• Long Service Leave Act 1981
• Police Administration Act 1978 (Part III)
• Public Employment (Mobility) Act 1989
• Public Holidays Act 1981
• Public Sector Employment and Management Act 1993
• Cemeteries Act 1952
• Crown Lands Act 1992 (section 79)
• Local Government Act 2008 (except Chapter 8)
• Local Government Act 2019 (except Chapter 8)
• Local Government Grants Commission Act 1986
• Local Government (Katherine Rates) Act 1999
• Northern Territory Rates Act 1971
• Nudity Act 1975
• Pounds Act 1930
• Status of Darwin Act 1959
• Status of Palmerston Act 2000

Associated regulations:
• Administrative Arrangements Order 2021

• Inquiries (Witnesses’ Expenses) Regulations 1967

• Assembly Members and Statutory Officers
(Remuneration and Other Entitlements)
Regulations 2009

• Jabiru Town Development Regulations 1982

• Cemeteries Regulations 1967

• Local Government (Electoral) Regulations 2021
• Local Government (General) Regulations 2021
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Insurance
Under the Treasurer’s Direction - Insurance Arrangements, agencies are required to detail the mitigation strategies
and processes they have in place to reduce the likelihood or severity of their insurable risks. Insurable risks are risks
generally relating to workers’ compensation, assets and inventories, public liability and indemnities. They exclude
financial risks and legal costs in action.
In line with the Northern Territory Government policy, the agency self‑insures for risk exposures under the
categories of property and assets, public liability and indemnities. The department purchased commercial
international travel insurance during 2020-21.

Insurance risk categories and mitigation strategies
Insurable Risk Category

Mitigation Strategies

Public liability

• repairs and maintenance program to reduce risks associated with physical assets
• appropriate signage
• health and safety education campaigns to ensure employees understand how
risk can be managed

Assets and Inventories

• registers are maintained for fixed, leased and portable and attractive items
• vehicles are regularly serviced and maintained

Indemnities

• risk assessments were completed for all new arrangements

Workers Compensation
Northern Territory Public Sector agencies pay an annual risk premium for worker’s compensation claims to the
Department of Treasury and Finance into a stand-alone self-insurance fund within the Central Holding Authority.
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Financial Statement Overview
Overview
The 2020-21 financial statements for CM&C have been prepared on an accrual basis in accordance with the
Northern Territory’s financial management framework and the Australian Accounting Standards. CM&C's
financial performance in 2020-21 and comparative financial information for 2019-20 are reported in four
financial statements: the Comprehensive Operating Statement, Balance Sheet, Statement of Changes in Equity
and Cash Flow Statement.
Details of CM&C's performance by output group are provided in Note 3 of the financial statements.

Budget
The movement in the agency’s original 2020-21 budget (November 2020 Budget) to the Final Budget is outlined
in the table provided in Output Performance Reporting page 12.
Significant variations between the actual outcome compared to the original budget for the 2020-21 financial
year are reported in Note 27 of the financial statements. Where comparisons to budget have been made in this
overview, it reflects the final budget.

Comprehensive operating statement
2020-21
Final
Budget

2020-21
Actual
(a)

2019-20
Actual
(b)

Movement
(a-b)

$M

$M

$M

$M

Operating Income

296.1

290.3

109.3

181.0

Operating Expenses

308.5

259.3

109.8

149.5

Net Surplus/(Deficit)

(12.4)

31.0

(0.5)

(31.5)

Summary
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Operating Income
The agency’s total income for 2020-21 was $290.3 million, an increase of $181.0 million compared to 2019-20. This
increase in 2020-21 compared to 2019-20 is predominantly due to higher output appropriation ($144.7 million),
Commonwealth appropriation ($27.7 million), sale of goods and services ($6.98 million), goods and services received
free of charge of ($0.90 million) and current grants revenue ($0.63 million).
The increase in output appropriation, sale of goods and services, goods and services received free of charge and
current grants from 2019-20 to 2020-21 is largely due to the Administrative Arrangement Order of 8 September
2020 transferring into CM&C the functions of:
• Local Government and Community Development, including Aboriginal Interpreter Services, from the former
Department of Local Government, Housing and Community Development
• Office of the Commissioner for Public Employment
• the majority of Investment Territory functions from the former Department of Trade, Business and Innovation
• funding responsibility for the Darwin Waterfront Corporation from the former Department of Tourism, Sport and Culture.
Increase in Commonwealth appropriation in 2020-21 is predominantly due to the Darwin City Deal - Education and
Community Precinct.

Chart 1: 2020-21 Source of income
Output Appropriation $216.6M
Commonwealth Appropriation $52.2M
Service Free of Charge $9.2M
Sale of Goods and Services $7.8M
Grant Revenue $2.2M
Interest Revenue $0.6M
Other Income $1.6M

The agency’s primary source of income is output appropriation of $216.6 million ($71.9 million in 2019-20), which
makes up 74.6 per cent of the total agency income. The agency also received Commonwealth appropriation of
$52.2 million. Sale of goods and services revenue of $7.8 million is predominantly from rates issued under NT
Rates Act 1971 ($3.1 million), recoveries from Darwin Waterfront Corporation for expenses incurred on its behalf
($1.6 million), interpreting services performed by Aboriginal Interpreter Services ($0.98 million) and training fees
charged for capability development programs managed by the Office of the Commissioner for Public Employment
($0.78 million). Grants revenue of $2.2 million in 2020-21 predominantly includes funding for Aboriginal Interpreter
Services ($1.4 million) and Big Rivers Region youth program ($0.4 million). Other income recognised by the agency
includes refund of unspent grants by the local government councils and cost recovery from other entities.
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Operating Expenses
Total expenses of $259.3 million were incurred by the agency in 2020-21; an increase of $149.5 million on 2019-20
and $49.2 million lower than the final budget of $308.5 million.

Employee Expenditure
Employee expenses increased by 55 per cent or $26.0 million to $73.0 million in 2020-21 compared to 2019-20
predominantly due to the transferring into CM&C of the functions outlined above.
Employee expenses were in line with the final employee budget for 2020-21.

Administration Expenditure
Total administrative expenses increased by $9.9 million in 2020-21 compared to 2019-20 predominantly due to the
transferring in of functions to CM&C as outlined above.
Administrative expenses of $38.9 million in 2020-21 were lower than the final budget of $51.6 million by $12.7
million due to timing of Local Jobs Fund, major projects facilitation initiatives, Hydraulic Fracturing Implementation
Management and Partnerships and System Reform.

Grants Expenditure
Total grants and subsidies expenses increased by $113.5 million in 2020-21 compared to 2019-20.
Current grants and subsidies expenses increased by $86.5 million in 2020-21 predominantly due to grants provided
to local government councils, Darwin Waterfront Corporation, Jabiru and Kakadu Futures and Barkly Regional Deal.
Capital grants expenses increased by $27.0 million in 2020-21 predominantly due to National Partnership funding
for Darwin City Deal: Education and Community Precinct.
Current and capital grants of $147.5 million in 2020-21 were lower than final budget of $183.9 million by $36.4
million predominantly due to timing of expenditure for Barkly Regional Deal, Local Jobs Fund Priority Sector Growth
program and Infrastructure Grant program, Jabiru and Kakadu Futures and Commonwealth National Partnership
Disaster Risk Reduction program.

Chart 2: Expenditure comparison between 2020-21 and 2019-20
$73.0M
$38.9M

2020-21

$147.5M
$47.0 M
$28.9M

2019-20

$33.9M
Employee
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Balance sheet
2020-21
$M

2019-20
$M

Movement
$M

Assets

90.6

52.3

38.2

Liabilities

17.6

30.4

(12.8)

Equity

73.0

22.0

51.0

Summary

During 2020-21 the agency’s total assets increased by $38.2 million to $90.6 million predominantly due to timing of Local
Jobs Fund, major projects facilitation initiatives including Jabiru and Kakadu Futures, Commonwealth National Partnership
Disaster Risk Reduction program and Barkly Regional Deal including Northern Territory and Commonwealth National
Partnership funding.
The decrease in liabilities of $12.8 million in 2020-21 from 2019-20 is predominantly due to the accounting treatment for
the Darwin City Deal: Education and Community Precinct in 2019-20.
The agency maintains a positive net asset or equity position. A positive equity position indicates that the agency has
sufficient assets to cover liabilities.

Statement of changes in equity
2020-21
$M

2019-20
$M

Movement
$M

Balance 1 July

22.0

23.6

(1.7)

Accumulated Funds

35.6

(2.2)

37.8

-

-

-

Capital

15.5

0.6

14.9

Balance 30 June

73.0

22.0

51.0

Summary

Reserves

The agency’s total equity is the difference between total assets and total liabilities. For the 2020-21
year equity increased by $51.0 million to $73.0 million.

Cash flow statement
2020-21
$M

2019-20
$M

Movement
$M

14.8

5.8

8.9

Receipts

300.2

90.0

210.3

Payments

(266.8)

(81.5)

(185.4)

0.2

-

0.2

Purchase of Assets

(0.1)

(0.4)

0.3

Advances

(8.9)

-

(8.9)

Equity

15.1

0.8

14.2

Cash at End of Financial Year

54.3

14.8

39.6

Summary
Balance 1 July

Repayment of advances

The cash flow statement summary above provides information on the movement of cash during the year and shows
an increase in cash balances of $39.6 million to $54.3 million in 2020-21.
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Certification of the financial statements
We certify that the attached financial statements for the Department of the Chief Minister and Cabinet have
been prepared based on proper accounts and records in accordance with the prescribed format, the Financial
Management Act 1995 and Treasurer’s Directions.
We further state that the information set out in the comprehensive operating statement, balance sheet,
statement of changes in equity, cash flow statement, and notes to and forming part of the financial statements,
presents fairly the financial performance and cash flows for the year ended 30 June 2021 and the financial
position on that date.
At the time of signing, we are not aware of any circumstances that would render the particulars included in the
financial statements misleading or inaccurate.

			
Jodie Ryan
Chief Executive Officer

Robert Csar
Chief Financial Officer

30 August 2021

30 August 2021
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Comprehensive operating statement for the year ended 30 June 2021
Note

2021
$000

2020
$000

4a

2 238

1 611

Output

4b

216 551

71 851

Commonwealth

4b

52 173

25 000

4c

7 823

845

654

496

INCOME
Grants and subsidies revenue
Current
Capital
Appropriation

Sales of goods and services
Interest revenue
Goods and services received free of charge

5

9 230

8 328

Other income

4d

1 589

1 122

TOTAL INCOME

3

290 258

109 253

72 973

47 006

28 335

19 359

637

652

9 874

8 890

Current

97 918

11 432

Capital

49 551

22 500

259 289

109 839

30 970

(587)

-

-

-

(1 657)

Other

4 615

-

TOTAL OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

4 615

(1 657)

35 584

(2 244)

EXPENSES
Employee expenses
Administrative expenses
Purchases of goods and services

6

Depreciation and amortisation

13

Other administrative expenses

7

1

Grants and subsidies expenses

TOTAL EXPENSES

3

NET SURPLUS/(DEFICIT)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Items that will not be reclassified to net surplus/deficit
Changes in accounting policies
Changes in asset revaluation surplus

20

COMPREHENSIVE RESULT
1

Includes DCDD service charges and DIPL repairs and maintenance service charges.
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Balance sheet as at 30 June 2021
Note

2021
$000

2020
$000

Cash and deposits

9

54 332

14 747

Receivables

11

2 133

15 349

Advances and investments

12

1 013

-

57 478

30 096

ASSETS
Current assets

Total current assets
Non-current assets
Advances and investments

12

7 205

200

Property, plant and equipment

13

25 901

22 045

Total non-current assets

33 106

22 246

TOTAL ASSETS

90 584

52 341

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities
Payables

15

5 347

22 460

Provisions

17

9 013

5 587

Other liabilities

18

3 226

2 329

17 586

30 376

Total current liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Provisions

17

-

-

Other liabilities

18

-

-

Total non-current liabilities

-

TOTAL LIABILITIES

17 586

30 376

NET ASSETS

72 998

21 965

85 012

69 563

11 633

9 824

(23 646)

(57 422)

72 998

21 965

EQUITY
Capital
Reserves
Accumulated funds
TOTAL EQUITY
The balance sheet is to be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements.
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20

Statement of changes in equity for the year ended 30 June 2021

Note
2020-21
Accumulated funds
Changes in accounting policy
Correction of prior period errors
Transfers from reserves
Other
Reserves

20

Capital – transactions with owners
Equity injections
Capital appropriation
Equity transfers in
Other equity injections
Equity withdrawals
Capital withdrawal
Equity transfers out
Total equity at end of financial year
2019-20
Accumulated funds
Changes in accounting policy
Correction of prior period errors
Transfers from reserves
Other movements directly to equity
Reserves
Capital – transactions with owners
Equity injections
Capital appropriation
Equity transfers in
Other equity injections
Equity withdrawals
Capital withdrawal
Equity transfers out
Total equity at end of financial year

20

Equity at
1 July
$000

Comprehensive
result
$000

Transactions
with owners
in their
capacity as
owners
$000

(57 422)
(57 422)

30 970
2 806
33 776

-

(26 452)
2 806
(23 646)

9 824

1 809

-

11 633

43 266
26 047
46 391

-

138
2 686
18 924

43 404
28 733
65 315

(35 167)
(10 974)
69 563

-

(3 493)
(2 806)
15 449

(38 660)
(13 780)
85 012

21 965

35 584

15 449

72 998

(56 836)
(56 836)

(587)
(587)

-

(57 422)
(57 422)

11 481

(1 657)

-

9 824

42 925
25 760
46 391

-

341
286
-

43 266
26 047
46 391

(35 167)
(10 927)
68 983

-

(48)
580

(35 167)
(10 974)
69 563

23 629

(2 244)

580

21 965

Equity at
30 June
$000

The statement of changes in equity is to be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements.
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Cash flow statement for the year ended 30 June 2021
2021
$000

2020
$000

2 238

1 611

216 551
68 027
13 297
128
300 242

71 851
12 209
4 315
89 986

(69 005)
(30 837)

(46 604)
(21 427)

(117 446)
(49 551)

(11 432)
(2 000)

(266 840)
33 402

(81 463)
8 523

164
164

-

Investing payments
Purchases of assets
Advances and investing payments
Total investing payments
Net cash from/(used in) investing activities

( 113)
(8 937)
(9 050)
(8 886)

(426)
(426)
(426)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Financing receipts
Equity injections
Capital appropriation
Commonwealth appropriation
Other equity injections
Total financing receipts

138
( 500)
18 924
18 562

341
500
841

Financing payments
Equity withdrawals
Total financing payments
Net cash from/(used in) financing activities
Net increase/(decrease) in cash held
Cash at beginning of financial year
CASH AT END OF FINANCIAL YEAR

(3 493)
(3 493)
15 069
39 585
14 747
54 332

841
8 938
5 809
14 747

Note

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Operating receipts
Grants and subsidies received
Current
Appropriation
Output
Commonwealth
Receipts from sales of goods and services
Interest received
Total operating receipts
Operating payments
Payments to employees
Payments for goods and services
Grants and subsidies paid
Current
Capital
Interest paid
Total operating payments
Net cash from/(used in) operating activities

10

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Investing receipts
Repayment of advances
Total investing receipts

10
9

The cash flow statement is to be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements.
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Index of Notes to the Financial Statements
Note
Liabilities

1.

Objectives and funding

2.

Statement of significant accounting policies

15.

Payables

3.

Comprehensive operating statement by
output group

16.

Borrowings and advances

17.

Provisions

Income

18.

Other liabilities

4a.

Grants and subsidies revenue

19.

Commitments

4b.

Appropriation

4c.

Sales of goods and services

4d.

Other income

5.

Goods and services received free of charge

21.

Fair value measurement

Expenses

22.

Financial instruments

6.

Purchases of goods and services

23.

Related parties

7.

Other administrative expenses

24.

Contingent liabilities and contingent assets

8.

Write-offs, postponements, waivers, gifts
and ex gratia payments

25.

Events subsequent to balance date

26.

Schedule of administered Territory items

27.

Budgetary information

Assets
9.

Cash and deposits

10.

Cash flow reconciliation

11.

Receivables

12.

Advances and investments

13.

Property, plant and equipment

14.

Agency as lessee

Equity
20

Reserves
Other disclosures
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1. Objectives and funding
The Department of the Chief Minister and Cabinet (CM&C) is responsible for ensuring that government priorities are
reflected in policy and implemented effectively by the public sector. It provides whole-of-government policy advice
and leadership in coordinating approaches to priority issues throughout the NTPS. The agency’s primary contribution
to the strategic direction of the government is through the coordination of coherent, rigorous and evidence-based
advice to the Chief Minister and Cabinet. Strategic priorities for the agency in 2020-21 included the following:
• Creating jobs and growing the economy
• Unlocking the opportunities for Aboriginal Territorians
• Strengthening the regions
• Strong and resilient communities
• Strong leadership with integrity
• People and capability
The Office of the Commissioner for Public Employment is responsible for public sector workforce management and
development, and industrial relations. The office supports the Commissioner’s statutory employer functions under
the Public Sector Employment and Management Act 1993 (PSEMA).
Additional information in relation to CM&C and its principal activities can be found in this annual report.
The agency is predominantly funded by, and is dependent on, the receipt of parliamentary appropriations.
The financial statements encompass all funds through which the agency controls resources to carry on its functions
and deliver outputs. For reporting purposes, outputs delivered by the agency are summarised into several output
groups. Note 3 provides summary financial information in the form of a Comprehensive Operating Statement by
output group.
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a) Machinery of government changes
Transfers in
Details of transfer: Existing functions of Office of the Commissioner for Public Employment
Basis of transfer:

Administrative Arrangements Order 8 September 2020

Date of transfer:

Effective from 1 July 2020

The assets and liabilities transferred as a result of this change were as follows:
Assets

$000

Cash

4 238

Receivables

60
4 298

Liabilities
Provisions

81
81

Net assets

4 217

Transfers in
Details of transfer: Local Government, Community Development and Aboriginal
Interpreter Services from former Department of Local Government,
Housing and Community Development
Basis of transfer:

Administrative Arrangements Order 8 September 2020

Date of transfer:

Effective from 1 July 2020

The assets and liabilities transferred as a result of this change were as follows:
Assets
Cash
Receivables
Property, plant and equipment

$000
(22 330)
28
3 603
(18 699)

Liabilities
Payables

(7)

Provisions

13
6

Net assets

(18 705)
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Transfers in
Details of transfer: 	Majority of Investment Territory from former Department of Trade, Business and Innovation
Basis of transfer:

Administrative Arrangements Order 8 September 2020

Date of transfer:

Effective from 1 July 2020

The assets and liabilities transferred as a result of this change were as follows:

Assets

$000

Cash

1 268

Advances

7 459

Property, plant and equipment

8 727

Liabilities
Payables

(24)

Provisions

403

Other liabilities
379
Net assets

8 348

Transfers in
Details of transfer: Darwin Waterfront Corporation from former Department of Tourism, Sport and Culture
Basis of transfer:

Administrative Arrangements Order 8 September 2020

Date of transfer:

Effective from 1 July 2020

The assets and liabilities transferred as a result of this change were as follows:

Assets
Cash

$000
3 613
3 613

Liabilities
Provisions

285
285

Net assets
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2. Statement of significant accounting policies
a) Statement of compliance
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Financial Management Act
1995 and related Treasurer’s Directions. The Financial Management Act 1995 requires the agency to prepare financial
statements for the year ended 30 June based on the form determined by the Treasurer. The form of agency financial
statements should include:
1. a certification of the financial statements
2. a comprehensive operating statement
3. a balance sheet
4. a statement of changes in equity
5. a cash flow statement; and
6. applicable explanatory notes to the financial statements.

b) Basis of accounting
The financial statements have been prepared using the accrual basis of accounting, which recognises the effect
of financial transactions and events when they occur, rather than when cash is paid out or received. As part of the
preparation of the financial statements, all intra agency transactions and balances have been eliminated.
Except where stated, the financial statements have also been prepared in accordance with the historical cost
convention.
The form of the agency financial statements is also consistent with the requirements of Australian accounting
standards. The effects of all relevant new and revised standards and interpretations issued by the Australian
Accounting Standards Board (AASB) that are effective for the current annual reporting period have been evaluated.
Standards and interpretations effective from 2020-21
Several amending standards and AASB interpretations have been issued that apply to the current reporting periods,
but are considered to have no impact on public sector reporting.
Standards and interpretations issued but not yet effective
No Australian accounting standards have been early adopted for 2020-21.
Several other amending standards and AASB interpretations have been issued that apply to future reporting periods
but are considered to have limited impact on public sector reporting.

c) Reporting entity
The financial statements cover the Department as an individual reporting entity.
The Department of the Chief Minister and Cabinet (“the Department”) is a Northern Territory department
established under the Interpretation Act 1978 and Administrative Arrangements Order.
The principal place of business of the department is:
NT House, 22 Mitchell Street, Darwin NT 0800
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d) Agency and Territory items
The financial statements of agency include income, expenses, assets, liabilities and equity over which the agency
has control (agency items). Certain items, while managed by the agency, are controlled and recorded by the Territory
rather than the agency (Territory items). Territory items are recognised and recorded in the Central Holding Authority
as discussed below.

Central Holding Authority
The Central Holding Authority is the ‘parent body’ that represents the government’s ownership interest in
government-controlled entities.
The Central Holding Authority also records all Territory items, such as income, expenses, assets and liabilities
controlled by the government and managed by agencies on behalf of the government. The main Territory item is
Territory income, which includes taxation and royalty revenue, Commonwealth general purpose funding (such as GST
revenue), fines, and statutory fees and charges.
The Central Holding Authority also holds certain Territory assets not assigned to agencies as well as certain Territory
liabilities that are not practical or effective to assign to individual agencies such as unfunded superannuation and
long service leave.
The Central Holding Authority recognises and records all Territory items, and as such, these items are not included in
the agency’s financial statements. However, as the agency is accountable for certain Territory items managed on behalf
of government, these items have been separately disclosed in Note 26 – Schedule of administered Territory items.

e) Comparatives
Where necessary, comparative information for the 2019-20 financial year has been reclassified to provide
consistency with current year disclosures.

f) Presentation and rounding of amounts
Amounts in the financial statements and notes to the financial statements are presented in Australian dollars and
have been rounded to the nearest thousand dollars, with amounts of $500 or less being rounded down to zero.
Figures in the financial statements and notes may not equate due to rounding.

g) Changes in accounting policies
There have been no changes to accounting policies adopted in 2020-21 as a result of management decisions.
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h) Accounting judgments and estimates
The preparation of the financial report requires the making of judgments and estimates that affect the recognised
amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses and the disclosure of contingent liabilities. The estimates and
associated assumptions are based on historical experience and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable
under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making judgments about the carrying values of assets
and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates.
The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of
the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.
Judgments and estimates that have significant effects on the financial statements are disclosed in the relevant notes
to the financial statements.

i) Goods and services tax
Income, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of goods and services tax (GST), except where the
amount of GST incurred on a purchase of goods and services is not recoverable from the Australian Tax Office (ATO).
In these circumstances the GST is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense.
Receivables and payables are stated with the amount of GST included. The net amount of GST recoverable from, or
payable to, the ATO is included as part of receivables or payables in the balance sheet.
Cash flows are included in the cash flow statement on a gross basis. The GST components of cash flows arising from
investing and financing activities, which are recoverable from, or payable to, the ATO are classified as operating
cash flows. Commitments and contingencies are disclosed net of the amount of GST recoverable or payable unless
otherwise specified.

j) Contributions by and distributions to government
The agency may receive contributions from government where the government is acting as owner of the agency.
Conversely, the agency may make distributions to government. In accordance with the Financial Management
Act 1995 and Treasurer’s Directions, certain types of contributions and distributions, including those relating to
administrative restructures, have been designated as contributions by, and distributions to, government. These
designated contributions and distributions are treated by the agency as adjustments to equity.
The statement of changes in equity provides additional information in relation to contributions by, and distributions
to, government.

k) Impact of COVID-19
Following on from the 2019-20 financial year, the agency’s Strategic Communications and Engagement unit
continued to lead the whole of government Public Information Group during the COVID-19 pandemic response
providing information and marketing across all channels including management and updating of the coronavirus
website, community messaging including border control and mandatory quarantine, exemptions to quarantine,
events and gatherings, business restart, safety, symptoms and COVIDSafe App, NT data and promotion of uptake
of vaccinations was provided on various platforms. Return to country arrangements covering all Northern Territory
regions was also enacted in response to minimising anti-social behaviour during this time. MyCouncil grants program
was rolled out to various councils as an economic stimulus to boost local business activity.
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OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Items that will not be reclassified to net surplus/
deficit
Changes in asset revaluation surplus
TOTAL OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
COMPREHENSIVE RESULT

6 835
832

Capital
TOTAL EXPENSES
NET (DEFICIT)/SURPLUS

3 496

832

22 500
56 042
3 496

7 182

2 039

15 936

4 281
9 518
410
496

59 538

7 667

25 000
14
496
651

32 148

515
-

6
13
5,7

5

27

7 640

$000

$000

1 229

2020

2021

Purchases of goods and services
Depreciation and amortisation
Other administrative expenses3
Grants and subsidies expenses
Current

TOTAL INCOME
EXPENSES
Employee expenses
Administrative expenses

Commonwealth
Sales of goods and services
Interest revenue
Goods and services received free of charge
Other income

Output

INCOME
Grants and subsidies revenue
Current
Appropriation

Note

Advice and
Coordination

1 809
1 809
4 273

-

45 000
143 275
2 464

63 931

9 612
373
557

23 801

145 739

50 086
4 135
526
489

88 477

2 027

$000

2021
$000

2020

Territory Regional
Growth1,2

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

3. Comprehensive operating statement by output group

-

26 692

-

1 500
30 803
26 692

11 227

8 907
-

9 168

57 494

128
631

56 735

$000

2021
$000

2020

Investment
Territory1

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

--

-

-

-

-

-

3 051
21 263
-

18 212

-

-

21 263

-

21 263

$000

2021

$000

2020

Darwin Waterfront
Corporation1

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-
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6
13
5,7

5

1 443

(1 657)
(1 657)
(5 534)

39 202
(3 877)

4 250

2 504
33 933
1 443

8 480
194
65

26 213

35 324

192

797

33 954

6 621
208
87

24 513

35 376

92

2 087
803

32 183

382

$000

$000

211

2020

2021

-

2 806
2 806
3 192

6 316
386

5

1 443
-

4 869

6 702

97

1 232

5 374

$000

2021
$000

2020

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

( 848)

16 864
( 848)

-

1 238
55
9 230

6 341

16 017

9 230
254

1 654

4 879

$000

2021

-

( 205)

14 596
( 205)

-

1 361
48
8 329

4 857

14 390

8 328
279

35

5 749

$000

2020

Corporate and
Shared Services

4 615
4 615
35 584

49 551
259 289
30 970

97 918

28 335
637
9 874

72 973

290 258

52 173
7 823
654
9 230
1 589

216 551

2 238

$000

2021

Total

(1 657)
(1 657)
(2 244)

22 500
109 839
( 587)

11 432

19 359
652
8 890

47 006

109 253

25 000
845
496
8 328
1 122

71 851

1 611

$000

2020

1

As a consequence of Administrative Arrangements Order issued on 8 September 2020, financial statements of the Department of the Chief Minister and Cabinet reflect the actual period of
responsibility for the outputs, being the period 1 July 2020 to 30 June 2021 for the functions transferred in i.e. Local Government and Community Development functions, including the Aboriginal
Interpreter Service, from the former Department of Local Government, Housing and Community Development , Office of the Commissioner for Public Employment, the majority of Investment Territory
functions from the former Department of Trade, Business and Innovation and the Darwin Waterfront Corporation. Comparative amounts for the prior year have not been adjusted.
2
Regional Coordination and Aboriginal Affairs transferred from Advice and Coordination to Territory Regional Growth output group in 2020-21.
3
Includes DCDD service charges and DIPL repairs and maintenance service charges.

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Items that will not be reclassified to net surplus/deficit
Changes in asset revaluation surplus
TOTAL OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
COMPREHENSIVE RESULT

Capital
TOTAL EXPENSES
NET (DEFICIT)/SURPLUS

Purchases of goods and services
Depreciation and amortisation
Other administrative expenses3
Grants and subsidies expenses
Current

TOTAL INCOME
EXPENSES
Employee expenses
Administrative expenses

Commonwealth
Sales of goods and services
Interest revenue
Goods and services received free of charge
Other income

Output

INCOME
Grants and subsidies revenue
Current
Appropriation

Note

Government
Support

Office of the
Commissioner for Public
Employment1

Income
Income encompasses both revenue and gains.
Income is recognised at the fair value of the consideration received, exclusive of the amount of GST. Exchanges
of goods or services of the same nature and value without any cash consideration being exchanged are not
recognised as income.

4. Revenue
a) Grants and subsidies revenue
2021
Revenue
from
contracts
with
customers
$000

Other
$000

Current grants

-

Total grants and
subsidies revenue

-

2020

Total
$000

Revenue
from
contracts
with
customers
$000

Other
$000

Total
$000

2 238

2 238

131

1 480

1 611

2 238

2 238

131

1 480

1 611

Grants revenue is recognised at fair value exclusive of the amount of GST.
Where a grant agreement is enforceable and has sufficiently specific performance obligations for the agency
to transfer goods or services to the grantor or a third party beneficiary, the transaction is accounted for under
AASB 15. In this case, revenue is initially deferred as a contract liability when received in advance and recognised
as or when the performance obligations are satisfied. The agency has adopted a low value contract threshold of
$50 000 excluding GST and recognises revenue from contracts with a low value, upfront on receipt of income.
A financing component for consideration is only recognised if it is significant to the contract and the period
between the transfer of goods and services and receipt of consideration is more than one year. For the 2020-21
and 2019-20 reporting periods, there were no adjustments for the effects of a significant financing component.
Where grant agreements do not meet criteria above, it is accounted for under AASB 1058 and income is
recognised on receipt of funding except for capital grants revenue received for the purchase or construction of
non-financial assets to be controlled by the agency. Capital grants with enforceable contracts and sufficiently
specific obligations are recognised as an unearned revenue liability when received and subsequently recognised
progressively as revenue as or when the agency satisfies its obligations under the agreement. Where a nonfinancial asset is purchased, revenue is recognised at the point in time the asset is acquired and control transfers
to the agency.
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Grant revenue, passed on from a Territory Government-controlled entity with the exception of the Central Holding
Authority, is recognised upfront on receipt, irrespective of which revenue accounting standard it may fall under in
accordance with the Treasurer’s Direction on income.
Revenue from contracts with customers have been disaggregated below into categories to enable users of these
financial statements to understand the nature, amount, timing and uncertainty of income and cash flows. These
categories include a description of the type of product or service line, type of customer and timing of transfer of
goods and services.
Grant agreements that satisfy recognition requirements under AASB 15 are disaggregated below.
2021
$000

2020
$000

Service delivery

-

131

Total revenue from contracts with customers by good or service

-

131

Australian Government entities

-

131

Total revenue from contracts with customers by type of customer

-

131

Point in time

-

131

Total revenue from contracts with customers by timing of transfer

-

131

Type of good and service:

Type of customer:

Timing of transfer of goods and services:

b) Appropriation
2021
Revenue
from
contracts
with
customers
$000
Output

2020

Other
$000

Total
$000

216 551

216 551

Revenue
from
contracts
with
customers
$000

Commonwealth

48 522

3 651

52 173

25 000

Total appropriation

48 522

220 202

268 724

25 000

Other
$000

Total
$000

71 851

71 851
25 000

71 851

96 851
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Output appropriation is the operating payment to each agency for the outputs they provide as specified in
the Appropriation Act. It does not include any allowance for major non-cash costs such as depreciation. Output
appropriations do not have sufficiently specific performance obligations and recognised on receipt of funds.
Commonwealth appropriation follows from the intergovernmental agreement on federal financial relations, resulting
in specific purpose payments (SPPs) and national partnership (NP) payments being made by the Commonwealth
Treasury to state treasuries, in a manner similar to arrangements for GST payments. These payments are received
by the Department of Treasury and Finance on behalf of the Central Holding Authority and then passed on to the
relevant agencies as Commonwealth appropriation.
Where appropriation received has an enforceable contract with sufficiently specific performance obligations as
defined in AASB 15, revenue is recognised as and when goods and or services are transferred to the customer or
third party beneficiary. Otherwise revenue is recognised when the agency gains control of the funds.
Revenue from contracts with customers have been disaggregated below into categories to enable users of these
financial statements to understand the nature, amount, timing and uncertainty of income and cash flows. These
categories include a description of the type of product or service line, type of customer and timing of transfer of
goods and services.
2021
$000

2020
$000

Service delivery

48 522

25 000

Total revenue from contracts with customers by good or service

48 522

25 000

Australian Government entities

48 522

25 000

Total revenue from contracts with customers by type of customer

48 522

25 000

-

-

Point in time

48 522

25 000

Total revenue from contracts with customers by timing of transfer

48 522

25 000

Type of good and service:

Type of customer:

Timing of transfer of goods and services:
Overtime
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c) Sales of goods and services
2021
Revenue
from
contracts
with
customers
$000

Other
$000

Sales of goods and
services

-

Total sales of goods
and services

-

2020

Total
$000

Revenue
from
contracts
with
customers
$000

Other
$000

Total
$000

7 823

7 823

-

845

845

7 823

7 823

-

845

845

Rendering of services
Revenue from rendering of services is recognised when the agency satisfies the performance obligation by
transferring the promised services which mainly include providing Aboriginal interpreting services, capability
development training programs to NTG employees and the issuing of gazettes’ and instruments’ notifications by the
Office of the Parliamentary Counsel for NTG agencies. The agency typically satisfies its performance obligations
when the interpreting service is provided or when the specific training is delivered on the specific date or when
gazette/instrument notification is issued.

d) Other income
2021
Revenue
from
contracts
with
customers
$000

Other
$000

Other income

-

Total other income

-

2020

Total
$000

Revenue
from
contracts
with
customers
$000

Other
$000

Total
$000

1 589

1 589

-

1 122

1 122

1 589

1 589

-

1 122

1 122
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5. Goods and services received free of charge

Corporate and information services1
Repairs and maintenance

2

1

DCDD service charges

2

DIPL repairs & maintenance service charges

2021
$000

2020
$000

8 866

7 850

364

478

9 230

8 328

Resources received free of charge are recognised as revenue when, and only when, a fair value can be reliably determined
and the services would have been purchased if they had not been donated. Use of those resources is recognised as an
expense. Resources received free of charge are recorded as either revenue or gains depending on their nature.
Repairs and maintenance expenses and associated employee costs are centralised and provided by the Department of
Infrastructure, Planning and Logistics and forms part of goods and services free of charge of the agency.
In addition, corporate services staff and functions are centralised and provided by Department of Corporate and Digital
Development and forms part of goods and services free of charge of the agency.
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6. Purchases of goods and services
The net surplus/(deficit) has been arrived at after charging
the following expenses:
Goods and services expenses:
Consultants1
Advertising2
Marketing and promotion3
Document production
Legal expenses4
Recruitment5
Training and study
Official duty fares
Travelling allowance
Property Management
Information technology charges and communications
Motor vehicle expenses
Agent service arrangements
Other

2021
$000

2020
$000

5 321
2 189
95
2 253
478
249
952
349
3 526
3 448
1 013
4 440
4 023
28 335

2 021
4 791
242
355
237
261
930
215
2 141
2 337
581
2 776
2 472
19 359

Includes marketing, promotion and IT consultants.
Does not include recruitment related advertising or advertising for marketing and promotion.
3
Includes advertising for marketing and promotion but excludes marketing and promotion consultants’ expenses, which are
incorporated in the consultants’ category.
4
Includes legal fees, claim and settlement costs.
5
Includes recruitment-related advertising costs.
1
2

Purchases of goods and services generally represent the day-to-day running costs incurred in normal operations,
including supplies and service costs recognised in the reporting period in which they are incurred.

7. Other administrative expenses
2021
$000

2020
$000

526

496

Write-offs and Losses

2

2

Loss on disposal of assets

-

65

116

-

8 866

7 850

364

478

9 874

8 890

Doubtful Debt Expense

Assets written down
Corporate and information services1
Repairs and maintenance2
DCDD service charges
DIPL repairs & maintenance service charges

1
2
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8. Write-offs, postponements, waiver, gifts and
exgratia payments
2021
$000

No. of
Trans.

2020
$000

No. of
Trans.

Write-offs, postponements and waivers under the Financial Management Act 1995
Represented by:
Amounts written off, postponed and waived by delegates
Irrecoverable amounts payable to the Territory or an agency written off
Losses or deficiencies of money written off
Public property written off
Waiver or postponement of right to receive or recover money or property
Total written off, postponed and waived by delegates

2
2

6
20
26

2
65
66

2
24
26

Amounts written off, postponed and waived by the Treasurer
Irrecoverable amounts payable to the Territory or an agency written off
Losses or deficiencies of money written off
Public property written off
Waiver or postponement of right to receive or recover money or property
Total written off, postponed and waived by the Treasurer

-

-

-

-

Gifts under the Financial Management Act 1995
Gifts by delegate
Office furniture
Computer and other electronic equipment
Other
Total gifts by delegate
Gifts by Treasurer

1
1
-

6
6
-

3
3
15

8
8
3

Gifts authorised under other legislation

-

-

-

-

Ex gratia payments under the Financial Management Act 1995

-

-

-

-

Write-offs, postponements and waivers authorised under other legislation
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9. Cash and deposits

Cash at bank

2021
$000

2020
$000

54 332

14 747

54 332

14 747

For the purposes of the balance sheet and the cash flow statement, cash includes cash on hand, cash at bank.

10. Cash flow reconciliation
2021
$000

2020
$000

30 970

(587)

Depreciation and amortisation

637

652

Asset write-offs/write-downs

116

65

Impairment of advances

526

496

(526)

(496)

765

-

13 577

(14 491)

-

5

(360)

(3)

(17 113)

21 031

2 859

54

566

58

(Decrease)/increase in other deferred income

1 385

1 739

Net cash from/(used in) operating activities

33 402

8 523

a) Reconciliation of cash
The total of agency ‘Cash and deposits’ of $54.332 million recorded in the balance
sheet is consistent with that recorded as ‘Cash’ in the cash flow statement.
Reconciliation of net surplus/deficit to net cash from operating activities
Net surplus/deficit
Non-cash items:

Interest on advances
Net discount on concessional loans
Changes in assets and liabilities:
Decrease/(increase) in receivables
Decrease/(increase) in advances
Decrease/(increase) in prepayments
(Decrease)/increase in payables
(Decrease)/increase in provision for employee benefits
(Decrease)/increase in other provisions
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b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities
Unearned revenue from Commonwealth Capital Appropriation amounting to $0.50 million during 2019-20 was
recognised as revenue during 2020-21. There were no liabilities arising during 2020-21.

c) Non-cash financing and investing activities
During the year interest amounting $0.526 million (2020: $0.496 million) was accrued on loan advance receivable and
added to the amount of loan advance receivable. Refer to Note 12 – Advances and investments for more information.

11. Receivables
2021
$000

2020
$000

Accounts receivable

400

157

Less: loss allowance

-

-

400

157

Accrued contract revenue

-

14 600

Less: loss allowance

-

-

-

14 600

1 102

442

Prepayments

510

150

Other receivables

121

-

1 733

592

-

-

-

-

2 133

15 349

Current

GST receivables

Non-current
Other receivables

Total receivables

Receivables are initially recognised when the agency becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument
and are measured at fair value less any directly attributable transaction costs. Receivables include contract
receivables, accounts receivable, accrued contract revenue and other receivables.
Receivables are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any impairments.
Accounts receivable, contract receivables and other receivables are generally settled within 30 days.
The loss allowance reflects lifetime expected credit losses and represents the amount of receivables the agency
estimates are likely to be uncollectible and are considered doubtful.
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Accrued contract revenue
Accrued contract revenue arise from contracts with customers where the agency’s right to consideration in exchange
for goods transferred to customers or works completed have arisen but have not been billed at the reporting date.
Once the agency’s rights to payment becomes unconditional, usually on issue of an invoice, accrued contract
revenue balances are reclassified as contract receivables. Accrued revenue that does not arise from contracts with
customers are reported as part of other receivables.
The agency did not have accrued contract revenue for 2020-21. Accrued contract revenue for 2019-20 was due to
National Partnership Agreement for Darwin City Deal: Education and Community Precinct.

Credit risk exposure of receivables
Receivables are monitored on an ongoing basis to ensure exposure to bad debts is not significant. The entity applies
the simplified approach to measuring expected credit losses. This approach recognises a loss allowance based on
lifetime expected credit losses for all accounts receivables, contracts receivables and accrued contract revenue.
To measure expected credit losses, receivables have been grouped based on shared risk characteristics and days
past due.
The expected loss rates are based on historical observed loss rates, adjusted to reflect current and forward-looking
information.
In accordance with the provisions of the FMA, receivables are written-off when there is no reasonable expectation
of recovery. Indicators that there is no reasonable expectation of recovery includes a failure to make contractual
payments for a period greater than 90 days past due.
COVID-19 had no material effect on the agency’s credit risk exposure.
The loss allowance for receivables and reconciliation as at the reporting date is disclosed on the next page.
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286
2
2
65
355

External receivables
Not overdue
Overdue for less than 30 days
Overdue for 30 to 60 days
Overdue for more than 60 days
Total external receivables
-

-

Loss rate
%

-

-

Expected
credit losses
$000

2021

286
2
2
65
355

37
8
45

Net
receivables
$000

The agency had no loss allowance for receivables as at 30 June 2021 and 30 June 2020.

Reconciliation of loss allowance for receivables

102
102

37
18
55

Gross
receivables
$000

Total amounts disclosed exclude statutory amounts and prepayments; and include contract receivables.

37
8
45

Internal receivables
Not overdue
Overdue for less than 30 days
Overdue for 30 to 60 days
Overdue for more than 60 days
Total internal receivables

Gross
receivables
$000

Loss allowance for receivables

-

-

Loss rate
%

-

-

Expected
credit losses
$000

2020

102
102

37
18
55

Net
receivables
$000

Prepayments
Prepayments represent payments in advance of receipt of goods and services or that part of expenditure made in
one accounting period covering a term extending beyond that period.

12. Advances and investments
2021
$000

2020
$000

Advances paid

10 699

8 520

Less: loss allowance

(9 686)

(8 520)

1 013

-

7 205

200

-

-

7 205

200

8 218

200

Current

Non current
Advances paid
Less: loss allowance

Total advances and investments

a) Advances paid
Advances paid are recognised initially at fair value plus or minus relevant transaction costs and are recognised in the
balance sheet when the agency becomes party to the contractual provisions of the financial instruments. Where
the advances are provided with interest free periods or at concessional interest rates, they are considered to have a
fair value which is less than the amount lent. This fair value is calculated in accordance with Note 21. The difference
between the amount lent and the fair value is recognised as an expense in the comprehensive income statement.
Subsequently, advances paid are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. The average
discount rate used to calculate the amortised cost is 5.78%.
Loss allowances on advances paid reflect either 12-month or lifetime expected credit losses depending on changes
in credit risk and represents the amount of advances paid the agency estimates are likely to be uncollectible and are
considered doubtful.
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-

8 218
44
90
9 552
17 904

Internal advances paid
Not overdue
Overdue for less than 30 days
Overdue for 30 to 60 days
Overdue for more than 60 days
Total internal advances paid

External advances paid
Not overdue
Overdue for less than 30 days
Overdue for 30 to 60 days
Overdue for more than 60 days
Total external advances paid

Gross
advances
paid
$000

100%
100%
100%

-

Loss rate
%

44
90
9 552
9 686

-

Expected
credit losses
$000

2021

8 218
8 218

-

Net
advances
paid
$000

The loss allowance for advances paid and reconciliation as at the reporting date is disclosed below.

200
42
84
8 394
8 720

-

Gross
advances
paid
$000

100%
100%
100%

-

Loss rate
%

42
84
8 394
8 520

-

Expected
credit losses
$000

2020

200
200

-

Net
advances
paid
$000

Advances paid are monitored on an ongoing basis to ensure exposure to bad debts is not significant. The agency applies the AASB 9 general approach to
measuring expected credit losses. This approach recognises a loss allowance based on 12-month expected credit losses if there has been no significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition and lifetime expected credit losses if there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition.

Credit risk exposure of advances paid

Reconciliation of loss allowance for advances paid
2021
$000

2020
$000

Internal advances paid
Opening balance
Written off during the year
Increase/decrease in allowance recognised in profit or loss
Total internal advances paid

-

-

External advances paid
Opening balance
Other
Recovered during the year
Increase/decrease in allowance recognised in profit or loss
Total external advances paid

8 520
650
( 10)
526
9 686

8 024
496
8 520

2021
$000

2020
$000

18 178

14 575

11 560
(4 196)
7 364

10 498
(3 998)
6 500

2 894
(2 552)
343

2 839
(2 181)
659

159
(157)
3

159
(133)
26

-

8
(8)
-

56
( 42)
13

41
(41)
-

-

286
286

25 901

22 045

13. Property, plant and equipment
a) Total property, plant and equipment
Land
At fair value
Buildings
At fair value
Less: accumulated depreciation
Plant and equipment
At fair value
Less: accumulated depreciation
Computer software
At capitalised cost
Less: accumulated depreciation
Computer hardware
At fair value
Less: accumulated depreciation
Transport equipment
At capitalised cost
Less: accumulated depreciation
Work in Progress (WIP)
At capitalised cost
Total Property, Plant and Equipment
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14 575
3 603
18 178

659
98
( 415)
343

$000

Plant &
Equipment
26
( 24)
3

$000

Computer
Software
-

$000

Computer
Hardware

Carrying amount as at 1 July 2019
Additions
Disposals
Depreciation
Additions/(Disposals) from administrative restructuring
Additions/(Disposals) from asset transfers
Revaluation increments/(decrements)
Impairment losses
Impairment losses reversed
Carrying amount as at 30 June 2020

16 480
(1 905)
14 575

6 441
(189)
248
6 500

785
378
(35)
(430)
(40)
659

41
47
(29)
(32)
26

8
(8)
-

-

14
( 1)
13

$000

Transport
Equipment

A reconciliation of the carrying amount of property, plant and equipment at the beginning and end of 2019-20 is set out below:

6 500
( 198)
1 062
7 364

$000

$000

2020 property, plant and equipment reconciliations

Carrying amount as at 1 July 2020
Additions
Disposals
Depreciation
Additions/(Disposals) from administrative restructuring
Additions/(Disposals) from asset transfers
Revaluation increments/(decrements)
Impairment losses
Impairment losses reversed
Carrying amount as at 30 June 2021

Buildings

Land

A reconciliation of the carrying amount of property, plant and equipment at the beginning and end year is set out below:

286
286

286
( 286)
-

$000

WIP

23 755
426
(65)
(652)
238
(1 657)
22 045

22 046
113
( 637)
3 603
776
25 901

$000

Total

Property, plant and equipment includes right-of-use assets under AASB 16 Leases and service concession assets under AASB 1059. The agency currently does not
have any right-of-use and service concession assets.

2021 Property, plant and equipment reconciliations

Acquisitions
Property, plant and equipment are initially recognised at cost and subsequently revalued at fair value less
accumulated depreciation and impairment. Cost is the amount of cash or cash equivalents paid or the fair value of
the other consideration given to acquire the asset at the time of its acquisition or construction or, where applicable,
the amount attributed to that asset when initially recognised in accordance with the requirements of other
accounting standards.
All items of property, plant and equipment with a cost or other value, equal to or greater than $10 000 are
recognised in the year of acquisition and depreciated as outlined below. Items of property, plant and equipment
below the $10 000 threshold are expensed in the year of acquisition.
The construction cost of property, plant and equipment includes the cost of materials and direct labour, and an
appropriate proportion of fixed and variable overheads.

Complex assets
Major items of plant and equipment comprising a number of components that have different useful lives, are
accounted for as separate assets. The components may be replaced during the useful life of the complex asset.

Subsequent additional costs
Costs incurred on property, plant and equipment subsequent to initial acquisition are capitalised when it is probable
that future economic benefits in excess of the originally assessed performance of the asset will flow to the agency
in future years. Where these costs represent separate components of a complex asset, they are accounted for as
separate assets and separately depreciated over their expected useful lives.

Construction (work in progress)
As part of the financial management framework, the Department of Infrastructure, Planning and Logistics is
responsible for managing general government capital works projects on a whole of government basis. Therefore
appropriation for all agency capital works is provided directly to the Department of Infrastructure, Planning
and Logistics and the cost of construction work in progress is recognised as an asset of that department. Once
completed, capital works assets are transferred to the agency.

Revaluations and impairment
Revaluation of assets
Subsequent to initial recognition, assets belonging to the following classes of non-current assets are revalued with
sufficient regularity to ensure the carrying amount of these assets does not differ materially from their fair value at
reporting date:
• land
• buildings
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Plant and equipment are stated at historical cost less depreciation, which is deemed to equate to fair value.
The agency does not have any right-of-use assets.
The latest revaluations as at 30 June 2020 were independently conducted. The valuer was Territory Property
Consultants Pty Ltd. Refer to Note 21: Fair value measurement for additional disclosures.

Impairment of assets
An asset is said to be impaired when the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount.
Non-current physical and intangible agency assets are assessed for indicators of impairment on an annual basis or
whenever there is indication of impairment. If an indicator of impairment exists, the agency determines the asset’s
recoverable amount. The asset’s recoverable amount is determined as the higher of the asset’s current replacement
cost and fair value less costs to sell. Any amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds the recoverable
amount is recorded as an impairment loss.
Impairment losses are recognised in the comprehensive operating statement. They are disclosed as an expense
unless the asset is carried at a revalued amount. Where the asset is measured at a revalued amount, the impairment
loss is offset against the asset revaluation surplus for that class of asset to the extent an available balance exists in
the asset revaluation surplus.
In certain situations, an impairment loss may subsequently be reversed. Where an impairment loss is subsequently
reversed, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount. A reversal
of an impairment loss is recognised in the comprehensive operating statement as income, unless the asset is carried
at a revalued amount, in which case the impairment reversal results in an increase in the asset revaluation surplus.
Note 20 provides additional information in relation to the asset revaluation surplus.
Agency property, plant and equipment assets were assessed for impairment as at 30 June 2021. No impairment
adjustments were required as a result of this review.

Depreciation and amortisation expense
Items of property, plant and equipment, including buildings but excluding land, have limited useful lives and are
depreciated or amortised using the straight-line method over their estimated useful lives.
Amortisation applies in relation to intangible non-current assets with limited useful lives and is calculated and
accounted for in a similar manner to depreciation.
The estimated useful lives for each class of asset are in accordance with the Treasurer’s Directions and are
determined as follows:
2021

2020

10 - 50 years

10 - 50 years

Plant and equipment

5 - 10 years

5 - 10 years

Intangibles

2 - 10 years

2 - 10 years

Buildings

Assets are depreciated or amortised from the date of acquisition or from the time an asset is completed and held
ready for use.

119 |

Department of the Chief Minister and Cabinet 2020-21 Annual Report

14. Agency as a lessee
Inter-governmental leases
The agency applies the inter-governmental leases recognition exemption as per the Treasurer’s Direction – Leases
and recognise these as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. These largely relate to the lease of
motor vehicles from NT Fleet. Leases of commercial properties for office accommodation are centralised with the
Department of Corporate and Digital Development (DCDD). Consequently all lease liabilities and right-of-use assets
relating to these arrangements are recognised by DCDD and not disclosed within these financial statements.

15. Payables
2021
$000

2020
$000

Accounts payable

71

60

Accrued expenses

5 277

22 400

Total payables

5 347

22 460

Liabilities for accounts payable and other amounts payable are carried at cost, which is the fair value of the
consideration to be paid in the future for goods and services received, whether or not billed to the agency. Accounts
payable are normally settled within 20 days from receipt of valid of invoices under $1 million or 30 days for invoices
over $1 million.

16. Borrowings and advances
The agency had no borrowings and advances as at 30 June 2021 and 30 June 2020.

Lease liabilities
Future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable leases not recorded as liability are as follows:
2021

2020

Internal
$000

External
$000

Internal
$000

External
$000

Within one year

623

-

493

-

Later than one year and not later than five years

879

-

600

-

-

-

-

-

1 502

-

1 093

-

Later than five years
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17. Provisions
2021
$000

2020
$000

6 945

4 360

728

454

Fringe Benefit Tax

132

90

Payroll Tax

487

299

Superannuation

721

385

9 013

5 587

-

-

9 013

5 587

Balance as at 1 July

90

103

Machinery of government transfer

14

-

563

90

(535)

(103)

132

90

Balance as at 1 July

299

279

Additional provisions recognised

487

299

(299)

(279)

487

299

Balance as at 1 July

385

334

Additional provisions recognised

721

385

(385)

(334)

721

385

Current
Employee benefits
Recreation leave
Leave loading
Other current provisions

Non-current
Other non-current provisions
Total provisions
Reconciliations of provisions
Fringe benefit tax

Additional provisions recognised
Reductions arising from payments
Balance as at 30 June
Payroll tax

Reductions arising from payments
Balance as at 30 June
Superannuation

Reductions arising from payments
Balance as at 30 June

The Agency employed 461.64 employees as at 30 June 2021 (295.21 employees as at 30 June 2020).
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Employee benefits
Provision is made for employee benefits accumulated as a result of employees rendering services up to the reporting
date. These benefits include wages and salaries and recreation leave. Liabilities arising in respect of wages and
salaries, recreation leave and other employee benefit liabilities that fall due within twelve months of reporting date
are classified as current liabilities and are measured at amounts expected to be paid. Non-current employee benefit
liabilities that fall due after twelve months of the reporting date are measured at present value, calculated using the
government long-term bond rate.
No provision is made for sick leave, which is non-vesting, as the anticipated pattern of future sick leave to be taken is
less than the entitlement accruing in each reporting period.
Employee benefit expenses are recognised on a net basis in respect of the following categories:
• wages and salaries, non-monetary benefits, recreation leave and other leave entitlements
• other types of employee benefits.
As part of the financial management framework, the Central Holding Authority assumes the long service leave
liabilities of government agencies, including agency and therefore no long service leave liability is recognised in
agency financial statements.

18. Other liabilities
2021
$000

2020
$000

3 195

1 809

-

500

31

20

3 226

2 329

Current
Unearned contract revenue
Unearned capital grants
Other liabilities
Total other liabilities
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Financial guarantee contracts
Financial guarantee contracts are recognised as a financial liability at the time the guarantee is issued where the total
value being guaranteed is greater than $1 million.
The agency do not have any financial guarantee contracts as at 30 June 2021 or 30 June 2020.

Superannuation
Employees' superannuation entitlements are provided through the:
• Northern Territory Government and Public Authorities Superannuation Scheme (NTGPASS)
• Commonwealth Superannuation Scheme (CSS)
• or non-government employee nominated schemes for those employees commencing on or after 10 August 1999.
The agency makes superannuation contributions on behalf of its employees to the Central Holding Authority or
non-government employee-nominated schemes. Superannuation liabilities related to government superannuation
schemes are held by the Central Holding Authority and therefore not recognised in agency financial statements.

Unearned contract revenue
Unearned contract revenue mainly relate to consideration received in advance from the Commonwealth under the
National Partnership Agreements for Barkly Regional Deal and Disaster Risk Reduction. Unearned contract revenue
balance as at 30 June 2021 is $3.195 million (balance at 1 July 2020 was $2.309 million).
Of the amount included in the unearned contract revenue balance as at 1 July 2020, $1.107 million has been
recognised as revenue in 2020-21.
The agency anticipates to recognise as revenue, any liabilities for unsatisfied obligations as at the end of the
reporting period in accordance with the time bands below:
2021
$000

2020
$000

3 195

2 309

Later than one year and not later than five years

-

-

Later than five years

-

-

3 195

2 309

Not later than one year

Total
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19. Commitments
Commitments are those contracted as at 30 June where the amount of the future commitment can be
reliably measured.
Disclosures in relation to capital and other commitments are detailed below:

2021

2020

Internal
$000

External
$000

Internal
$000

External
$000

Capital expenditure commitments primarily related to
the construction of buildings. Capital expenditure
commitments contracted for at balance date but not
recognised as liabilities are payable as follows:

-

-

-

-

Within one year

-

-

-

-

Later than one year and not later than five years

-

-

-

-

Later than five years

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Within one year

623

10 276

493

6 078

Later than one year and not later than five years

879

16 858

600

4 604

-

2 100

-

-

1 502

29 234

1 093

10 683

(i) Capital expenditure commitments

(ii) Other expenditure commitments
Other non-cancellable expenditure commitments not
recognised as liabilities are payable as follows:

Later than five years
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20. Reserves
Asset revaluation surplus
(i) Nature and purpose of the asset revaluation surplus
The asset revaluation surplus includes the net revaluation increments and decrements arising from the revaluation of
non-current assets. Impairment adjustments may also be recognised in the asset revaluation surplus.

Land

Buildings

Total

2021
$000

2020
$000

2021
$000

2020
$000

2021
$000

2020
$000

9 576

11 481

248

-

9 824

11 481

Changes in accounting policies

-

-

-

-

-

-

Correction of prior period errors

-

-

-

-

-

-

Revaluation increment/(decrement)

-

(1 905)

-

248

-

(1 657)

1 809

-

-

-

1 809

-

11 385

9 576

248

248

11 633

9 824

(ii) Movements in the asset
revaluation surplus
Balance as at 1 July

Other
Balance as at 30 June
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21. Fair value measurement
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date.
Fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant’s ability to generate
economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market participant that
would use the asset in its highest and best use. The highest and best use takes into account the use of the asset
that is physically possible, legally permissible and financially feasible.
When measuring fair value, the valuation techniques used maximise the use of relevant observable inputs and
minimise the use of unobservable inputs. Unobservable inputs are used to the extent that sufficient relevant and
reliable observable inputs are not available for similar assets/liabilities.
Observable inputs are publicly available data relevant to the characteristics of the assets/liabilities being valued.
Observable inputs used by the agency include, but are not limited to, published sales data for land and general
office buildings.
Unobservable inputs are data, assumptions and judgments not available publicly but relevant to the characteristics
of the assets/liabilities being valued. Such inputs include internal agency adjustments to observable data to take
account of particular and potentially unique characteristics/functionality of assets/liabilities and assessments of
physical condition and remaining useful life.
All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised
within the following fair value hierarchy based on the inputs used:
Level 1 – inputs are quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities
Level 2 – inputs are inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the
asset or liability, either directly or indirectly
Level 3 – inputs are unobservable.
The fair value of financial instruments is determined on the following basis:
• the fair value of cash, deposits, advances, receivables and payables approximates their carrying amount,
which is also their amortised cost
• the fair value of derivative financial instruments are derived using current market yields and exchange rates
appropriate to the instrument
• the fair value of other monetary financial assets and liabilities is based on discounting to present value the
expected future cash flows by applying current market interest rates for assets and liabilities with similar risk
profiles.
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There were no transfers between Level 1 and Levels 2 or 3 during 2020-21.

13
7 723

Transport equipment (Note 13)
Work in Progress (Note 13)
Total assets
14 575

-

Computer hardware (Note 13)

18 178

3

7 364

Computer software (Note 13)

14 575

2021
$000

343

18 178

2020
$000

Level 3

Plant & equipment (Note 13)

Assets
Land (Note 13)
Buildings (Note 13)

2021
$000

Level 2

286
7 471

-

26

659

6 500

2020
$000

13
25 901

-

3

343

18 178
7 364

2021
$000

Total fair value

The table below presents non-financial assets recognised at fair value in the balance sheet categorised by levels of inputs used to compute fair value.

286
22 045

-

26

659

14 575
6 500

2020
$000

The agency does not recognise any financial assets or liabilities at fair value as these are recognised at amortised cost. The carrying amounts of these financial
assets and liabilities approximates their fair value.

a) Fair value hierarchy

b) Valuation techniques and inputs
Valuation techniques used to measure fair value in 2020-21 are:
Level 2
Techniques

Level 3
Techniques

Asset classes
Land (Note 13)

Market approach

Buildings (Note 13)

Cost approach

Plant & equipment (Note 13)

Cost approach

Computer software (Note 13)

Cost approach

Computer hardware (Note 13)

Cost approach

There were no changes in valuation techniques from 2019-20 to 2020-21.
Level 2 fair values of land and buildings were based on market evidence of sales price per square metre of
comparable land and buildings.
Level 3 fair values of specialised buildings and infrastructure were determined by computing their current
replacement costs because an active market does not exist for such facilities. The current replacement cost
was based on a combination of internal records of the historical cost of the facilities, adjusted for contemporary
technology and construction approaches. Significant judgement was also used in assessing the remaining service
potential of the facilities, given local environmental conditions, projected usage, and records of the current condition
of the facilities.
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-

Transfers from Level 2

Transfers to Level 2

Fair value as at 30 June 2020

6 500

248

-

Gains/losses recognised in net surplus/deficit

Gains/losses recognised in other comprehensive income

-

Additions/(Disposals) from asset transfer

(189)

-

Disposals

Depreciation

-

Additions

Fair value as at 1 July 2019

6 441

7 364

Fair value as at 30 June 2021

2019-20

(198)
1 062
-

-

6 500
-

659

-

(35)

(40)

(430)

-

-

-

378

785

343

(415)
-

-

659
98
-

$000

$000

Transfers to Level 2
Depreciation
Additions/(Disposals) from asset transfer
Gains/losses recognised in net surplus/deficit
Gains/losses recognised in other comprehensive income

Transfers from Level 2

2020-21
Fair value as at 1 July 2020
Additions
Disposals

Plant and
Equipment

Buildings

26

-

(29)

-

(32)

-

-

-

47

41

3

(24)
-

-

26
-

$000

Computer
Software

-

-

-

(8)

-

-

-

-

-

8

-

-

-

-

$000

Computer
Hardware

(i) Reconciliation of recurring level 3 fair value measurements of non-financial assets

c) Additional information for level 3 fair value measurements

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

13

(1)
-

-

14
-

$000

Transport
Equipment

286

-

-

286

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

(286)
-

-

286
-

$000

Work in
Progress

(ii) Sensitivity analysis
Buildings –unobservable inputs used in computing the fair value of buildings include the historical cost and the
consumed economic benefit for each building. Given the large number of agency buildings, it is not practical to
compute a relevant summary measure for the unobservable inputs. In respect of sensitivity of fair value to changes in
input value, a higher historical cost results in a higher fair value and greater consumption of economic benefit lowers
fair value.
Plant, equipment, computer software and transport equipment – unobservable inputs used in computing the fair
value of plant, equipment, computer software and transport equipment include the historical cost and the consumed
economic benefit. Given the large number of agency plant, equipment, computer software and transport equipment
included, it is not practical to compute a relevant summary measure for the unobservable inputs. In respect of
sensitivity of fair value to changes in input value, a higher historical cost results in a higher fair value and greater
consumption of economic benefit lowers fair value.

22. Financial instruments
A financial instrument is a contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial liability or equity
instrument of another entity.
Financial assets and liabilities are recognised on the balance sheet when the agency becomes a party to the
contractual provisions of the financial instrument. The agency’s financial instruments include cash and deposits;
receivables; advances paid; payables.
Due to the nature of operating activities, certain financial assets and financial liabilities arise under statutory
obligations rather than a contract. Such financial assets and liabilities do not meet the definition of financial
instruments as per AASB 132 Financial Instruments: Presentation. These include statutory receivables arising from
taxes including GST and penalties.
The agency has limited exposure to financial risks as discussed below.
Exposure to interest rate risk, foreign exchange risk, credit risk, price risk and liquidity risk arise in the normal course
of activities. The Territory Government’s investments, loans and placements, and borrowings are predominantly
managed through the NTTC adopting strategies to minimise the risk. Derivative financial arrangements are also
utilised to manage financial risks inherent in the management of these financial instruments. These arrangements
include swaps, forward interest rate agreements and other hedging instruments to manage fluctuations in interest or
exchange rates.
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-

-

Payables1
Total financial liabilities

2019-20
Cash and deposits
Receivables1
Advances paid
Total financial assets

Payables1
Total financial liabilities

Total amounts disclosed here exclude statutory amounts, prepaid expenses and accrued contract revenue

-

Total financial assets

1

-

-

-

-

-

-

$000

$000

2020-21
Cash and deposits
Receivables1
Advances paid

Designated at
fair value

Mandatorily at
fair value

Fair value through profit or loss

(60)
(60)

14 747
157
200
15 104

(71)
(71)

62 950

54 332
400
8 218

$000

Amortised
cost

The carrying amounts of the agency’s financial assets and liabilities by category are disclosed in the table below.

a) Categories of financial instruments

-

-

-

-

-

$000

Fair value
through other
comprehensive
income

(60)
(60)

14 747
157
200
15 104

(71)
(71)

62 950

54 332
400
8 218

$000

Total

Categories of financial instruments
The agency’s financial instruments are classified in accordance with AASB 9.
Financial assets are classified under the following categories:
• amortised cost
• fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI)
• fair value through profit and loss (FVTPL).
Financial liabilities are classified under the following categories:
• amortised cost
• fair value through profit and loss (FVTPL).
These classification are based on the agency’s business model for managing the financial assets and the contractual
terms of the cash flows. Where assets are measured at fair value, gains and losses will either be recorded in profit or
loss, or other comprehensive income.
Financial instruments are reclassified when and only when the agency’s business model for managing those assets
changes.
Financial assets with embedded derivatives are considered in their entirety when determining whether their cash
flows are solely payment of principal and interest.

Financial assets at amortised cost
Financial assets are classified at amortised cost when they are held by the agency to collect the contractual cash
flows and the contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest.
These assets are initially recognised at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method, less impairment. The agency’s financial assets categorised at amortised cost include cash and
deposits, receivables and advances paid.

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income
Financial assets are classified at fair value through other comprehensive income when they are held by the agency to
both collect contractual cash flows and sell the financial assets, and the contractual cash flows are solely payments
of principal and interest.
These assets are initially and subsequently recognised at fair value. Changes in the fair value are recognised in
other comprehensive income, except for the recognition of impairment gains or losses and interest income which
are recognised in the operating result in the comprehensive operating statement. When financial assets are
derecognised, the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in other comprehensive income is reclassified from
equity to the comprehensive operating statement.
For equity instruments elected to be categorised at FVOCI, changes in fair value recognised in other comprehensive
income are not reclassified to profit or loss on derecognition of the asset. Dividends from such instruments continue
to be recognised in the comprehensive operating statement as other income when the agency’s right to receive
payments is established.
The agency does not have any financial assets under this category.
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Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Financial assets are classified at FVTPL where they do not meet the criteria for amortised cost or FVOCI. These
assets are initially and subsequently recognised at fair value with gains or losses recognised in the net result for the
year.
The agency’s financial assets categorised at FVTPL include investments in managed unit trusts and certain debt
instruments. Unrealised gains in relation to these investments are recognised in other economic flows in the
comprehensive operating statement, however realised gains are recognised in the net result.
The agency does not have any financial assets under this category.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost
Financial liabilities at amortised cost are initially measured at fair value, net of directly attributable transaction costs.
These are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method. The agency’s financial
liabilities categorised at amortised cost include all accounts payable.
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
Financial liabilities are classified at FVTPL when the liabilities are either held for trading or designated as FVTPL.
Financial liabilities classified at FVTPL are initially and subsequently measured at fair value with gains or losses
recognised in the net result for the year.
For financial liabilities designated at FVTPL, changes in the fair value of the liability attributable to changes in the
agency’s credit risk are recognised in other comprehensive income, while remaining changes in the fair value are
recognised in the net result.
The agency does not have any financial liabilities under this category.

Derivatives
The agency may enter into a variety of derivative financial instruments to manage its exposure to interest rate risk.
The agency does not speculate on trading of derivatives.
Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date a derivative contract is entered in to and are
subsequently remeasured at their fair value at each reporting date. The resulting gain or loss is recognised in the
comprehensive operating statement immediately unless the derivative is designated and qualifies as an effective
hedging instrument, in which event, the timing of the recognition in the comprehensive operating statement
depends on the nature of the hedge relationship. Application of hedge accounting will only be available where
specific designation and effectiveness criteria are satisfied.

Netting of swap transactions
The agency, from time to time, may facilitate certain structured finance arrangements, where a legally recognised
right to set-off financial assets and liabilities exists, and the Territory intends to settle on a net basis. Where these
arrangements occur, the revenues and expenses are offset and the net amount is recognised in the comprehensive
operating statement.
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b) Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will cause financial loss for the other party by failing
to discharge an obligation
The agency has limited credit risk exposure (risk of default). In respect of any dealings with organisations
external to government, the agency has adopted a policy of only dealing with credit worthy organisations and
obtaining sufficient collateral or other security where appropriate, as a means of mitigating the risk of financial
loss from defaults.
The carrying amount of financial assets recorded in the financial statements, net of any allowances for losses,
represents the agency’s maximum exposure to credit risk without taking account of the value of any collateral or
other security obtained.
Credit risk relating to receivables is disclosed in Note 11 - Receivables and advances paid in
Note 12 – Advances and investments.

c) Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk the agency will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The agency’s
approach to managing liquidity is to ensure it will always have sufficient funds to meet its liabilities when they
fall due. This is achieved by ensuring minimum levels of cash are held in the agency bank account to meet various
current employee and supplier liabilities. The agency’s exposure to liquidity risk is minimal. Cash injections are
available from the Central Holding Authority in the event of one-off extraordinary expenditure items arise that
deplete cash to levels that compromise the agency’s ability to meet its financial obligations.
The following tables detail the agency’s remaining contractual maturity for its financial liabilities, calculated based
on undiscounted cash flows at reporting date. The undiscounted cash flows in these tables differ from the amounts
included in the balance sheet, which are based on discounted cash flows.

Maturity analysis for financial liabilities
Carrying
amount

Less than a
Year

1 to 5
Years

More than 5
Years

Total

$000

$000

$000

$000

$000

2021
Liabilities
Payables
Total financial liabilities

71
71

71
71

-

-

71
71

2020
Liabilities
Payables
Total financial liabilities

60
60

60
60

-

-

60
60
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d) Market risk
Market risk is the risk the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in
market prices. It comprises interest rate risk, price risk and currency risk.
(i) Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of
changes in market interest rate.
The agency’s exposure to interest rate risk by asset and liability classes is disclosed on the next page.

Interest rate risk for financial assets and liabilities
Interest
bearing

Non-interest
bearing

Total

Weighted
average

%

Variable

Fixed

$000

$000

$000

$000

8 018
8 018

-

54 332
400
200
54 932

54 332
400
8 218
62 950

-

-

(71)
(71)

(71)
(71)

Cash and deposits

-

-

14 747

14 747

Receivables

-

-

157

157

Advances

-

-

200

200

Total financial assets

-

-

15 104

15 104

Payables

-

-

(60)

(60)

Total financial liabilities

-

-

(60)

(60)

2021
Assets
Cash and deposits
Receivables
Advances
Total financial assets
Liabilities
Payables
Total financial liabilities
2020
Assets

Liabilities
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2.08

Sensitivity analysis
Changes in the variable rates of 100 basis points (1 per cent) at reporting date would have the following effect on
the agency’s profit or loss and equity.
Profit or loss and equity
100 basis
points
increase

100 basis
points
decrease

$000

$000

Financial assets – advances

80

(80)

Net sensitivity

80

(80)

Financial assets – advances

-

-

Net sensitivity

-

-

30 June 2021

30 June 2020

(ii) Price risk
The agency is not exposed to price risk as the agency does not hold units in unit trusts.
(iii) Currency risk
The agency is not exposed to currency risk as the agency does not hold borrowings denominated in foreign
currencies or transactional currency exposures arising from purchases in a foreign currency.
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23. Related parties
i) Related parties
The Department of the Chief Minister and Cabinet is a government administrative entity and is wholly owned and
controlled by the Territory Government. Related parties of the department include:
• the portfolio minister and key management personnel (KMP) because they have authority and responsibility for
planning, directing and controlling the activities of the department directly
• close family members of the portfolio minister or KMP including spouses, children and dependants
• all public sector entities that are controlled and consolidated into the whole of government financial statements
• any entities controlled or jointly controlled by KMP’s or the portfolio minister, or controlled or jointly controlled by
their close family members.

ii) Key management personnel (KMP)
Key management personnel of the Department of the Chief Minister and Cabinet are those persons having authority
and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of Department. These include the Chief
Minister and agency portfolio ministers, the Chief Executive Officer and the 12 members of the executive team of
the Department as listed on page 73.

iii) Remuneration of key management personnel
The details below excludes the salaries and other benefits of the Chief Minister and agency portfolio ministers
as the minister's remunerations and allowances are payable by the Department of the Legislative Assembly and
consequently disclosed within the Treasurer’s annual financial statements.
The aggregate compensation of key management personnel of the agency is set out below:
2021
$000

2020
$000

3 158

2 921

265

247

Long-term benefits

-

-

Termination benefits

-

-

3 423

3 168

Short-term benefits
Post-employment benefits

Total
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iv) Related party transactions:
Transactions with Northern Territory Government-controlled entities
The department’s primary ongoing source of funding is received from the Central Holding Authority in the form
of output and capital appropriation and on-passed Commonwealth national partnership and specific-purpose
payments.
The following table provides quantitative information about related party transactions entered into during the year
with all other Northern Territory Government-controlled entities.

Related Party

Revenue from
related parties
$000

Payments to
related parties
$000

Amounts
owed by
related parties
$000

Amounts
owed to
related parties
$000

12 946

37 822

146

542

992

1 721

19

38

13 939

39 543

165

579

10 367

13 730

20

644

387

2 056

37

76

10 754

15 786

57

720

2021
All NTG Government departments
Subsidiaries
Total
2020
All NTG Government departments
Subsidiaries
Total

The department’s transactions with other government entities are not individually significant.
Other related party transactions are as follows:
Given the breadth and depth of Territory Government activities, related parties will transact with the Territory public
sector in a manner consistent with other me mbers of the public including paying stamp duty and other government
fees and charges and therefore these transactions have not been disclosed. There are no other related party
transactions in excess of $10 000 or on non-standard terms and conditions that may be reported.
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24. Contingent liabilities and contingent assets
a) Contingent liabilities
The agency did not have quantitatively material contingent liabilities as at 30 June 2021. In relation to the reporting
of contingent liabilities, the Treasurer has determined a materiality threshold of $5 million.
Details of unquantifiable but material contingent liabilities as at 30 June 2021 granted by the agency are presented
as follows:

Trustees appointed to Reserves established under section 79
Trustees appointed to Reserves established under section 79 of the Crown Lands Act 1992 are indemnified against
all actions, proceedings, claims, demands, liabilities, losses, expenses (legal or otherwise) and payments whatsoever
arising out of or in respect of an act or thing done or omitted to be done by Trustees during the term of the
appointment. To date there have been no claims.

North East Gas Interconnector Project
Contingent considerations in relation to the North East Gas Interconnector Project Development Agreement
are considered unlikely and consequently no contingent liabilities have been disclosed at the reporting date. The
Territory will continue to assess any risks under the arrangement and determine whether any future disclosure is
required.

Darwin Luxury Hotel
A series of indemnities have been provided in support of the Darwin Luxury Hotel Development under the Luxury
Hotel Transaction Documentation, however, the risks associated with the indemnities are considered low and
therefore no reportable contingent liabilities at the reporting date. These indemnities have expired on 1 July 2021.

b) Contingent assets
The agency had no contingent assets as at 30 June 2021 or 30 June 2020.

25. Events subsequent to balance date
No events have arisen between the end of the financial year and the date of this report that require adjustment to,
or disclosure in these financial statements.

26. Schedule of administered Territory items
The agency does not have any Territory items (refer Note 2(d)).
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27. Budgetary information
Comprehensive operating
statement
INCOME
Grants and subsidies revenue
Current
Appropriation
Output
Commonwealth
Sales of goods and services
Interest revenue
Goods and services received free of charge
Other income
TOTAL INCOME
EXPENSES
Employee expenses
Administrative expenses
Purchases of goods and services
Depreciation and amortisation
Other administrative expenses
Grants and subsidies expenses
Current
Capital
TOTAL EXPENSES
NET SURPLUS/(DEFICIT)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Items that will not be reclassified to
net surplus/deficit
Changes in accounting policies
Correction of prior period errors
Changes in asset revaluation surplus
Other
TOTAL OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
COMPREHENSIVE RESULT

2020-21
Actual
$000

2020-21
Original
budget
$000

Variance
$000

2 238

2 188

50

216 551
52 173
7 823
654
9 230
1 589
290 258

218 364
54 135
8 178
11 995
165
295 025

(1 813)
(1 962)
(355)
654
(2 765)
1 424
(4 767)

1
2

72 973

70 295

2 678

5

28 335
637
9 874

39 217
442
11 995

(10 882)
195
(2 121)

6

97 918
49 551
259 288
30 970

111 209
75 483
308 641
(13 616)

(13 291)
(25 932)
(49 353)
44 586

7
8

4 615
4 615

9

Note

3
4

3

̶
̶
̶
4 615
4 615
35 584

̶
̶
(13 616)

49 201
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Notes:
1. Decrease is predominantly due to revised funding profile of Team rebound from 2020-21 to 2021-22.
2. Mainly reflects accounting treatment of National Partnership revenue for Disaster Risk Reduction and
Barkly Regional Deal.
3. Variation due to Department of Corporate and Digital Development billing of services provided free of charge.
4. Increase mainly reflects one-off revenue received in 2020-21.
5. Increase reflects realignment of agency employee profile following machinery of government changes.
6. Variation due to timing of Local Jobs Fund, major projects facilitation initiatives including Jabiru and Kakadu
Futures, Hydraulic Fracturing Implementation Management and Partnerships and System Reform.
7. Variation reflects timing of expenditure for Barkly Regional Deal, Local Jobs Fund Priority Sector Growth program
and Commonwealth National Partnership Disaster Risk Reduction program.
8. Variation reflects timing of expenditure for Local Jobs Fund Infrastructure Grant program and profile of Jabiru and
Kakadu Futures.
9. Reflects machinery of government changes for transfer in of functions relating to Local Government and Office of
the Commissioner for Public Employment.
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2020-21
Actual
$000

2020-21
Original
Budget
$000

Variance
$000

Cash and deposits
Receivables
Advances and investments
Prepayments
Total current assets

54 332
1 623
1 013
510
57 478

4 644
921
15 000
316
20 881

49 688
702
(13 987)
194
36 597

1

Non-current assets
Receivables
Advances and investments
Property, plant and equipment
Other assets
Total non-current assets
TOTAL ASSETS

7 205
25 901
33 106
90 584

200
25 204
2
25 406
46 287

7 005
697
(2)
7 700
44 297

2

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities
Payables
Provisions
Other liabilities
Total current liabilities

5 347
9 013
3 226
17 586

2 350
8 819
20
11 189

2 997
194
3 206
6 397

3

Non-current liabilities
Provisions
Other liabilities
Total non-current liabilities
TOTAL LIABILITIES

17 586

11 189

6 397

NET ASSETS

72 998

35 098

37 900

85 012
11 633
(23 646)
72 998

91 697
11 633
(68 232)
35 098

(6 685)
44 586
37 901

Balance Sheet

Note

ASSETS
Current assets

EQUITY
Capital
Reserves
Accumulated funds
TOTAL EQUITY
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Notes:
1. Increase predominantly due to timing of Local Jobs Fund, major projects facilitation initiatives including Jabiru and
Kakadu Futures, Commonwealth National Partnership Disaster Risk Reduction program and Barkly Regional Deal
including Northern Territory and Commonwealth National Partnership funding.
2. Variation predominantly due to Local Jobs Fund.
3. Variance mainly due to recognition of Barkly Regional Deal.
4. Increase due to Commonwealth National Partnership Disaster Risk Reduction and Barkly Regional Deal.
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2020-21
Actual
$000

2020-21
Original
Budget
$000

Variance
$000

2 238

2 188

50

216 551
68 027
13 297
128
300 242

218 364
66 426
10 452
297 430

(1 813)
1 601
2 845
128
2 811

1
2
3

69 005
30 837

66 890
41 597

2 115
(10 760)

4
5

117 446
49 551
266 840
33 402

131 709
75 483
315 679
(18 249)

(14 263)
(25 932)
(48 840)
51 651

6
7

164
164

-

164
164

Investing payments
Purchases of assets
Advances and investing payments
Total investing payments
Net cash from/(used in) investing activities

113
8 937
9 050
(8 886)

15 000
15 000
(15 000)

113
(6 063)
(5 950)
6 114

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Financing receipts
Equity injections
Capital appropriation
Commonwealth appropriation
Other equity injections
Total financing receipts

138
(500)
18 924
18 562

26 304
26 304

138
(500)
(7 380)
(7 742)

Financing payments
Equity withdrawals
Total financing payments
Net cash from/(used in) financing activities
Net increase/(decrease) in cash held
Cash at beginning of financial year
CASH AT END OF FINANCIAL YEAR

(3 493)
(3 493)
15 069
39 585
14 747
54 332

(3 158)
(3 158)
23 146
(10 103)
14 747
4 644

(335)
(335)
(8 077)
49 688
49 688

Cash Flow Statement
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Operating receipts
Grants and subsidies received
Current
Appropriation
Output
Commonwealth
Receipts from sales of goods and services
Interest received
Total operating receipts
Operating payments
Payments to employees
Payments for goods and services
Grants and subsidies paid
Current
Capital
Total operating payments
Net cash from/(used in) operating activities
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Investing receipts
Repayment of advances
Total investing receipts

Note
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Notes:
1. Variation is predominantly due to revised funding profile of Team rebound from 2020-21 to 2021-22.
2. Variation mainly reflects accounting treatment of Commonwealth National Partnership revenue for Disaster
Risk Reduction and Barkly Regional Deal.
3. GST refunds and payments to the Australian Taxation Office that are not budgeted.
4. Variation reflects realignment of agency employee profile following machinery of government changes.
5. Variation due to timing of Local Jobs Fund, major projects facilitation initiatives including Jabiru and Kakadu
Futures, Hydraulic Fracturing Implementation Management and Partnerships and System Reform.
6. Variation reflects timing of expenditure for Barkly Regional Deal, Local Jobs Fund Priority Sector Growth
program and Commonwealth National Partnership Disaster Risk Reduction program.
7. Variation reflects timing of expenditure for Local Jobs Fund Infrastructure Grant program and profile of Jabiru
and Kakadu Futures.

145 |

Department of the Chief Minister and Cabinet 2020-21 Annual Report

SEC TION 6
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Appendix 1
Grant programs paid in 2020-21
Community Support Grants
Amount paid
(GST exclusive)
$

Organisation

Purpose

Australia Day Council NT Inc.

Funding for the Council to promote and administer
Australia Day events across the Northern Territory

Australian Red Cross Society

Support fundraising for Timor-Leste floods &
landslides

5 000

Australian Red Cross Society

To support people and communities during crisis
- Red Cross Calling

2 000

Australian Stock Horse Society NT
Branch Incorporated

Prize money for 2021 Australian Stock Horse Society
Katherine Campdraft

Autism NT

To support the cost of entertainment at the Autism NT
Luncheon 2020

3 000

Carers NT

Contribution towards the cost of installing two
backup power generators for the Nhulunbuy Aged and
Disability Accommodation Centre

40 000

Charles Darwin University

Prize money to CDU for 2021 Chief Minister's Award
for Science

1 000

Darwin Community Legal Service Inc.

Support the purchase of art material to enable
vulnerable people to participate in the
'Rights on Show 2020' exhibition

Forrest PR

Support for the International Men’s day Forum to
improve gender relations and promote unity

Indian Cultural Society Inc.

To assist with costs of holding the
'lndia@Mindil 2021' event

Islamic Society Of Darwin

To purchase juice, dates, rice groceries, meat,
vegetables, spices and cutlery for the EID Festival
Celebration Dinner

2 000

Kalymnian Brotherhood Darwin
Incorporated

Contribution towards the electrical upgrade and
the removal and replacement of the ceiling at the
Kalymnian Brotherhood Hall

178 885

Kokoda Industries Ausdesigns,
Helping People Achieve

Replacing the roof of the Kokoda Industries Workshop

100 000

Larrakia Nation Aboriginal
Corporation

To deliver Wet weather respite for up to 100 clients
per night during prolonged wet weather events in
Darwin during the wet season

206 135

500

500

3 000
20 000

87 034

Continued on next page
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Community Support Grants
Amount paid
(GST exclusive)
$

Organisation

Purpose

Mataranka Better Half Club Inc.

Supporting the Mataranka Never Never Festival
Campdraft May 2021

National Disability Services Limited

To develop an industry led Northern Territory Human
Services Industry Plan

Northern Territory Council of Social
Service

Peak Body Funding - NT Council for Social Services

807 351

NT Legal Aid Commission

To support the costs of products and materials for
the 30th Anniversary of Northern Territory Legal Aid
Commission

10 000

NT Timor Chinese Association Inc.

Support fundraising for Timor-Leste floods &
landslides

5 000

Palmerston and Litchield Seniors
Association Inc.

Support day trips to Corroboree & Adelaide River as
part of 2020 Seniors Month Events (events 5 & 8)

6 575

Portuguese & Timorese Social
Club Inc.

Support fundraising for Timor-Leste floods &
landslides

5 000

Rotary Club of Litchfield/Palmerston

Support fundraising for Timor-Leste floods &
landslides

5 000

The Trustee for The Salvation Army
(NT) Property Trust

A donation towards the Red Shield Community
appeal 2020

5 000

The University of Newcastle

Supporting the Darwin Science & Engineering
challenge 2021

1 500

Thoroughbred Racing NT

Sponsorship for the Chief Minister's Footraces at
Tennant Creek cup day 2021

1 000

Top End Folk Club

To support the costs of the 50th Top Half Folk Festival

Top End Pride

Darwin Pride Festival 2020

2 000

Total Recreation NT Inc.

Supporting holding of the Dancing with Celebrities
Tropical Soiree event

1 750

Unions NT

Peak Body Funding 2020-21 Unions NT

Volunteering SA and NT Inc.

Support the NT Volunteer of the year 2020 awards

Walking Off The War Within Inc.

Sponsorship of the 'Walking Off The War Within'
event 2021

Total

500
30 663

10 000

276 927
27 500
1 000
1 845 820
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Local Government Grants Programs
Northern Territory Operational Subsidy
The Northern Territory Operational Subsidy funding provided by the Northern Territory Government is the main
funding source helping to provide local government services.
In 2020-21, $31.5 million was allocated to the nine local government regional councils as well as the Belyuen,
Coomalie and Wagait councils.

Table: Northern Territory Operational Subsidy
Council
Barkly Regional Council
Belyuen Community Government Council
Central Desert Regional Council*
Coomalie Community Government Council

Amount paid
$
4 319 644
82 385
2 544 730
645 052

East Arnhem Regional Council

6 556 743

MacDonnell Regional Council

4 109 985

Roper Gulf Regional Council

4 455 940

Tiwi Islands Regional Council

1 500 721

Victoria Daly Regional Council

1 628 032

Wagait Shire Council

208 021

West Arnhem Regional Council

3 696 266

West Daly Regional Council

1 752 481

Total

31 500 000

*The actual payment to Central Desert Regional Council was $71 800 less due to surplus Natural Disaster Relief and Recovery funds retained by
council and which was offset against their 2020-21 allocation.
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Reserves and Other Organisations
In 2020-21, the Department provided funding of $395 100 to five organisations that, while not local governing
bodies, provide local government services around the Northern Territory through necessity.

Table: Reserves and other Organisations
Amount paid
$

Organisation

Purpose

Blatherskite Park Reserve

Operational funding

160 000

Katherine Town Council

Operational funding for the community of Binjari

139 100

Nhulunbuy Public Cemetery Trust

Operational funding

10 000

Robbie Robins Reserve

Operational funding

75 000

Roper Gulf Regional Council

Operational funding for the community of Larrimah

9 000

Roper Gulf Regional Council

Operational funding for the Mataranka (Else) Cemetery

2 000

Total

395 100
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Local Authority Project Funding
Local authority project funding supports projects that encourage the continued development of local authorities
and their communities.
The funding aims to:
• build stronger communities
• help local governing bodies and their communities become stronger and self-sustaining
• provide quality community infrastructure that facilitates community activity and integration
• develop local government capacity to provide legitimate representation, effective governance, improved
service delivery and sustainable development.
The funding pool is distributed to local authorities through a methodology developed by the Northern Territory
Grants Commission.
In 2020-21, the Department provided $4.9 million in funding to nine councils.

Table: Local authority project funding
Amount paid
$

Council
Barkly Regional Council

338 086

Central Desert Regional Council

542 800

East Arnhem Regional Council

1 242 200

MacDonnell Regional Council

568 400

Roper Gulf Regional Council

445 998

Tiwi Islands Regional Council

357 800

Victoria Daly Regional Council

333 600

West Arnhem Regional Council

626 500

West Daly Regional Council

465 700

Total

4 921 084

One-off Grants
In 2020-21, the final instalment of a multi-year grant approved by the minister under the former Strategic Local
Government Infrastructure Fund totalling $234 717 was paid to Victoria Daly Regional Council.

Table: One-off grants
Organisation

Purpose

Victoria Daly Regional Council

Timber Creek waste management facility upgrades

Total
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Amount paid
$
234 717
234 717
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Indigenous Jobs Development Funding
The Department funds councils that provide local government services to subsidise the employment of Aboriginal
people working in local government service delivery.
The funding aims to subsidise the cost of employing Aboriginal people across regional councils and the Belyuen
Community Government Council, support the delivery of local government outcomes in the councils' strategic and
operational plans and support Aboriginal employment.
In 2020-21, the Department provided $8.6 million in funding to 10 councils to support local jobs.

Table: Indigenous Jobs Development Funding
Council
Barkly Regional Council
Belyuen Community Government Council
Central Desert Regional Council

Amount paid
$
1 117 361
40 373
693 886

East Arnhem Regional Council

1 248 787

MacDonnell Regional Council

1 466 770

Roper Gulf Regional Council

1 295 253

Tiwi Islands Regional Council

646 238

Victoria Daly Regional Council

682 905

West Arnhem Regional Council

835 909

West Daly Regional Council

592 000

Total

8 619 482
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Commercial Rates Replenishment Fund
In 2020-21, an amount of $769 491 was paid as one-off grants under the Commercial Rates Replenishment to
councils where they granted a 25 per cent rate concession for commercial ratepayers facing financial hardship due to
the COVID-19 pandemic.

Table: Commercial Rates Replenishment fund
Council
Alice Springs Town Council
Barkly Regional Council
City of Darwin
City of Palmerston

Amount paid
$
273 166
20 820
331 926
28 269

Coomalie Community Government Council

6 664

East Arnhem Regional Council

1 678

Katherine Town Council

42 907

Litchfield Council

12 196

MacDonnell Regional Council

1 226

Roper Gulf Regional Council

1 399

Victoria Daly Regional Council

2 560

West Arnhem Regional Council

46 680

Total
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Local Government Priority Infrastructure Fund
The 2020-21, $4.4 million Local Government Priority Infrastructure Fund was an application based program that
enabled councils the opportunity to apply for funding for local government infrastructure related projects that can be
commenced immediately with an intended completion date of 31 October 2021.

Table: Local Government Priority Infrastructure Fund
Amount paid
$

Council

Project

Belyuen Community Government
Council

To purchase and install solar panels and two internal
air coolers for the Council workshop and Solar panels,
upgrade lighting to LED, replace 4 wall fans and faulty
power points at the community hall

Barkly Regional Council

Towards priority re-sealing of roads in the Tennant
Creek township: Peko Road, Perry Drive, Davidson
Street and Thompson Street

Blatherskite Park Trustees Inc.

To enable urgent remediation works for failing water
infrastructure at the Blatherskite Park Reserve

94 000

Blatherskite Park Trustees Inc.

To complete Stage 3 (428 metres) and an extra
424 metres of PVC water main upgrades by replacing
old underground pipe lines and water valves to fire
hydrant points throughout the Blatherskite Reserve

238 684

Blatherskite Park Trustees Inc.

To complete all stages of the water mains upgrade
and to conduct an asset management review of the
Blatherskite Park assets

428 116

Central Desert Regional Council

Towards the upgrade (reform and gravel re-sheet) of
the Willowra Road at chainage 18.2km to 23.2km

504 727

City of Darwin

Towards the installation of security perimeter and
vermin control fencing at the Shoal Bay Waste
Management Facility

322 670

City of Palmerston

Towards stage 1 upgrade of the Archer Waste
Management Facility, works to include: design,
relocation of gate house, construction of recycling area
(no roof) and construction of general waste push-pit
area (with roof)

400 000

Coomalie Community Government
Council

Towards the purchase of a 15kva generator hard wired
and installed at the council office on concrete slab in
fenced enclosure, a portable 5.5kv generator, upgrade
of VHF radios and 4 x satellite phones, emergency
signage and small portable plant to assist with
emergency and disaster preparedness, response
and recovery

63 234

95 056

350 000

Continued on next page
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Table: Local Government Priority Infrastructure Fund
Amount paid
$

Council

Project

Katherine Town Council

To upgrade the Katherine Hot Springs car park

Katherine Town Council

Towards the upgrade the Katherine Sports Precinct
netball courts ablution block

Litchfield Council

For irrigation expansion and upgrades at the Thorak
Regional Cemetery with works to include: Installation
of new bore, tanks and variable pumps and high
pressure irrigation lines and systems

Litchfield Council

To purchase and install solar panels at the Thorak
Regional Cemetery and the Humpty Doo Waste
Transfer Station

MacDonnell Regional Council

Towards the installation of security window
screens and external security screen doors to
prevent unauthorised access to staff housing in the
communities of Areyonga, Docker River, Finke,
Haasts Bluff, Imanpa, Mt. Liebig, Papunya, Santa
Teresa and Titjikala

203 880

Robbie Robbins Reserve

To install a steel roof structure to shade cattle when
they are housed in the stock yards of the rodeo
arena facilities at Robbie Robbins Reserve to enable
compliance with animal welfare requirements

200 000

Victoria Daly Regional Council

Towards the demolition and replacement of beyond
repair staff housing at Lot 55 Yarralin

350 000

Wagait Shire Council

Towards the construction of a safer access, egress and
parking for Cloppenburg Park

100 000

West Arnhem Regional Council

Towards Warruwi Airport Road drainage construction

300 000

West Daly Regional Council

To purchase a new backhoe for the Nganmarriyanga
community

171 433

West Daly Regional Council

To extend by three additional bays including a wash
down slab, LED lighting, power and re-roofing of the
Council's civil shed in Nganmarriyanga

116 313

Total
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221 402
75 205
153 805

39 591

4 428 116

Department of the Chief Minister and Cabinet 2020-21 Annual Report

Waste and Resource Management Program
In 2020-21, $1.8 million was provided under the Waste and Resource Management program. One-off grants were
paid to regional and shire councils to assist with addressing issues specific to waste and resource management.

Table: Waste and Resource Management program
Amount paid
$

Council
Barkly Regional Council

148 800

Belyuen Community Government Council

75 000

Central Desert Regional Council

207 600

Coomalie Community Government Council

104 500

East Arnhem Regional Council

193 000

MacDonnell Regional Council

252 100

Roper Gulf Regional Council

207 800

Tiwi Islands Regional Council

119 300

Victoria Daly Regional Council

148 800

Wagait Shire Council

75 000

West Daly Regional Council

119 300

West Arnhem Regional Council

148 800

Total

1 800 000

Commonwealth Financial Assistance
General purpose and local roads funding
The Northern Territory Grants Commission is an independent body established under the Local Government
Grants Commission Act 1986 with the primary role to provide annual funding recommendations regarding the
Commonwealth financial assistance general purpose and local road grants.
The general purpose grants are distributed on a needs-basis formula developed by the Commission. This takes into
account a number of factors such as revenue-raising capacity, expenditure requirements, the size of a council’s
footprint and how difficult it is to access communities in the council area.
The local road grants are determined by the Commission applying weightings to each council by road length
and type.
The total 2020-21 Commonwealth Financial Assistance allocations for general purpose funding was $17.1 million,
provided to 17 councils, and $18.4 million in local roads funding provided to 18 organisations. These amounts
include the brought forward payment components that were paid in 2019-20.
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414 788

City of Palmerston

205 586
238 735

Tiwi Islands Regional Council

Victoria Daly Regional Council

8 345 823

247 208

596 971

7 192

213 351

180 808

1 036 923

949 590

-

283 958

245 240

1 625 954

16 105

409 323

867 932

553 186

10 910

815 135

286 037

General
Purpose
2020-21
$

9 498 566

537 160

648 483

29 037

371 303

513 200

560 977

524 675

812 735

1 350 434

311 123

666 367

265 243

581 262

983 127

568 852

17 335

253 288

503 965

2020-21
Component
brought
fwd. Local
Roads paid
in 2019-20
$

8 893 356

442 007

582 150

27 167

353 478

479 082

541 772

494 682

781 431

1 309 781

318 266

615 993

249 533

449 035

980 196

556 482

16 218

225 607

470 476

Local Roads
2020-21
$

17 124 967

537 328

1 264 855

11 168

452 086

386 394

2 033 944

1 942 234

-

550 471

530 133

3 350 250

29 500

824 111

1 785 194

1 073 648

23 582

1 711 749

618 320

Total
General
Purpose
2020-21
$

18 391 922

979 167

1 230 633

56 204

724 781

992 282

1 102 749

1 019 357

1 594 166

2 660 215

629 389

1 282 360

514 776

1 030 297

1 963 323

1 125 334

33 553

478 895

974 441

Total Local
Roads
2020-21
$

This table details the Commonwealth Financial Assistance Entitlement for 2020-21 and shows the prepayment brought forward component that was paid 2019-20 and the balance paid in
2020-21. A pre-payment of the 2021-22 entitlement has occurred in 2020-21, which will be reflected in the 2021-22 reporting year.

8 779 144

290 120

West Daly Regional Council

Total

667 884

West Arnhem Regional Council

3 976

997 021

Roper Gulf Regional Council

Wagait Shire Council

992 644

MacDonnell Regional Council

-

266 513

Litchfield Council

Local Government Association of the Northern Territory

284 893

1 724 296

Katherine Town Council

East Arnhem Regional Council

13 395

917 262

City of Darwin

Coomalie Community Government Council

520 462

Central Desert Regional Council

12 672

896 614

Barkly Regional Council

Belyuen Community Government Council

332 283

Alice Springs Town Council

Council

2020-21
Component
brought
fwd.
General
Purpose
paid in
2019-20
$

Table: Commonwealth Financial Assistance Entitlement 2020-21- general purpose and local roads funding
(including brought forward component paid in 2019-20)

Appendix 2
Northern Territory Ministry and Leader
of the Opposition
The Hon Michael Patrick Francis Gunner, MLA

The Hon Selena Jane Malijarri Uibo, MLA

Chief Minister
Treasurer
Minister for Major Projects and Territory
Economic Reconstruction
Minister for Strategic Defence Relations

Attorney-General and Minister for Justice
Minister for Treaty and Local Decision Making
Minister for Aboriginal Affairs
Minister for Parks and Rangers

The Hon Nicole Susan Manison, MLA
Minister for Police, Fire and Emergency Services
Minister for Mining and Industry
Minister for Northern Australia and Trade
Minister for Defence Industries
Minister for Agribusiness and Aquaculture
Minister for International Education
The Hon Natasha Kate Fyles, MLA
Minister for Health
Minister for Tourism and Hospitality
Minister for National Resilience
Minister for Major Events
Minister for Racing, Gaming and Licensing
Minister for Alcohol Policy
The Hon Eva Dina Lawler, MLA
Minister for Renewables and Energy
Minister for Infrastructure, Planning and Logistics
Minister for Environment
Minister for Water Security
Minister for Climate Change
Minister for Essential Services

The Hon Paul Andrew Kirby, MLA
Minister for Small Business
Minister for Jobs and Training
Minister for Recreational Fishing
Minister for Veterans' Affairs
Minister for Public Employment
Minister for Corporate and Digital Development
The Hon Kathryn Jane Worden, MLA
Minister for Territory Families and Urban Housing
Minister for Disabilities
Minister for Sport
Minister for Multicultural Affairs
The Hon Chanston James Paech, MLA
Minister for Local Government
Minister for Central Australian Economic Reconstruction
Minister for Remote Housing and Town Camps
Minister for Indigenous Essential Services
Minister for Arts, Culture and Heritage
Mrs Lia Finocchiaro, MLA
Leader of the Opposition

The Hon Lauren Jane Moss, MLA
Minister for Education
Minister for Children
Minister for Youth
Minister for Seniors
Minister for Women
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Appendix 3
Operational expenditure for the Northern
Territory Ministry and Leader of the Opposition
Minister
Hon M Gunner (Chief Minister)
Employee
Operational
Hon N Manison
Employee
Operational
Hon N Fyles
Employee
Operational
Hon E Lawler
Employee
Operational
Hon L Moss
Employee
Operational
Hon S Uibo
Employee
Operational
Hon P Kirby
Employee
Operational
Hon K Worden
Employee
Operational
Hon C Paech
Employee
Operational
Hon G McCarthy
Employee
Operational
Hon D Wakefield
Employee
Operational
Leader of the Opposition (CLP)
Employee
Operational
Total
Employee
Operational
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$000
5 931
5 385
546
1 087
981
106
997
891
106
927
842
85
785
673
112
1 177
992
185
1 116
1 025
91
858
742
116
879
687
192
116
91
25
358
330
28
1 632
1 472
160
15 863
14 111
1 752

Contacts
Darwin

Palmerston

NT House
22 Mitchell Street
Darwin NT 0800

Goyder Centre
25 Chung Wah Terrace
Palmerston NT 0830

GPO Box 4396
Darwin NT 0801

GPO Box 4396
Darwin NT 0801

t: (08) 8999 6729

t: (08) 8999 8347

Katherine

Nhulunbuy

14 Katherine Terrace
Katherine NT 0850

8 Franklyn Street
Nhulunbuy NT 0880

PO Box 1571
Katherine NT 0851

PO Box 796
Nhulunbuy NT 0881

t: (08) 8973 8533

t: (08) 8987 0543

Tennant Creek

Alice Springs

Government Centre
63 Haddock Street
Tennant Creek NT 0860

Alice Plaza, Todd Mall
Alice Springs NT 0870

PO Box 296
Tennant Creek NT 0861
t: (08) 8962 4688

Jabiru
Jabiru Training Centre
Van Delft Street
Jabiru NT 0886

PO Box 2605
Alice Springs NT 0871
t: (0) 8951 5511

Wadeye
GPO Box 4396
Darwin NT 0801

GPO Box 4396
Darwin NT 0801
t: (08) 8999 8358
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